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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
BE20208  HE2019F  BE2018F  HZ2017F  BE2016%
12A31H 12H318 12A31H 12A31H 12H318
LEE EEE LFE LEE LEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'00_O
TET TR TEx T FER
Revenue L]
- Continuing operations -BEREER 325,371 476,614 427,867 497,935 333,553
- Discontinued operations -BREGEES - - - - 5,058
325,371 476,614 427,867 497,935 338,611
Result EJo
- Continuing operations - BERERH
Loss before income tax BREERZLAIEE
expense (181,070) (222,650) (382,926) (158,026) (08,335)
Income tax expense AR E (1,809) (4,992) (2,959) (1,535) (1,243)
(182,879) (227,642) (385,885) (159,561) (99,578)
- Discontinued operations -BRIEEEER
Profit before income tax BREER L ATER
expense - - - - 5,509
Income tax expense P S S = - -
- - = - 5,509
Loss for the year KEEFE (182,879) (227,642) (385,885) (159,561) (94,069)
Loss attributable to: MTATEEESR:
Owners of the Company EATBEA
Loss for the year from TEERBLERH
continuing operations ZBE (184,117) (230,952) (376,922) (160,367) (102,495)
Profit for the year from AEFDRIERE G
discontinued operations ATl - - - - 5,509
(184,117) (230,952) (376,922) (160,367) (96,986)
Non-controlling interest FERER
Profit/(loss) for the year from TEERBEEERL
continuing operations w8/ (EE) 1,238 3,310 (8,963) 806 2,917
(182,879) (227,642) (385,885) (159,561) (94,069)
(restated) (restated)
(BE5) (BE5)
Loss per share BRER
— Basic (HK cents) - EAR (L) (5.50) (6.90) (15.64) (9.55) (6.56)
- Diluted (HK cents) -85 OBI) (5.50) (6.90) (15.64) (9.55) (6.56)
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LEMBEBE

As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
120204 20195 720185 R20175 20165
12A31H 12A318 12/318 12A318 12A318
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET TET TET TET TET
Assets and liabilities LSEHARE
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,932,638 4,404,156 4,441 642 4,787,070 4,335,653
Net current (liabilities)/assets TE(BE)/EEFE (1,331,554) (1,182,466) (951,994) (204,291) 220,904
Non-current liabilities FRBAE (915,658) (574,673) (481,042) (1,418,284) (1,464,914)
Net assets EEFE 2,685,426 2,647,017 3,008,606 3,164,495 3,091,643
Non-controlling interests FERER (10,688) (8,832) (5,709) (16,655) (15,512)
Equity attributable to owners ADAEEA
of the Company bR 2,674,738 2,638,185 3,002,897 3,147,840 3,076,131

2020 total gas production and gas sales recorded were
approximately 101.75 million cubic meter and 96.37

million cubic meter respectively
2020F RERENHEENBINRI01. 76 BT KR

96.37 A& 7K

11.85%

RATEHRE

Residential piped sales \
101.75

88.15%

2020

Industrial piped sales

IXREEHE

million
cubic meter
ER-sF
10087103'22
97.42 . 96.37
81.22 7810
pos0 1262
50.02
2016 2017 2018 2019

Sales Production

(million cubic meter) (million cubic meter)

HEE (BB K)

EREB(BEILTTK)

2020 F #}

2020 CBM average sale-to-production rate was 94.7%
2020 R ERTFIIEHLLER94.7%

2020 CBM Sales Mix
20202 FIRERHEER

e HEMRERBERAF



< BUSINESS STRUCTURE
RERIB

Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited
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Coalbed Methane Business

RERER

The Group holds 70% interest of Sanjiao CBM
Block through a production sharing contract, which
PetroChina is the business partner of the project

SEEBERIKAREE=IKEREIE70%H
ez HBEAERHER PO

Raw Coal Washing Project

[RIEREER

The Group holds a 75% equity interest of a raw
coal washing project company located in Qinshui
Basin, Shanxi Province

SEEEAMNILTIKE —REREGEEE A7
75% i

Crude Oil Business

FimZER

The Group is actively seeking for merger and
acquisitions opportunities of oil and gas project in
North America and China

SER ERGS KR R BRm R ARER 68

Financial Services Business

SRIIRTERTE
The Group holds a wholly-owned financial leasing
subsidiary in Shaanxi Province

SERREHEA - R2ENBERERERR



CORPORATE STATEMENT A@
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Strategic Goal
g H R

Dedicated to become a professional international oil &
gas explorer and producer

BN ABEEOERhR B IRRES

Corporate Value

ExEEH

People Oriented Effective Use of Resources Bring

Harmony with Great Virtue

UABE ERER EE#Y

Business Principle

EERE

Equal emphasis on business and capital Equal
attention to resources and talent

BREEALE FREAAESE

Enterprise Spirit
ok g

Passion Efficiency Execution

HE BN 8TH
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< CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Sino Oil and
Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Overview

Looking back at 2020, Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
pandemic was raging around the world, like a “black swan”,
impacting the global market. Both China and the global economy
have experienced unprecedented crises and turbulence.
Fortunately, the control and prevention measures of the virus
taken in the country have been effective. At the moment, various
industries are gradually resuming normal operation and back on
the right track. According to China’s Fourteenth Five-Year Plan
(“14th Five-Year Plan”), the country will continue to promote
energy transformation. It is expected that many parts of the
country will gradually shift to clean energy in both supply and
consumption, and natural gas will continue to shoulder the
responsibility of emissions reduction. The Group therefore
remains cautiously optimistic about the long-term prospects of
the industry.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020
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During the 14th Five-Year Plan, Shanxi Province will gradually
formulate a clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient modern energy
system, and become a national unconventional natural gas base.
The Chinese government will also increase its support to the
development of two coalbed methane industrialization bases in
Qinshui Basin and the eastern edge of Ordos Basin where our
Sanjiao Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) Project is located. With the
support of national policies and local government measures as
well as the efforts of the project team, the project is speeding
up the pace of development. During the year, the Group, on
one hand, has implemented strict cost management in order
to increase profitability, and to cope with market uncertainties
brought by the epidemic. The Group’s administrative expenses
has decreased by approximately 11.7% in 2020. The loss
significantly narrowed year-over-year by nearly 20%, and
EBITDA was recorded at approximately HK$82.8 million. On the
other hand, the Sanjiao CBM Project has added 18 multilateral
horizontal wells, which are expected to increase more than 40
million cubic meters of CBM production capacity to the project.
The Group plans to accelerate the development in the coming
2-3 years so as to achieve 500 million cubic meters of production
capacity. The Group believes that the project has established
a solid foundation for development and future earnings, and
expects that there will be considerable revenue growth in the next
few years.

=N

tmEes

TR EE LEEEE SRS REHR -
ZERRNBERERBR EXR2EIETR
RKAREM -BRTEMANELZFH LKA
- PEZHAMREHMEREERELZLE
MrE2HEAE M-KEEBRBEEEMNER
FoEBRBRREERMABFEREIE UK
EEEKENT  BEBELMREAZE LK -
FA-EE—FEMAKAZSNERREA
BEAAMED UWERMFARRBMELZ
AR KR o 52 E 1T B A K AN B201 96 Rk
D11.7% - BIBRFRBKETMAEK - WIS
Tt B 47 & K 45 A1 A8 982,874,000 T
S—FE=XREERBHINEFILI8OHHF -
TEEIR] &8 B 13 B iB40008 3 H KKK E
RERE - EEFTEIRRKR2-3F MR HFEEFZ -
NEZESEYSER SEEEEBEBRER
EREMNEREURABFER - WEHARKE
FWAGEABRER -
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> CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

10

The convertible note already due in the second half of 2020, has
posed great financial pressure to the Group. During the year,
the management have conducted in-depth discussion on several
debt restructuring options with potential investors and the note
holder. The Group is open to different possible solutions though
no binding proposals or terms have been reached yet. The
management believes that the introduction of strong investors will
help optimizing the shareholding and financial structure, and can
accelerate the development of business.

Prospect

The global pandemic of COVID-19 has not only brought harm to
human health and life, but also disrupted the balance between
the world’s economic, trade and international relations system.
It has created great uncertainty to the overall global political and
economic environment in the future. In view of this situation, the
Group will maintain a prudent financial management strategy and
conduct debt management with a proactive attitude. At the same
time, the Group will concentrate its resources to accelerate the
implementation of the development of the Sanjiao CBM Project
so as to strengthen the growth of revenue generated from
this principal business, and provide the Group with favourable
conditions to seize opportunities for future business expansion.

2020 THHEAHMABRNAIRRERS
SEGKEEANYBEEN  REREEE
ENHEBEREEREBERAARAT®
TRAMEBEET R AR KREXEMNR
MRNNTELGR - BEEHIBIRY
FRAREE EEERRIARBENZRE
E A MR B B N B BRAE B8 30 A h0 AR SR S
BE -

FE=
MEBRBESERARTTITERSABRHRT
RESLHHNEE MATK THREER
BRBEERERNFE /ERRIRBERR
HBHERRAOTEE. - BENL - £ E
BHREESREBMER  TABRBORE
ETERER -BURE SESEPER
MREE=RAERBEBE ZAEANZE T Z
EBWRAEER - IR REREHEE FHEEF AN
BEREREBGERNESE -
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Appreciation

Lastly, I, on behalf of the Group, would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and
investors for their trust and support over the years. | would also
like to extend my deepest appreciation to all our staff members.
The Group dedicates to achieve and exceed established goals as
always in order to ensure a reasonable return for shareholders.

Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021

B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$325,371,000 (2019: HK$476,614,000). The turnover included
the sales of coalbed methane (“CBM”) in our Sanjiao CBM Project
of approximately HK$109,918,000 (2019: HK$120,900,000), the
sales derived from raw coal washing project located in Qinshui
Basin, Shanxi Province of approximately HK$207,660,000 (2019:
HK$350,353,000), and the revenue from the financial services
business in Shaanxi Province of approximately HK$7,793,000
(2019: HK$5,361,000).

The Group’s turnover has dropped for the year due to the
outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) for the
year. However, as a result of our cost control and the recover
from the COVID-19 pandemic in the second half of the vyear,
the overall operation of the Group remained stable for the year.
During the year, the Group adopted stringent cost control,
and administrative expenses has decreased by approximately
11.7%. For the financial year of 2020, the Group recorded a
net loss of approximately HK$182,879,000 (2019: net loss
HK$227,642,000), which was decreased significantly by nearly
20% compared with last year. During the year, the Group
recorded earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (‘EBITDA”) of approximately HK$82,874,000 (2019:
HK$98,152,000).

During the year, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the sales and production volume of Sanjiao CBM Project declined.
We however, managed to adopt strict cost control measures in
order to deal with uncertain market conditions, and the overall
operation of the project was in a stable condition. Sanjiao CBM
Project recorded EBITDA of approximately HK$71,235,000 (2019:
HK$87,918,000). During the year, the project recorded a gas
sale-to-production rate of approximately 94.7% (2019: 97.7%).
Sanjiao CBM Project has entered into the development stage,
and drilling and exploitation are undergoing in an orderly manner.
We believe that the project will bring long-term and substantial
profit to the Group.

The interest income amounted to approximately HK$30,243,000
(2019: HK$32,658,000) disclosed in “other income”, mainly
derived from the refundable deposits of CAD40 million of the
Group’s possible acquisitions located in Alberta, Canada and
short-term investment.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020

¥ ¥ ERE

H E2020F12A31B L+ =Z@A R &
BRIEBRERAR([ARE]) REWE QA
([RNE&EE]) 2815 & %5/ 4325,371,000%8
7T (20194 : 476,614,000 ) - & ¥ %5
RIR B =X B ERIE B 5% 4109,918,000
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During the year, the Group was exposed to certain key risks
and uncertainties which have been disclosed in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Natural Gas and Oil Exploitation

Coalbed Methane Exploitation—Sanjiao Block in the Ordos
Basin

Project Overview

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Energy International
Inc. (“Orion”), the Group has a production sharing contract
(“PSC”) with China National Petroleum Corporation (“PetroChina”),
its partner in the PRC, for exploration, utilization and production
of the CBM field in the Sanjiao block, located in the Ordos
Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The Group has a 70%
interest in the PSC. The PSC covers a block in the Ordos Basin
in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces, with a total site area of 383
square kilometers. According to a competent person’s updated
report provided to the Company by the end of 2015, the proved
and probable CBM reserves of Sanjiao CBM Project amounted
to approximately 8.301 billion cubic meters and the net present
value at 10% discount of the future revenue of the reserve was
approximately HK$11.498 billion.

Following the approval of the overall development plan by the
National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) in
2015, Sanjiao CBM Project was granted a mining permit by the
Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC with an approved
CBM production capacity of 500 million cubic meters per annum
in July 2017, which shall be valid for 25 years. Accordingly, all
necessary administrative approvals under the current PRC laws
and regulations have been granted for exploration, development,
exploitation and production of Sanjiao CBM Project.

EHEG RS

TR AKEMEE AR LT ZRBR M
HRZCEHNERA M IBIRRME46 ©

XA R KA HFERF
RERFGFR-BASHBM=XER

EHEHAE

AEBEBEBET2EAMNBRARA RIGLERE
BERAR ([BRIn%]) SR BEEHPEA
MAARREB AR ([PAM]) T LEEDK
&R ([PSC)  EHEILFARKREELEDBEE
R ="XERETEERHHE ARK
EE - WEBER70%EZ - PSCEZHE L
FAE R E BRZEHAME HI8IFHRE
ZIEBR o BIBE—HAEERALTN2015FE
MARFRHIBERSET  ZXEKEER
HEZFRE (EEE+HK) 4 483.018 L
TR MZfFEERKBEAFRE (10%HTHR)
4 AB114.98B B T -

=REERIBEHE0IGFRBHRETRER
RERVINFZES ((ERERZ ] HUER
R2017TE7TA M EBE R E + BRAE T (RiE
AR BEREKNEERRSBFSEL
TARER FARAMHR2F -2 =
REERAEAYREBREARE FK-
EERE  REBEFBERITEEEIAMTER
TR ER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Infrastructure

As at 31 December 2020, Sanjiao CBM Project has completed
a total of 140 wells, including 18 newly added wells compared
with last year, and comprising 88 multilateral horizontal wells
and 52 vertical wells. Out of the total 140 wells, 102 wells are
in the normal dewatering and gas producing stage, of which
102 wells have accessed to a gas collection pipeline network. A
ground pipeline network of approximately 18 kilometers, inter-well
pipelines of approximately 87.7 kilometers, and outbound
pipelines of approximately 17 kilometers have been completed.
Approximately total 87.5 kilometers of 10KV power grid and
branch power line have also been installed.

To cope with the increasing production volume of Sanjiao
CBM Project, the Group has undertaken the expansion of the
processing station. Its daily processing capacity will reach
750,000 cubic meters upon completion while its total daily
processing capacity of CBM is 500,000 cubic meters now.

Sales

During the year, Sanjiao CBM Project recorded EBITDA of
approximately HK$71,235,000 (2019: HK$87,918,000). The
CBM sales revenue amounted to approximately HK$109,918,000
(2019: HK$120,900,000). The production and sales volume of
CBM were approximately 101.75 million cubic meters (2019:
103.22 million cubic meters) and 96.37 million cubic meters
(2019: 100.87 million cubic meters) respectively, resulting in an
average gas sale-to-production rate of approximately 94.7%
(2019: 97.7%). For the year, industrial and residential piped CBM
sales accounted for approximately 88.15% (2019: 84.1%) and
approximately 11.85% (2019: 15.9%) of total sales respectively,
which was similar to that of last year.

In addition, the government subsidy and part of VAT tax refund of
approximately HK$24,430,000 (2019: HK$38,886,000) for sales
of CBM were received and disclosed in “other income” during the
year. The operation of Sanjiao CBM Project continued to have a
steady growth, and the Group believes that the project will bring
sustained and stable profits.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020
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Raw Coal Washing Project Located in Shanxi
Province

The Group owned a 75% equity interest of a raw coal washing
project located in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province. During the
year, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the revenue from the raw
coal washing business decreased, which was approximately
HK$207,660,000 (2019: HK$350,353,000). The business has
resumed to normal by the fourth quarter of last year.

Others

The Group owned a finance leasing company, Shaanxi Zhao Yin
Finance Leasing Company Limited in Shaanxi Province. The major
purpose of the establishment of this finance leasing company
is to seek for proper financing options for the Group’s business
development. Further it also provides short-term investment
opportunities for the Group. During the year, it recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$7,793,000 (2019: HK$5,361,000).

Summary of Resources
The Group’s oil and gas reserves, as at 31 December 2020, are
summarized as follows:

EHE TR S Hh

iR llFEEMRE R EEE

AEEHEE —BUNUAEE D KA Z RE
SRTAER Z75% s o FN RREEES
WARFEHRZBEZERBM TR WAQ
207,660,0007% 7T (20194 : 350,353,000/%
L) c FBENEFFRNFELHEELER -

Hit

AEBRPRAZE —ZXREHRELQR—RA
KIRMEREBRAF - HHERERA X
EREESKSENRERTRIRNE S
SEER ARTASEREHEHNKRER
g FA - ZEBESKALT,793,000% 7T
(20194 : 5,361,000/ 7T) °

EiRHEE
R & E 202012 A31 B HY )l & A 5l an
T -

Category Coalbed Methane
Reserve

=l HERRE
Billion cubic feet (Gross)

TIET HHER (HEEE)

Proved (1P) EE(P) 124.2 (Note a)
Proved and Probable (2P) FE R (2P) 420.7 (Ft 5Ea)

(@) The Company has made an estimation on the reserve as at
31 December 2020 on the basis of a competent person’s
report prepared in accordance with the standards for
“Petroleum Resources Management System” recognized
under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules on the Sanjiao CBM
Field reserves as of 30 September 2015, adjusted and
updated based on CBM production volume.

(b) Reserve translation reference: one cubic meter of natural
gas is equivalent to approximately 35.2 cubic feet.

@ ARARU—MBEEERAT ZEWMH
AIE18ER AN ABREREERBR]E
ERBA=ZHEERBR2015F9H30H
CREFERER BREEBERES/FD
FHEEE I EELEE2020F12H31H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total expenditure
capitalised for the Sanjiao CBM Project was approximately
HK$307 million (2019: HK$67 million), which mainly comprises
of (i) construction works in progress of oil and gas fields, and (ii)
finance expenses, The breakdown of which is as follows:

(i) Capital expenditure including construction in progress
of oil and gas field mainly representing drilling expenses
approximately HK$272 million (2019: HK$54 million),
dewatering expenses amounted to approximately HK$4
million (2019: HK$3 million) and ground facility expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$15 million (2019: HK$5
million).

(if) The total finance expenses capitalised during the year was
approximately HK$16 million (2019: HK$ 5 million).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred
around HK$1.3 million (2019: HK$6 million) drilling costs for the
farm-in project in Canada as disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the net assets of the Group were
approximately HK$2,685,000,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$2,647,000,000) while its total assets were approximately
HK$5,631,000,000 (31 December 2019: HK$4,977,000,000).
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had external borrowings
including the liability component of convertible note of
approximately HK$2,134,368,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$1,710,000,000), and the gearing ratio based on total
assets was approximately 37.9% (31 December 2019: 34.36%).
Information on the Group’s collateral assets and repayment of
the Group’s borrowings is set out in notes 32 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2020, the
current ratio was approximately 0.34 (31 December 2019: 0.33).

In April 2020, the Group was granted a three-year term loan of
RMB300,000,000 by Kunlun Trust Co., Ltd. As of 31 December
2020, the Group has made a drawdown in aggregate of
RMB250,000,000 with an annual interest rate of 11%. The fund is
solely used for the development of Sanjiao CBM Project.

In respect of the issue of the Group’s net current liabilities
position as at 31 December 2020, the convertible note with a
principal amount of USD130 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,014 million) which was already matured without redemption
in September 2020, posed a relatively great financial pressure
to the Group. The Group has explored various plans during the
year in order to reduce the financial burden of the Group. The
management has actively engaged in negotiation with the note
holder on the above issue. Although no binding proposals or
terms have been reached, the management have conducted
in-depth discussion on several feasible options with potential
investors and the note holder. The options include but are not
limited to, (i) liaising the negotiation between the note holder and
certain potential investors who are interested in acquiring the
convertible note; and (ii) exploring the possibilities with the note
holder to further extend the maturity of the convertible note.
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B E2020F12A318 - AEBE LA ME
X Kjfarm-in18 B & 4 #& ¥R f X 491,300,0007%
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H :2,647,000,000/T) r 8 EEEERI L
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4,977,000,007 7T) ° 20209128318 -
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%9 /2,134,368,000/% 7t (2019412 A31H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company will also consider other possible financing options
and debt restructuring exercises to strengthen the liquidity of the
Group. Though there is no concrete timeline for materializing the
above plans yet, the Company is of the view that the growth of
the coalbed methane operation in Shanxi and the improvement
in the Group’s financial result are positive factors to the potential
investors and financiers as well as the existing shareholders.
Having taken into account the available financial resources of
the Group, the above measures and the grant of loan facilities
in 2020, the directors of the Company, including the Audit
Committee, share the view that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in foreseeable future, and
accordingly, the going concern issue will be resolved.

Riding on the growth of the business of the Group and the
support of the above measures, the Company will also consider
other possible financing options and debt restructuring exercises
to strengthen the liquidity of the Group. It is expected that the
Group’s financial pressure will gradually be eased and the overall
financial situation will improve.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchase transactions and recognized liabilities and assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. As at 31 December 2020,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect to trade
and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed approximately 299
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.

Environmental Protection

The Group is responsible for its impact to the environmental
protection arising from its business operations. During the year,
the Group strictly compiled with the local environmental regulation
of the PRC. Details are disclosed in the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Report 2020 to be issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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PROSPECTS

Last year, COVID-19 pandemic had severely blow on global
economy. Fortunately, due to the effective control of the
pandemic in China, the economy has taken the lead in
recovering. In 2020, its GDP increased by 2.3% compared with
2019. Meanwhile, during the “14th Five-Year Plan”, China plans
to continue to promote the clean and efficient use of coal, and
develop new energy. This targets to reduce carbon emissions by
18%, and to create a road map for achieving carbon neutrality.
The Group expects that the demand for clean energy, in particular
for natural gas, is going strong and the prospect of natural gas
industry will still be very promising.

In 2020, the Group focused on an orderly development of the
CBM project and added 18 multilateral horizontal wells, which is
expected to increase more than 40 million cubic meters of CBM
production capacity to Sanjiao CBM Project. The Group plans
to accelerate the development in the coming 2-3 years so as to
achieve 500 million cubic meters of production capacity. As a
result, the Group believes that Sanjiao CBM Project will continue
to have steady growth with increasing competitiveness in the
long run. Its profitability will hence be further enhanced with good
prospects.

Looking ahead, despite the current increasingly complicated
economic and political environment, the Group will press forward
the development of Sanjiao CBM Project in order to accelerate
the growth of revenue. The Group will maintain cautious financial
management measures and conduct debt management with
a proactive attitude. At the same time, the Group will further
improve operating effectiveness and efficiency, monitor costs,
and strengthen risk management so that we are capable to have
prompt response to the unforeseeable market changes. The
Group will always prepare for the future development and to
ensure reasonable returns for shareholders.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 53, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2011 and
September 2020 respectively. Dr. Dai is in charge of the overall
affairs of the Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s
human resources management (including human resources
planning, personnel deployment, remuneration scheme and staff
training), capital operation (including financing, investment and
merger and acquisition of projects) and technology management
(including introduction and application of technology), etc. Dr.
Dai was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School of
Economics, Jilin University, the PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in
the corporate finance sector as well as merger and acquisitions
and corporate restructuring of companies in the PRC. He is also
familiar with the capital market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one
of the co-founder of China Securities Journal organized by Xinhua
News Agency and was a journalist, department head and deputy
general manager of the agency, through which he has extensive
experience in government public relations and investor relations.
He was also an independent director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co.,
Ltd. (TFZEREI M BR AR A)), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 56, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also the
chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan is responsible for
the Group’s financial management (including investment budget,
allocation of funding, control on sales as well as inspection
and audit of financial matters), legal matters (including tracking
on legal matters, risk control and compliance monitoring) and
internal affairs of the headquarter of the Group. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Energy
Holdings Limited which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 58, had been appointed as Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company in
November 2010 and September 2011 respectively. He was
re-designated from Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer to non-executive director of the Company in September
2020. Mr. King holds a bachelor degree of engineering and a
master degree of business administration from Xian Jiaotong
University and Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University respectively. He worked for various central government
departments and state-owned enterprises for a considerable
period of time and has extensive experience in government
organizations and enterprises management. He was the deputy
director and chairman of Workers Union of Mechanic and
Electronic Products Importation and Exportation Office of the
State Council, the deputy general manager of FFEI#H, T %4t
7Y%= E A7 (China Machinery Industry Marketing & Supply
Shenzhen Group Corporation*) and managing director of %
752 A) (China National Machinery Hong Kong Company®).

Mr. Huang Shaowu, aged 50, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Huang was the main
founder for Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd. (“Aisidi”) (shares of which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) in 1998 and it is
the “Fortune” 500 enterprises in China. Mr. Huang is currently
a director of Aisidi, the chairman of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (FYIHEMNBIREEEBR A A,
“SMT”) which is the controlling shareholder of Aisidi, the chairman
and general manager of B/IHEBEEHREXLEETEER A A
which is major shareholder of Aisidi. SMT is a large investment
conglomerate with investments in mobile internet and related
businesses, energy, optical communication, ecological agriculture,
supply chain and real estate businesses.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Ms. Cai Yanling, aged 31, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2020. Ms. Cai has been the
project manager of China Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings
Co., Limited (“Huarong Overseas”) responsible for the direct
investment projects of Huarong Overseas since November 2019.
Ms. Cai worked as management staff and investment manager
respectively in the financial marketing department of a subsidiary
of China Huarong International Holdings Limited in Shenzhen
from June 2017 to October 2019. Crescent Spring Investment
Holdings Limited, being holder of the Company’s convertible
bonds in the principal amount of US$130,000,000, is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Huarong Overseas. Ms. Cai holds a bachelor
degree in accountancy from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law.

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun, aged 41, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2020. Mr. Tsang holds a
Bachelor Degree of Social Science from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Science Degree in Finance
from City University of Hong Kong. He has more than 18 years
of experience in audit, accounting, corporate finance and
compliance. Mr. Tsang is a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute. He is also a financial risk manager granted
by Global Association of Risk Professionals. He has been an
executive director of KK Culture Holdings Limited (stock code:
550), a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, since September 2015.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, BBS, JP, aged 73, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2010. Professor Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and Managing Practicing
Director of Patrick Wong CPA Limited. He is also a Chartered
Secretary and a Certified Tax Advisor. He has over 40 years’
experience in the accountancy profession. Professor Wong was
accorded Doctor of Philosophy in Business, was awarded a
Badge of Honour by the Queen of England, was appointed a
Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Hong Kong Government of SAR. He was appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to 2013. Professor Wong
is currently an independent non-executive director of Galaxy
Entertainment Group Limited, CC Land Holdings Limited, Water
Oasis Group Limited, Winox Holdings Limited, Li Bao Ge Group
Limited and he resigned as independent non-executive director of
National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited and BAIC
Motor Corporation Limited on 1 January 2019 and 24 March
2021 respectively, both of which are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011. Dr.
Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of China
University of Mining & Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a
bachelor degree in coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of
Huainan Mining Institute in China. He also holds a master degree
in coal petrology and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in
coalfield, oil and gas geology and organic geochemistry from
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993,
Dr. Wang mainly engaged in teaching and scientific research on
coalfield geology and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993,
he has focused on geological research on coalfield geology, ail,
natural gas and coalbed methane. He has led the development
of a project for the National Natural Science Foundation of
China, and few scientific projects for China National Petroleum
Corporation and China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has
also participated in more than 60 scientific projects in cooperation
with various oil fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was
granted the State and Departmental Scientific and Technological
Progress Awards for several times and has published 5 books
and more than 170 academic papers.

Dr. Dang Weihua, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2013. Dr. Dang is
currently a practising lawyer at 1t 51218 (EE)EENETEAT. Prior
to this, he served as the General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”)
and the Chief Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office
of Changjiang Securities, Deputy General Manager of Asset
Preservation Department and Legal & Compliance Department
of Changjiang Securities. Dr. Dang had worked in Changjiang
Securities (formerly known as Hubei Securities Company Limited)
for 23 years serving in different departments and positions until
July 2015. He has extensive experience in securities industry.
Dr. Dang holds a master degree of business administration at
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. He was awarded a
PhD in Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University.
Dr. Dang holds Chinese lawyer qualification as well as securities
practice qualification.
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Senior Management

Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company in December 2011 mainly responsible for
the Group’s legal compliance work. Ms. Yim has joined the
Company since August 2005 and holds a bachelor degree in
law from Nottingham Trent University, UK and a bachelor degree
in accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is a
fellow member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute. She has
years of extensive experience in the company secretarial sector
and has worked for international accounting and law firms and
listed companies in Hong Kong.

Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the Chief
Geologist of the Group, mainly responsible for geology research
and exploration work of the Company’s Sanjiao coalbed
methane project. Dr. Rao graduated from the Department of
Geology of Anhui University of Science & Technology. In 2005,
Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by the China University
of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged in research work
for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories and coalbed
methane (“CBM”) development technology in the post-doctoral
station of the College of Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering,
China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He has over 20 years of
experience in the industry and has years of experience in onsite
work and indoor scientific research in respect of CBM projects.
Dr. Rao has published 24 research papers in the journals such as
Acta Petrolei Sinica, and also is one of the principal participants
in the scientific research achievement of “Research, development
and application of CBM multi-lateral horizontal well”. Such
achievement was awarded the second prize of science and
technology advancement in 2009 by the China National Coal
Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFAEEREEAR@EN

Mr. Mei Ximin joined the Company in September 2015.
Mr. Mei currently serves as Executive Vice President of the
Group and General Manager of Orion Energy International Inc.,
responsible for the Company’s coordination in relation to the
government’s public affairs and assisting in the production and
operation of Orion Energy International Inc. Mr. Mei obtained a
bachelor degree in economics from Jilin University in 1983. He
was granted the professional title of senior economist in 1995.
Before joining the Company, Mr. Mei had served as the Director
of the Bureau of Commodity Prices of Jilin Province and senior
executive of FHMEIEEEEE 2 F]. He had served as vice president
of a Hong Kong listed company since 2008.

Mr. Tan Xin joined the Company in February 2015 as Vice
President of the Group, mainly responsible for financing and
business mergers and acquisitions of the Company. Mr. Tan
graduated from the Department of World Economy of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics majoring in international
finance, and obtained his master degree from Nankai University in
Tianjin. He has extensive experience in international finance and
investment banking. Mr. Tan once worked in China Construction
Bank, Shenzhen Branch, and acted as cadre at sub-section level
and economist in the Foreign Exchange Department of China
Construction Bank and General Department of China Investment
Bank. Thereafter, he served as the deputy general manager of
FEEREBEEREE S 2R, the general manager of China Affairs
Department of HH&EBKE AR AT and the general
manager of JFXYITTEREREEZERERAA.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
and develop high standards of corporate governance practices
for the purpose of providing a framework and solid foundation
for its business operation and development. Effective corporate
governance provides probity, transparency, accountability which
contributes to the corporate success and enhancement of
shareholder value.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2020 except
for code provision A.2.1 relating to separate roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer as explained below in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the Company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprises two Executive
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer) and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence; four Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. King Hap Lee, Mr. Huang Shaowu,
Ms. Cai Yanling and Mr. Tsang Hing Bun; and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”), namely Professor Wong Lung
Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and general meetings during
the year are set out below:

REENEFE -

EZZEg

FHzEE -

ﬁ%éf@gﬁﬁhﬁﬁQZMﬂﬁfﬁﬁ
AT

A.Lg

Number of meetings attended/held during term of 2020 (ERERAIE L E,RITHERR
office in 2020 2
Annual Special
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
ESE& BHZEE HMEBE REZEE RFEEXE RRGNXE
Number of meetings held during the year FEERETERRY 5 3 1 3 1 1
Executive Directors niEs
Dal Xiaobing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) /M (28 BT £4) 45 - 1/1 33 11 17
Wan Tze Fan Terence B3 5/5 - - - 11 17
Non-executive Directors FES
King Hap Lee Sl 5/5 - = = 0/t 0/
Huang Shaowu AR 45 - - - 0/ 0/
Cai Yanling (appointed on 26 June 2020) BEZ (02056268 ZT) 22 E = = = =
Tsang Hing Bun (appointed on 28 August 2020)  ZEE (202058 A28BZT) 111 = = = = =
Chen Hua (resigned on 28 August 2020) R 2 (202058 A28AF ) 24 - - - 0/ 0/
Chai Lin (resigned on 26 June 2020) 4301 (202086 A26H BHE) 33 - - - 0/ 0/
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Wong Lung Tak Patrick EE3 5/5 33 1 33 1 1/1
Wang Yanbin f 19t 55 33 - - 0/ 0/
Dang Weihua 2RE 5/5 33 1/1 33 0/ 0/
Notes : B3 :
1. The Audit Committee comprises Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, 1. BRZECHEAEREEHMFR  TEHEEL
Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua. RERERL -
2. Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Dang 2. FhEEtT BEEHELREFEEELT A
Weihua are members of the Remuneration Committee and the MEESMIREEZESEHKE -

Nomination Committee.
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Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholder value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.
The Board also delegates certain specific responsibilities to three
committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee). The composition and functions of each
committee are described below.

The Board includes three INEDs representing one-third of the
Board which is in compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick has appropriate
qualifications and accounting related financial expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. All the INEDs are independent under these
independence criteria, and with their wide range of skills and
experience to the Group, they are capable to effectively exercise
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance, risk
and people through their contribution at Board and committee
meetings.

There is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between the Directors.

The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.
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On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he
is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors and
senior management are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors are regularly briefed on the business
operations and policies of the Company and from time to time
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.

All the Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wan Tze Fan
Terence, Mr. King Hap Lee, Mr. Huang Shaowu, Ms. Cai Yanling,
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr.
Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua participated in continuous
professional development by reading materials and attending
seminars on corporate governance, regulatory development and
other relevant topics with an emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code during the year.

The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.

The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. Monthly updates
as required in C.1.2 of the CG Code are provided by the senior
management to all Directors to enable them to be apprised of the
circumstances of the Company and to discharge their duties. All
Directors have access to Board papers and related materials that
will assist them for decision making. Any Director, wishing to do
so in the furtherance of his duties, may take professional advice
at the Company’s expense as arranged by the Company.
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The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report
and the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the Company’s
publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate
communications in which the names of Directors of the Company
are disclosed. The Company maintains on its website and on the
Stock Exchange’s website a list of its directors with their role and
function.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and senior executives of the Group from
any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses, including
without limitation, any proceedings brought against them,
arising from the performance of their duties pursuant to their
appointment under their respective service agreements entered
into with the Company. The current policy shall be under constant
review to ensure that the insurance cover is appropriate.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. King Hap Lee was re-designated from Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer to Non-executive director of the
Company and Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Executive Director and Chairman
of the Board, was appointed to act as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company concurrently with effect from 14 September 2020.
The Board believes that having the same individual in both roles
as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer helps to
ensure consistent leadership so that the overall strategy of the
Group can be implemented more efficiently and effectively. The
Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by the current
Board which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
with one third of them being INEDs. Dr. Dai Xiaobing provides
leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges
its responsibilities effectively and the Directors receive complete,
accurate and timely information and are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings. He also holds annually meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of other directors. Dr. Dai
Xiaobing is in charge of the overall affairs of the Group. He is
also responsible for the Group’s human resources management
(including human resources planning, personnel deployment,
remuneration scheme and staff training), capital operation
(including financing, investment and merger and acquisition of
projects) and technology management (including introduction and
application of technology).
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Huang Shaowu, Mr. Tsang Hing Bing and Professor
Wong Lung Tak Patrick, being non-executive Directors and
INED of the Company, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of two years. Ms. Cai Yanling, a
non-executive Director of the Company, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year. In accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each AGM of the Company,
one third (or the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. As such, all the non-executive Directors and INEDs
are regarded as appointed for a specific term. Furthermore, the
Company’s Bye-laws provide that any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional
member of the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election
at such meeting.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees delegated with
various responsibilities, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The meetings and
proceedings of the committees are governed by the provisions
contained in the Bye-laws of the Company for regulating
the meetings and proceedings of Directors unless otherwise
stipulated in their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control. The
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Professor Wong
Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua, and is
chaired by Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
which requires that the audit committee has a minimum of three
non-executive directors, must be chaired by an INED, at least
one of the audit committee member is an INED who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise and a majority of the audit
committee are INEDs.
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None of the Audit Committee members are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee
discharges its duties which include to review the completeness,
accuracy and fairness of the Company’s financial statements,
evaluating the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well
as its risk management and internal control systems, to review
the interim and final financial statements before their submission
to the Board and the annual general meeting for approval, and
to make recommendation on the appointment of external auditor
and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including independent access to and advice from
external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee which set out
the Audit Committee’s authority and duties are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three members including one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick
and Dr. Dang Weihua. The committee is chaired by an INED,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The Company has complied
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules which requires that the
remuneration committee has a majority of the member being
INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model set out in B.1.2(c)(ii) of the
CG Code where the Committee reviews and recommends to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
the Directors and senior management. During the review process,
no individual director is involved in decisions relating to his own
remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently has three members including
one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Dang Weihua. Dr. Dai
Xiaobing acts as Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure
that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, knowledge
and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates with the objective criteria with
due regard of the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee bases on the aforesaid criteria when
making recommendations to the Board on the nomination and
appointment of directors, assesses the independence of INEDs,
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board at
least annually and makes recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The policy for the nomination of directors performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020
is on the basis that the Nomination Committee is responsible
to make recommendations to the Board on the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure that
the Board have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The selection criteria used by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a candidate include
character and integrity, professional qualifications, knowledge,
and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company. With regard to nomination procedures, any Board
member may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as
Director to be considered by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will then evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship and then make recommendation for
consideration and approval by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

External Auditor

BDO Limited was re-appointed as external auditor of the
Company by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditor
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,450,000
for audit service rendered (excluding disbursement fees) to the
Group. The reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited are stated
in the Independent Auditor’'s Report contained in this Annual
Report.

Financial Reporting

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and annual reports.
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The Group incurred a loss of HK$182,879,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020, and as of that date, had net current liabilities
of HK$1,331,554,000. The convertible note with principal amount
together with related interests of HK$1,329,692,000 was matured
in September 2020. As at 31 December 2020, these overdue
convertible note and related interests totalling HK$1,352,900,000
and related default interest (included in other payables and
accruals) of HK$62,101,000 were outstanding and became
immediately repayable. In addition, the Group had current
borrowings of HK$130,140,000, trade and other payables and
accruals (excluded the default interest) of HK$469,820,000 as at
31 December 2020 while the Group only maintained its cash and
cash equivalents of HK$60,898,000.

The Auditor is of the opinion that the above conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the Company
have prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group. In preparing
the cash flow forecast, the directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to its operating needs, the future liquidity
of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will be able to repay the outstanding debts
and be able to finance its future working capital and other
financial requirements.

Certain measures have been and are being taken to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of the
Group in the cash flow forecast, which include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(@)  Two individuals, one being a shareholder and director of the
Company and the other individual being an ex-shareholder
and ex-director of the Company (collectively the “Funding
Providers”), have confirmed that they will provide sufficient
financial support to the Group to repay the overdue principal
and interests (including the default interest) in relation to the
Group’s current borrowings, trade and other payables and
accruals and convertible note and to finance its operations
for at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements.
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(b)  The Group has been actively negotiating with the convertible
note holder to renew or extend the maturity date of
the convertible note or enter into other possible note
restructuring measures.

() The Group is also actively identifying any other possible
financing options and debt restructuring exercises to
strengthen the liquidity of the Group.

The directors (including the Audit Committee) are of the opinion
that, taking into account the above-mentioned measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its operations
and to meet the financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the twelve months from the date of the consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. Please refer to note 3(b)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

However, the Auditor was unable to verify the financial position of
the Funding Providers who are individuals and providing financial
support to the Group and to assess whether they have sufficient
financial capability to provide their aforementioned financial
support to the Group. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that the Auditor could adopt to conclude whether
it is appropriate for the directors to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Auditor disclaimed his opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
relating to the going concern basis of preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Please also refer to the Independent
Auditor’s Report set out on page 54 to page 58 of this annual
report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to ensure that shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets are safeguarded. The
Group’s systems of risk management and internal control include
the setting up of a management structure with limits of authority
and internal audit function and are designed to help the Group
to identify and manage the significant risks amid achieving its
business objectives, protect its assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of financial information for internal use
or for publication and ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve
the Group’s business objectives.

During the year, the nature of the Group’s operation remained
unchanged comparing with that of last year. In order to maintain
effective and efficient risk management and internal control
systems, the Group performs review for the risk management and
internal control systems systematically on a regular basis which
covers financial, operational, and compliance controls.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews at least
annually the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems regarding financial management
and reporting, the effectiveness and efficiency of operations
and compliance with laws and regulations. Where areas for
improvement in respect of the design and implementation of risk
management and internal control systems are identified, actions
will be taken as recommended to refine the systems. Significant
internal control issues are reported on a timely basis to ensure
prompt and appropriate actions are taken. During the year,
no significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted.
The Board considers that these systems of risk management
and internal control are effective and sufficient to guarantee
the Group in achieving its business objectives and there are
adequate resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes in respect of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions.
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The Company strictly complies with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules,
particularly, in the disclosure of inside information and financial
reporting. The Company discloses inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as set out in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Company ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Company
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or confidentiality may not be preserved, the Company
would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Company is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to a
material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Company discloses its information in an open,
fair and just manner by disseminating information to the public
through publication of corporate information on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Yim Siu Hung,
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary regarding
board procedures, and relevant laws, rules and regulations. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, Ms. Yim has complied with
paragraph 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the
Company, to request a special general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition, and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed to convene such meeting, any of the requisitionists
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting to be held within three
months from the said date.

BRE

of

HE

RABBIRERESRAE KD ([FFH K
BERAIDMETRANNORE LEEEEA
HEHEBEMBBERNER AXQAFRTEEY
EATHEALT BRREBEAEZEHS K
FEREEBELRIAEEDAHE BN T
MZ2BHEEN ARRERNAREHEEE
EHBER  @WMRZEEBEHRE -BHXR
RARRELERFATHREMN  (ZEL

%iﬁﬁ'AWMﬁ”%ﬁﬁiﬁ%°$

NREIBMABRAEHBRPAHNERRE
AREEMEXTBEBRIAEREE XL TE
BERERFEMBERIERENE - XA A
B AT T AL AR R A B R A
DEEERAILAM - AF  REMFAHF

BTRA -

ESEENE
AARMESEWERERI L L AKX
RAMEBES  WEBEAQTNETRHEE
ER -EBFREETGRETREEERE &
BAAERNETEWESKERRRY - &
T ETREE2020F12A31H L FEEET L
MBI EI.2EEZ T T D5/ B8 18 H
HEE -

Bz RAEF

BEBREEIGIFERANE (TRAVE]) £74
BREARRICERMBAIESE HETLR
10% A AFIEHEREAMEERBRRAGR
EZRREBRBEBBMNANFETTRESE
MEFHEEE XK ERXEFEdRRER
AlRE  UNREEBEERPIEANTMEIE -
MERBRENRERBBEE KB 2MEARA
BT -MARRERKEBR2IARN  ES
BTREFAREEARAE AIIREERKAL
(ERE2BAKRERE—FULEE)ATBETT
BRXREg HRESFAEGRZERNKEER
BB = @A RNET-

2020 F 8 o HEMIERBRLF

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

eRESHWSE

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of the Company at the date of the requisition
or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled
to put forward a proposal for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for putting
forward such proposal at a general meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are
made available on our website as required by the Listing Rules.
The requisition of the proposals made by shareholders may be
addressed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Annual general meetings and special general meetings provide
a useful forum for shareholders to share views with the Board.
Members of the Board (also including members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’
questions. Enquiries of shareholders may also be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary by phone or email,
as stated in our website, www.sino-oilgas.hk.

COMMUNICATION WITH INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. During the year,
information regarding the Group’s operational and financial
performances is disseminated to shareholders and investors in a
timely manner through a number of channels include interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and press releases.
Electronic copies of these documents and general information of
the Group’s operation can be obtained through the Company’s
website. Throughout the year of 2020, the Company also avails
itself of opportunities to deliver and explain its strategies to
shareholders and the investor community, through communication
with financial analysts, fund managers and potential investors.
The Company will continue to promote and enhance investor
relations and communication with its investors.
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The directors submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020, which are set out on pages 59 to 212.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in (i) exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane, (ii) raw coal washing and sale of
raw and cleaned coal, (iii) exploitation and sale of crude oil and
natural gas and (iv) provision for financial services in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 19 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders to be our goal. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and its amount, the Board takes into account the
Group’s earnings performance, financial and cash flow position,
investment requirements, future prospects and other factors
which the Board deems relevant. The Company will continue
to review the dividend policy from time to time and there is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. The payment of dividend is also subject to the
requirements of Bermuda laws and the Company’s Memorandum
of Association and Bye-laws.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHESE

EECEHREEZHFERSUARFENES9E
EE2I2E 2B E2020FE12A31B LEE 2
ERIZZEMBRE -

FEEFR
RRRZEFEXEBRREER MAKEFE
ERFERENSDR AEREEEER - (i)
FREGRERFHERKERBE  (IFRKEHEE
R R ARARRR(v)IZESBART -

¥ ¥ ORE

AEEE E2020F12A8318 IEFEHEFE
BEEHNARNEREI2E108 [ BEE T HEADIT
—ff o

B2 E
ARAMBARZ FBERREA M B BRERM
39 -

BREREEBR
EEeERBRITEEZINE E2020F12A8
STHIEFE KRS (2019F : ) o

ARRANREHBERAFBELRTRRER
B EREREGRBRERELREERE
THEE ESERERAEEZWSRE
MBRBASRAN REFR RKARR
EXZgRRERACEMER - ARRIE K
@ 5 B BB R TR E 8 T 4 E K
NEAFESENRE  REBRETXAR
FERERANRAEBERAM N A B AR
TEFTIR e

W% - BERR
AEBERNE BERIFEZEDHER
RER A B MR 16 -

2020 F 8 o HEMIERBRLF

41



42

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers
took up 96% and the largest customer accounted for 49% of
the Group’s revenue for the year. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
100% and the largest supplier accounted for 44% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Non-executive Directors

Mr. King Hap Lee

Mr. Huang Shaowu

Ms. Cai Yanling (appointed on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (appointed on 28 August 2020)
Mr. Chen Hua (resigned on 28 August 2020)

Ms. Chai Lin (resigned on 26 June 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Dr. Wang Yanbin

Dr. Dang Weihua

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-law 87(1), Dr. Dai Xiaobing,
Mr. Huang Shaowu, Dr. Dang Weihua will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. Pursuant to the
Company’s Bye-law 86(2), Ms. Cai Yanling and Mr. Tsang Hing
Bun will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting
and will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
All other remaining directors continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND BEENKROERERARKRDPZHES

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the 2020 12A31H  ARRIEE([EF]) 5
directors (the “Directors”) or chief executive of the Company in THREHE AR S E T A EELAE (AFH
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company HMEFEIED ([FEH LHE KRG ) EXVER AT
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the BFzoE) 2RH - HERDSESETEES
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as BN ARAIRIBEES RS KRIIEI2EFE
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Z2EGMATE R E ET AR BIKT SR+ FTE b
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company HRTAZESHTBERSGWEESFR ([
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for ESFR ) MABME RN NBRTTZERZ R

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model KRBT
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:
Number of shares/
Long/short Interests in shares/ underlying shares of Percentage of
Name of Director position underlying shares Nature of interest the Company held issued shares
RER R FRxagke/ EE#T
£33 B8/ %8 ARRG RS RatE BERGEE Riaat
Dai Xiaobing Long position Shares Beneficial owner/Interest of controlled corporation 158,504,000 4.74%
PR 78 i ERBAA/RENRAER
Short position Shares Beneficial owner/Interest of controlled corporation 137,524,500 4.11%
e B BREEN/RBHRAER
Long position Underlying shares Interest of controlled corporation 6,012,500,000 179.72%
e RERH RENATER
Long position Share options Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,600,000 0.11%
78 B Bl A (&)
Wan Tze Fan Terence Long position Shares Beneficial owner 3,366,000 0.10%
RTE 3} i BEREAA
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 3,600,000 0.11%
7e B BRAAA
King Hap Lee Long position Share options Beneficial owner 3,600,000 0.11%
SR 7e B BRAAA
Wong Lung Tak Patrick Long position Share options Beneficial owner 300,000 0.01%
EEE 7e B BRAAA
Wang Yanbin Long position Share options Beneficial owner 300,000 0.01%
IR 7e B BRAAA
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Notes:

Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme”.

Sino Oil and Gas Resources Investments Limited (“SOGRI”) owns
85,119,500 shares and has short position of 70,800,000 shares.
SOGRI is wholly owned by Dr. Dai Xiaobing. Pursuant to the SFO,
Dr. Dai is taken to have interests and short position in such shares.
In addition, Dr. Dai beneficially owns 73,384,500 shares and has
short position of 66,724,500 shares.

Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalized terms used
in this paragraph shall have the same meanings as defined in
the announcement issued by the Company on 31 May 2016.
On 31 May 2016, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Limited
(the “Bondholder”) pursuant to which the Company issued to
the Bondholder the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of US$130,000,000 on 29 September 2016, and Sino Oil
and Gas Resources Limited (“SOGR”), a company wholly owned
by Dr. Dai Xiaobing, entered into a Put and Call Option Deed with
the Bondholder pursuant to which the Bondholder grants to SOGR
an irrevocable and unconditional right (but without obligation) to
purchase some or all of the Convertible Bonds at the Call Option
Purchase Price during the Call Option Period, and SOGR grants
to the Bondholder an irrevocable and unconditional right (but
without obligation) to require SOGR to purchase some or all of the
Convertible Bonds at the Put Option Purchase Price during the
Put Option Period. Based on the conversion price of HK$0.168
per share, a maximum of 6,012,500,000 shares may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bonds in full. Further details are set out in the
announcements and circular issued by the Company on 31 May
2016, 30 September 2016 and 12 July 2016 respectively. Pursuant
to the SFO, the Convertible Bonds give rise to an interest in
6,012,500,000 underlying shares of the Bondholder and the Put
and Call Option Deed gives rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000
underlying shares of the Company of SOGR and Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and short position of 6,012,500,000 underlying shares of the
Bondholder.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the securities of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted by its shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
held in 2010. The Scheme is in full compliance with the relevant
requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. It was valid for
a period of 10 years commencing on 28 May 2010 after which
no further options would be granted but the provisions of the
Scheme would in all other respects remain in full force and effect
and options which were granted during the life of the Scheme
may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue. The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the contributions of the participants to the Group and
to motivate the participants to continuously work to the benefit
of the Group by offering to the participants an opportunity to
have personal interest in the share capital of the Company. The
eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time employee
(including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries, any
suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be
refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. As at 31
December 2020, there are outstanding options for subscription of
41,200,000 shares under the Scheme, representing 1.23% of the
issued shares of the Company.
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Under the Scheme, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.

The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion. Under the Scheme, an option may not be exercised
after the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the
option.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Scheme are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2020, the directors and employees of the
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration
under the Scheme. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share. Details of share options held by the
Directors and employees of the Group and movements in such
holdings during the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Number of options

o

M2020F12H31H - AE B EEREBERNR
BHENEE LARERETREARRD AR
MZEREFPHEBUT ZEARZ  SHE
BHERTHAEARBIRRKRG ZEF - AEE
BEENESNE E2020612A318 IEFE T
FERERZEFRECEHFBIENTER

fEREHE
Outstanding Outstanding Exercise price
at 1 January  at 31 December Date of grant Exercise period per share
2020 2020 (D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
20204 20204 skt
1A18 12A31H RHBEH ZITEE
i K A7 ief K 17 € (B.B.%) fTE8MR (8.5.5%) Ex
Directors
Ez
Dai Xiaobing &/’ fx 3,600,000 3,600,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
Wan Tze Fan Terence )& F %) 3,600,000 3,600,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
King Hap Lee &M 7 3,600,000 3,600,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
Wong Lung Tak Patrick & 52 1& 300,000 300,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
Wang Yanbin T 3E5 300,000 300,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
Employees {ES 29,800,000 29,800,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
Total & &t 41,200,000 41,200,000
Note: B3 :

(1) No option lapsed or was granted or exercised during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons, not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336

EEEHREE

FERREREMATZHER

72020128318 * M FA L (WIEAREE
ETHRAE) RIBIEEHF R E &6 5336
BEFEE2ELRMAFE N AR A 2Kk iEE
B ERERIOAR

of the SFO:

Interests in Number of
shares/ shares/
Long/ short underlying Nature of underlying Percentage of
Name position shares interest shares held issued shares
R 6 R gl 3 v 5B 8T
& e/ %R HEAR R R Rty HRARRHE R EHEL
Substantial Shareholders
TERF
Bright Achieve Investments Limited (Note 1) Long position Shares Beneficial owner 719,763,500 21.51%
REREARAR (M) e i fp ExBRA
Short position Shares Beneficial owner 702,000,000 20.98%
wE fxp EREAA
Lai Chun Lam Long position Shares Beneficial owner 398,000,000 11.90%
B A fxp ExBRA
Zhang Victor Ri Chun Long position Shares Beneficial owner 398,000,000 11.90%
KAE A fxp ExBRA
Other persons
AL
Zhuo Kun Long position Shares Beneficial owner 232,530,000 6.95%
b i) i fp ExBRA
Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Long position Underlying shares  Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%
Limited (Note 2) (fi2) e RBRH EREAA
Long position Shares Security interest 137,932,000 4.12%
A fxp REER
Short position Underlying shares ~ Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%
wE HEkH ExBRA
Sino Oil and Gas Resources Limited (Note 2)  Long position Underlying shares  Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%
PEARERER DA (M5T2) e RBAkH ExBRA
Cathay Rong IV Limited (Note 3) (£ 3) Long position Shares Security interest 702,000,000 20.98%
A i fp REER
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Notes:

1.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e

Bright Achieve Investments Limited is wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Chen Jiajun.

Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Limited (“Crescent”) owns
convertible bond in the principal amount of US$130,000,000
carrying the right to convert into shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.168 per share. Based on the conversion
price of HK$0.168 per share, a maximum of 6,012,500,000 shares
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the convertible bonds in full. The convertible bond give

rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000 underlying shares of Crescent.

Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalized terms used in
this paragraph shall have the same meanings as defined in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2016. Pursuant to the
Put and Call Option Deed entered into between Crescent and Sino
Oil and Gas Resources Limited (“SOGR”), a company wholly owned
by Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Crescent grants to SOGR an irrevocable and
unconditional right (but without obligation) to purchase some or all
of the Convertible Bonds at the Call Option Purchase Price during
the Call Option Period, and SOGR grants to Crescent an irrevocable
and unconditional right (without obligation) to require SOGR to
purchase some or all of the Convertible Bonds at the Put Option
Purchase Price during the Put Option Period. The Put and Call
Option Deed gives rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000 underlying
shares of each of SOGR and Dr. Dai Xiaobing, and short position of
6,012,500,000 underlying shares of Crescent.

Crescent also holds security interest in 137,932,000 shares of the

Company.

Crescent is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Pure Virtue Enterprises
Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by China Huarong Overseas
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd., being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Huarong Overseas Chinese Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“HR
Overseas Chinese”). HR Overseas Chinese is owned as to 91%
by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment Management Co., Ltd. which in
turn is wholly-owned by China Huarong Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. Pursuant to the SFO, Pure Virtue Enterprises Limited, China
Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings Co., Ltd., HR Overseas
Chinese, Huarong Zhiyuan Investment Management Co., Ltd. and
China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. are deemed to have

the aforesaid interests and short position held by Crescent.
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3. Cathay Rong IV Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited which in turn is
wholly-owned by BIZE#(RM)BERRMD AR 2R, of which 51%
is owned by China Huarong International Holdings Limited, being a
wholly owned subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. Pursuant to the SFO, China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment
Holdings Limited, FEZEFCRP)BEEKEKRMEMR AR, China
Huarong International Holdings Limited and China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd are deemed to have the interest being held
by Cathay Rong IV Limited.

Save as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December 2020,
the Company has not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive officer of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 11 and note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, the directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is
still in force. In addition, the Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and senior executives of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance subsisting during or at the end of the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company or an entity connected with a director
was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by BDO Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for
re-appointment.

By order of the Board

Dai Xiaobing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

Fax: +852 2815 2239

B DO Tel : +852 2218 8288
ww{'v.bdo.com.hk

TEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{88 : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 212,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies (“2020
Consolidated Financial Statements”).

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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As set out in note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a loss of HK$182,879,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020, and as of that date, had net current liabilities
of HK$1,331,554,000. The convertible note with principal amount
together with related interests of HK$1,329,692,000 was matured
in September 2020. As at 31 December 2020, these overdue
convertible note and related interests totalling HK$1,352,900,000
and related default interest (included in other payables and
accruals) of HK$62,101,000 were outstanding and became
immediately repayable. In addition, the Group had current
borrowings of HK$130,140,000, trade and other payables and
accruals (excluded the default interest) of HK$469,820,000 as at
31 December 2020 while the Group only maintained its cash and
cash equivalents of HK$60,898,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore, it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

As detailed in note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements,
in view of the above circumstances, the directors have prepared
a cash flow forecast of the Group which takes into account of
the major assumption that two individuals, one individual is a
shareholder and director of the Company and the other individual
is an ex-shareholder and ex-director of the Company (collectively
the “Funding Providers”), would be able to provide sufficient
financial support to the Group to meet its operating needs and
financial obligations in order to enable the Group to continue as
a going concern for twelve months from the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements. The directors consider the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its operating
and financing needs as and when they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 December 2020. Accordingly, the directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The appropriateness of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis largely depends
on whether the above-mentioned major assumption taken into
account by the directors in the going concern assessment is
achievable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

However, we were unable to verify the financial position of the
Funding Providers who are individuals and providing financial
support to the Group and to assess whether they have
sufficient financial capability to provide their aforementioned
financial support to the Group. There were no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to conclude whether
it is appropriate for the directors to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that may be necessary should the going concern
basis of preparation be determined to be inappropriate. These
would include any adjustments to write down the Group’s assets
to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any liabilities which
may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

We disclaimed our opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
(“2019 consolidated financial statements”) relating to the going
concern basis of preparing the consolidated financial statements.
The balances as at 31 December 2019 and the amounts for the
year then ended are presented as comparative information in the
2020 consolidated financial statements. We disclaimed our audit
opinion on the 2020 consolidated financial statements also for the
possible effect of the disclaimer of opinion on 2019 consolidated
financial statements on the comparability of 2020 figures and
2019 figures in 2020 consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WIURBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEezEBkRE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

B ZE2020F12A31B L FE
2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FE T
Revenue EER 6 &15 325,371 476,614
Direct cost BEKA (285,830) (417,228)
Gross profit EH 39,541 59,386
Other income PN 7 56,930 73,193
Other gains/(losses), net HvimF(&18) F58 8 5,297 (16,480)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (10,098) (8,912)
Administrative expenses THREMR (63,142) (71,541)
Profit from operations 48 5 A 28,528 35,646
Finance costs Bl & K A 9(a) (209,616) (258,321)
Share of profit of an associate PB4 — KRB & A R 22 18 25
Loss before income tax expense BRETISTZ LRI E 9 (181,070) (222,650)
Income tax expense FrisHi < B 10 (1,809) (4,992)
Loss for the year XEEFHE (182,879) (227,642)
Other comprehensive income, Hith2milkss o BRBiE
after tax
ltem that may be reclassified to AREEH o BEEBEZEE ¢
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEB I ERER
foreign operations 221,414 (133,494)
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit TEEH D EEERER ¢
or loss:
Changes in fair value of equity EEHRAFLEBEBEM
investments designated at fair value ZHEW VIR ER
through other comprehensive income BEZ N EZH (126) (453)
Other comprehensive income AEFGHME2ERE
for the year, after tax LRE S 221,288 (133,947)
Total comprehensive income AEEZTEWEELE
for the year 38,409 (361,589)
2020 £ e HFEBRERERAAAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEREBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
H =2020F12B31B L FE

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
Loss attributable to: IATATEIGES :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE PN (184,117) (230,952)
Non-controlling interests 1R 1,238 3,310
(182,879) (227,642)
Total comprehensive income LTATEGEZEKZ®ESE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABEE A 36,553 (364,712)
Non-controlling interests AR R = 1,856 3,123
38,409 (361,589)
HK cents HK cents
&AW il
Loss per share BREE
- Basic and diluted —EARAREE 14 (5.50) (6.90)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MBI AE
=l n

As at 31 December 2020

nW2020F12H31H

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 THT FAT
Non-current assets ERBHEE
Property, plant and equipment L & 16 2,453,716 2,020,056
Qil and gas exploration BRI KA A E
and evaluation assets 17 74,000 70,870
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18(a) 8,049 11,171
Intangible assets EBEE 19 2,218,827 2,107,856
Goodwill EES 20 12,048 11,347
Interest in a joint venture R—REERE I EE 21 - =
Interest in an associate R—FKEtEa a2 22 58,821 57,549
Financial assets at fair value AT ESABRIIERZ
through profit or loss WBEE 23 9,221 16,237
Equity investments designated at fair value ¥EZ A FEBBEMEME
through other comprehensive income WEHRERIEE 24 377 503
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMRIEAE 27 20,035 44,152
Loans receivable FEUE 3k 25 77,544 64,415
Total non-current assets ERBEERLTE 4,932,638 4,404,156
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 26 10,281 9,906
Financial assets at fair value EAVFTEEBRERIEZ
through profit or loss WIEEE 23 24,085 15,956
Trade, notes and other receivables, FEUER K ~ BN IR R H A
deposits and prepayments JEUBR X ~ & M TER FRIAE 27 527,428 456,571
Short-term investment HHKRE 28 70,640 67,104
Loans receivable W E X 25 3,850 8,725
Amount due from a joint venture B —REGEDERRIE 21 324 320
Restricted cash at banks ZRHRITES 29(a) 984 10,096
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 29(b) 60,898 3,728
Total current assets MEEEHER 698,490 572,406
Total assets HEE 5,631,128 4,976,562
2020 F 3k o HEIAREREBRAAA
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt & TET FET
Current liabilities mEERE
Trade and other payables and accruals  FETBR#k - H b fE {5 58
MR E R 30 (531,921) (445,918)
Borrowings BE 32 (130,140) (94,474)
Convertible note AR ER 33 (1,352,900) (1,198,804)
Financial liabilities at fair value BERAFEBRABEIIEN
through profit or loss FsasE 33 (9) (46)
Deferred income EIEA 44 (1,902) (1,921)
Lease liabilities HEBR 18(b) (4,003) (4,778)
Taxation I8 (9,169) (8,931)
Total current liabilities mBBEES (2,030,044) (1,754,872)
Net current liabilities mENBEFEE (1,331,554) (1,182,466)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREARE 3,601,084 3,221,690
Non-current liabilities ERBHEE
Provisions BE 31 (16,861) (12,146)
Borrowings BE 32 (651,328) (417,136)
Deferred income IRRER A 44 (237,734) (132,691)
Lease liabilities HEAE 18(b) (495) (2,340)
Deferred tax liabilities EIEIEAE 34 (9,240) (10,360)
Total non-current liabilities EmEBAEBRE (915,658) (574,673)
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,685,426 2,647,017
Capital and reserves attributable to FAATHEFABIEESEAREE
owners of the Company
Share capital A& 7 37(a) 334,544 334,544
Reserves i 2,340,194 2,303,641
Equity attributable to owners RNRAFHEB ANE(LEZE
of the Company 2,674,738 2,638,185
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE = 40 10,688 8,832
TOTAL EQUITY BREZS 2,685,426 2,647,017

Dai Xiaobing
B/
Director

EF

On behalf of the Board

RREEE
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeERERR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12A31H IEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KATRAABLER
Fair value
Share  Contributed  Share option reserve Exchange  Accumulated Non-
Share capital premium surplus reserve  (non-recycling) reserve losses controlling

(note 37(a))  (note 37(c)(i) (note 37(c)(il) (note 7(cfil) (note 37(c)(iv)) (note 3T(c)v)) (note 37(c)(vi) Total interests Total

ATERE

(FhE

B BitEE H4EE  BRERR  SEIRD) EnkR Bith
(Weare)  (REsn)  (WEST)  (WasTi) (&) (WESTe)  (W&E7(cl) B kERER i
HKS'000 HK$1000 HK$ 000 HK§000 HK§'000 HK$:000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T Tk T T Tk T T T Tk T
A1 January 2019 1201951818 334,544 4486438 81,043 35,128 (6,641) (264,626 (1,642,989) 3,002,807 5709 3,008,606
Loss for the year KERER - - - - - - (230,952) (230,852) 3810 (207,64
Other comprehensive income Eraks - - - - (£59) (183.307) - (133,760) (187) (133.947)
Total comprefensive income for e year ~~ AEE2EREEE - - - - 453 (133,307) (230952) (364712) 3123 (361,589)
At 31 December 2019 and at R010E12R31B R

1 January 2020 A20F1A18 334,544 4486438 81,043 3,128 7,094 (117,933 (1,873,941) 2,638,185 8832 2,647,017
Loss for the year KRR - - - - - - (184,117) (184,117) 1238 (182879
Other comprehensive income Efraks - - - - (12) 20,19% - 20870 618 201,288
Tota comprehensive income for e year ~ AEE2ANELE - - - - (126) 207% (184,117) 3,553 1,856 38,409
At 31 December 2020 1A2020&12R318 334,544 4,486,438 81,043 35,128 (7,220) (197,137)  (2,058,058) 2674738 10,688 2,685,426

2020 F |

FEBARERERLDA
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
Operating activities HEER
Loss before income tax expense BRETISTZ L RIE 1B (181,070) (222,650)
Adjustments for: FEIEE -
Depreciation on property, M BEMRKEBEITE
plant and equipment 16 31,604 36,211
Depreciation on right-of-use assets TREEERE 18(a) 4,825 6,171
Amortisation on intangible assets B EECHEE 19 17,899 20,099
Amortisation on deferred income RIEU A 2 B 8H 44 (1,902) (1,921)
Interest expense FE X H 9(a) 209,616 258,321
Interest income NIES N 7 (30,243) (32,658)
Change in fair value of financial assets R AF(EFEBEZFIIEZ
at fair value through profit or loss T EENTFEE 8 (15,853) 9,043
Change in fair value of financial liabilities &2 A F{EFEBEZFFIE 2
at fair value through profit or loss PBaERAFEE 8 (37) (211)
Written off of property, M BE REE
plant and equipment 8 - 329
Written off of other receivables P8 E A E AR X 8 344 47
Loss on lease modification HEBFT B8 8 205 -
Share of profit of an associate JEfh — KB & 2 B& A 22 (18) (25)
Expected credit losses on RERREHEKATEL
financial assets measured at MR EECRBEEEE
amortised cost recognised 8 10,916 4,422
Operating profit before changes in & ES &SRS 4 F
working capital 46,286 77,178
Decrease in inventories FERD 226 1,811
Increase in trade, notes and other FEUERR - B EE K
receivables, deposits and prepayments  HMEKREER - k& &
TE {5 R IR A0 (22,149) (51,637)
Increase in trade and other payables FETBREN - E M 5RIE &
and accruals TEIR & RN 47,562 19,046
Increase in amount due from a joint B —RE & B FEFRIEE M
venture (4) =
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ERHRITE SR, (35 m)
at banks 9,213 (10,244)
Cash generated from operations KEXBEEZR® 81,134 36,154
PRC enterprise income tax paid BB EERER (2,279) (4,065)
Net cash generated from operating (EELERELEZIRNETEE
activities 78,855 32,089

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020




2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TERT FAT
Investing activities BEEH
Payment of purchase of property, BAVE BEX
plant and equipment B (287,770) (73,821)
Payment of purchase of oil and gas BAHREER R
exploration and evaluation assets FEEEMNK 17 (1,285) (6,415)
Settlement of financial assets at fair HEHIZAFEBRAEBER
value through profit or loss PR 2 BB E 51 (b)(iv) 16,677 16,818
Increase in loans receivable & WL E FNE 0 (8,992) (47,060)
Proceeds from repayment of loans Hﬁl@@%f”ﬁl%%ﬂ
receivable FTiS kT 3,526 4,409
Production sharing received T %«%TH&HXZ
under joint operation EmDK 44 93,445 138,366
Interest received B U F & 1,161 26
Net cash (used in)/generated from BREEE(FA) EEX2
investing activities IR&R%E (183,238) 32,323
Financing activities AEES
Proceeds from borrowings BEFEHRIE 298,759 53,130
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (42,948) (8,638)
Partial redemption of corporate bonds BB Z D ¥ EH (7,700) (21,400
Repayment of advances from EE—BRRAR
a shareholder (1,000) (2,265)
Advances from a shareholder KB —BRE BN - 11,320
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEAEARE 18(b) (4,597) (5,683)
Interest paid B F & (48,931) (89,908)
Net cash generated from/(used in) HEEHELE (A Z
financing activities R&FE 193,583 (63,444)
Net increase in cash and RHeRRE&%EEY
cash equivalents ¥ hniEEE 89,200 968
Cash and cash equivalents at M1A1EZHE R
1 January HeEEY 3,728 36,949
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ExRgeszneE
changes (32,030) (34,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31BZHE R
31 December, representing cash H&ZEY PHRER
and bank balances RITHER 29(b) 60,898 3,728

2020 8 o HEMREREBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

1. GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in Bermuda on 2 November 1999 under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 9 February 2000. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business of the Company was located
at 44/F, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3

2.

—RE&EHE

FECHEIZERBER AR ([RAGE])RIE
BRE1BIFERANE (KIEET) 19994
MA2BEBREAMKLARBRE
BRAR - ERHMR2000F2 A9B R B %
BMeERXZMBRAR (B ERE
M o AN &) 2 3 3% = B 2 A Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda * AR R Z F BE X
BURBBEEFBEBIRERES M
NARIEL4%E -

ARAB/—FREZERLQF EHBL
AZEBRXRBHNKEEMHRERM T
39 °

RMNEEMBREEL

(a) ¥R&MFNET EIETEEMER
£ 0| —2020F1 A1HEAE

Definition of a business

EEI B WwEERIE35 (BETAR) EBHEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of material

BB EAE1R R BB T LA B8 (BFTA) BRNEE

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
ERMBMEERIFEW - BAE AR MEREERE

FIR R BB M B MEERE7IR (BATA)

The new or amended HKFRSs that are effective from 1
January 2020 did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s accounting policies.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2020 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and
introduce an optional concentration test that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election to apply
the concentration test is made for each transaction. The
concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the
concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business. If the concentration test
is failed, the acquired set of activities and assets is further
assessed based on the elements of a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of
Material

The HKICPA has made amendments to HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements and HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors which use a consistent definition of materiality
throughout International Financial Reporting Standards and
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, clarify
when information is material and incorporate some of the
guidance in HKAS 1 about immaterial information.

In particular, the amendments clarify:

° that the reference to obscuring information addresses
situations in which the effect is similar to omitting or
misstating that information, and that an entity assesses
materiality in the context of the financial statements as
a whole, and

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁiﬁ#?

202012 A

RMEEMBREEA (&)
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&R —-2020FE1 A1H A
(48)
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ZEEIRNBEBEBNESE Aol AR
RUKTRAR  AYHAKEN—A
BB REERDWIFRBHETHE -
AEBREHERAIZEAETEA -
HATKRENEERBENBABO AFE
SPRE—ABMNEER —ABEUNA
HMAEE  ATAKPEAH - 1h?‘f’:|\
SHEMNR  AZEESREERE
%ﬁiF%ﬁﬁﬁﬂiauLﬂgﬂPEﬂJW
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BRGMASCHE LG ERIE
B BRI EINMNE L ST EAES
BEBR BB E2EMREET
TIERT '%‘qﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ‘]E 1 RE & S PR
G EER R B RERIIER
ABBEMABBEAMMARTESS
EAFE1RPARIFEREMNETHE -

HZEBRTARERIEE
e REEMEHNSEEFZEBEUNE
MR ER 21F R - BER

EERUMBHRRZES THBEAN
- &

2020 K8 o HEMIKERBRLF

67



68

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2020 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of

Material (Continued)

o the meaning of ‘primary users of general purpose
financial statements’ to whom those financial
statements are directed, by defining them as ‘existing
and potential investors, lenders and other creditors’
that must rely on general purpose financial statements
for much of the financial information they need.

Amendments to HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39,
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments made to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures HFKRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
provide certain reliefs in relation to interest rate benchmark
reforms.

The reliefs relate to hedge accounting and have the
effect that the reforms should not generally cause
hedge accounting to terminate. However, any hedge
ineffectiveness should continue to be recorded in the
income statement. Given the pervasive nature of hedges
involving IBOR-based contracts, the reliefs will affect
companies in all industries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REMBEERME

202012 H31H

RMEEMBREEA (&)

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 17
BBMBREENFETH (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB B®REEREIG (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16
ERGEAEREIN BERBFRE
R FASE - BB REEBNETHR
BEMBHREENFEIRRBEBYE
WEERE 165 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB BRELENEIORLBEHEGS
AR ZE285% (B FT48)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BBMBRELERFE165E (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB GFERE1IR (BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 16
BEAGEAFE16% (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB G EREITHE (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRSs
BEMBHRELEL (BFTA)
Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)
2515 5| 59 (KIERT)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

(b) EMEMEEKEHRZHET E

BT ERMBREEL
ATAgeEARE A M ERRER
ZHERETEBMBHMELRC#
BHERRER  BRAREASEIZR
R o

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments*
R & & RABBEET

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?®
SR 2 R s

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 22

MRS — 5 —[EER2

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
HEFHHBE NG NAECECHLEREAEES

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions'

HEmARECEeRR

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020)*

MEHIERBABRS ERBEBRESESN (20206 )4

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use®

M - BB R RGBT RG] 1GHRIES

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract®

EEMEEH-BITaH2KAS

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020°2

B AU 3 ELERI20185F 220204 « F [E HU#S

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combination®

SER TSSO ERAE HrEsHES

L 1R2020F6 A1H 3% 2 1% 7 1A 1 F /€ &

AR

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2021F1 A1k 2 B 1A 0 F E 5
2021 fE R

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 M2022F1 ARk 2 B FIA 0 F E 5
2022 fE R

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January E M2023F1A1RA Sk 2 AR IA 0 F E H
2023 fE 3

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for ° BB HEMARETE - A HEHER
adoption

6 Effective for common control combination for which the e R RE & 6f B 81 A2022%1 A1 8 3

acquisition date/combination date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January

2022
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the

application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have

material impact on the consolidated financial statements in

the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The
General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by
measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the
Premium Allocation Approach.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments
add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within
the scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
to determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that
would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the
acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.
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Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting when a company replaces the old interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November 2019
and relate to (a) changes to contractual cash flows in which
an entity will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying
amount of financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate
to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate;
(b) hedge accounting in which an entity will not have to
discontinue its hedge accounting solely because it makes
changes required by the Reform, if the hedge meets other
hedge accounting criteria; and (c) disclosures in which an
entity will be required to disclose information about new
risks arising from the Reform and how it manages the
transition to alternative benchmark rates.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction with an
associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair
value are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions
HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient
to lessees in accounting for rent concessions arising as a
result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by including an additional
practical expedient in HKFRS 16 that permits entities to
elect not to account for rent concessions as modifications.
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic
and only if all of the following criteria are satisfied:

(@) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

(b) the reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.
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Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current is based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether
an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a
liability and explain that rights are in existence if covenants
are complied with at the end of the reporting period. The
amendments also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’
to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or
services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The
revision to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the
interpretation to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with
no change in conclusion and do not change the existing
requirements.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead,
the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of
producing those items, is recognised in profit or loss.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling” a
contract comprises the “costs that relate directly to the
contract”. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either
be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct
labour and materials) or an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfiling contracts (e.g. the allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of standards,
including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

° HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise
a financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or
received between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.
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Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 (Continued)

° HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives that might arise because of how
lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

o HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised), Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combination

The amendments specify that a common control transaction
involving inserting a shell entity between a parent entity
and a single subsidiary or between a parent entity and a
group of subsidiaries is not a business combination, and
accordingly is not a ‘common control combination’ in this
Accounting Guideline. This is because the shell entity is
not a business as defined in HKFRS 3 and therefore the
transaction does not represent the combination of two or
more businesses. Because no substantive economic change
has occurred to the composition or ownership of the group,
in practice, these transactions may be accounted for by
applying a principle similar to that for a reverse acquisition.
The consolidated financial statements of the shell entity
represent the continuation of the financial statements of the
single subsidiary or the group of subsidiaries. However, the
equity structure in the consolidated balance sheet of the
shell entity reflects the equity structure of the shell entity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

(i) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost basis except for certain financial

instruments, which are measured at fair values as explained

in the accounting policies set out below.

(i) Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss of HK$182,879,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020, and as of that date, had net
current liabilities of HK$1,331,554,000. The convertible
note with principal amount together with related interests
of HK$1,329,692,000 was matured in September 2020. As
at 31 December 2020, these overdue convertible note and
related interests totaling HK$1,352,900,000 and related
default interest (included in other payables and accruals) of
HK$62,101,000 were outstanding and became immediately
repayable. In addition, the Group had current borrowings of
HK$130,140,000, trade and other payables and accruals
(excluded the default interest) of HK$469,820,000 as at 31
December 2020 while the Group only maintained its cash
and cash equivalents of HK$60,898,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)

(i) Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the

Company have prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group.

In preparing the cash flow forecast, the directors of the

Company have given careful consideration to its operating

needs, the future liquidity of the Group and its available

sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will be

able to repay the outstanding debts and be able to finance

its future working capital and other financial requirements.

Certain measures have been and are being taken to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of
the Group in the cash flow forecast, which include, but are
not limited to, the following:

(@ Two individuals, one is a shareholder and director
of the Company and the other individual is an
ex-shareholder and ex-director of the Company
(collectively the “Funding Providers”), have confirmed
that they will provide sufficient financial support to
the Group to repay the overdue principal and interest
(including the default interest) in relation to the
Group’s current borrowings, trade and other payables
and accruals and convertible note and to finance its
operations for at least twelve months from the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The Group has been actively negotiating with the
convertible note holder to renew or extend the maturity
date of the convertible note or to enter into other
possible note restructuring measures.

(c) The Group is also actively identifying any other
possible financing options and debt restructuring
exercises to strengthen the liquidity of the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)

(i) Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the

above-mentioned measures, the Group would have sufficient

working capital to finance its operations and to meet its

financial obligations as and when they fall due within the

next twelve months from the date of the consolidated

financial statements. Accordingly, it is appropriate to

prepare the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2020 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as
to whether the directors of the Company will be able to
achieve its measures as described above.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that may be necessary should the
going concern basis of preparation be determined to be
inappropriate. These would include any adjustments to write
down the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to
provide for any liabilities which may arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.
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The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the consolidated financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’'s previously
held equity interest in the acquire over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess
is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after
re-assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount with
its recoverable amount (see note 4(r)), and whenever there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. However, the loss
allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal
(if measurable) or its value in use (if determinable), whichever
is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to
make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(e) Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the
same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as

either:

° Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the group has both the rights
to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint

arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

o The structure of the joint arrangement;

o The legal form of joint arrangements structured

through a separate vehicle;

o The contractual terms of the joint arrangement

agreement; and

o Any other facts and circumstances (including any other

contractual arrangements).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)

Joint venture

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using the
equity method — see note 4(d)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the investment in
joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

Joint operations

The Group accounts for its interests in joint operations by
recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred
rights and obligations.

Some arrangements have been assessed by the Group
as joint operations as both parties to the contract are
responsible for the assets and obligations in proportion to
their respective interest, whether or not the arrangement
is structured through a separate vehicle. This evaluation
applies to the Group’s interests in production sharing
arrangement.

The Group entered into a production sharing arrangement
in China. The Group is required to bear exploration,
development and operating costs together with a PRC
partner based on each partner’s participating interest
and/or the terms stipulated under the arrangement. Once
production occurs, the annual production or revenue is
allocated among the partners.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)

Joint operations (Continued)

The Group accounts for the payment received from PRC
partner in relation to its sharing portion of production costs
as follows: (i) for expenses incurred are recognised as a
deduction in reporting the related expenses in profit or
loss on a systematic basis; and (i) for the cost of an asset
are recognised as deferred income which is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss over the useful life of the asset as
a reduction of production expenses.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis except
for oil and gas properties which are depreciated by the
units of production method. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives are as follows:

= Building 20 years
— Leasehold The shorter of their
improvements estimated useful lives

or the lease term

- Compressed natural gas
(“CNG”) station, building
and ancillary facilities

20 years

- Oil and gas properties Unit-of-production
method utilising only
proved and probable
gas reserve as the

depletion base

- Furniture, fixtures and 3 - 10 years
office equipment
- Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalized during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(g) Intangible assets

() Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their

useful lives as follows:

- QOil and gas operation rights Unit-of-production
method utilising
only proved and
probable oil and
gas reserve as the
depletion base

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and
included in direct costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(r)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount; however, the carrying
amount should not be increased above the lower of its
recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would
have resulted had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. All reversals are recognised in the
income statement immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Oil and gas exploration and evaluation
assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the

search for mineral resources, the determination of technical

feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an

identified resource.

The licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore
are capitalised as oil and gas exploration and evaluation
asset. Once the legal right to explore has been acquired,
costs directly associated with an exploration well are
capitalised as gas exploration and evaluation assets until
the drilling of the well is complete and the results have
been evaluated. These costs include directly attributable
employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs
and payments made to contractors.

Geological and geophysical costs are also capitalised as oil
and gas exploration and evaluation asset.

If extractable coalbed methane or oil are found and, subject
to further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional
wells), are likely to be capable of being commercially
developed, the costs continue to be carried as an intangible
assets while sufficient/continued progress is made in
assessing the commerciality of the coalbed methane or oil.
Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken
to determine the size, characteristics and commercial
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of
coalbed methane, including the costs of appraisal wells
where coalbed methane or oil were not found, are initially
capitalised as an intangible asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Oil and gas exploration and evaluation
assets (Continued)

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,

commercial and management review as well as review for

indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to

confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract

value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,

the costs are written off to profit or loss.

When proved reserves of coalbed methane or oil are
identified, development is sanctioned by management and
approved by relevant government bodies, the relevant
capitalised expenditure is first assessed for impairment and
(if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the
remaining balance is reclassified to intangible assets and oil
and gas properties under property, plant and equipment.
After reclassification, amortisation or depreciation will be
provided for the respective assets consistent with the
relevant accounting policy. No amortisation or depreciation
is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

() Leasing
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Leasing (Continued)

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Land use right 20 years
Plant and equipment Over the remaining of lease term
Office premises and Over the remaining of lease term

staff quarters

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Leasing (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of certain lease
properties (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

() Financial Instruments

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Company’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Company classifies
its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, not designated as effective hedging instruments
and financial assets was include embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading and not contingent consideration required
by an acquirer in a business combination, the Company
could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value. Dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss. Dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs
that result from possible default events within twelve
months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Company has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Company
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.
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(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Stage 1: Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs;

Stage 2: Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage 3: Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Company’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Company considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse
by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past
due; unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Company classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as
a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded
derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.
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(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria are met:
(i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on
them on a different basis; (i) the liabilities are part of a
group of financial liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for the gains and
losses arising from the Company’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables and accruals, borrowings and the debt
element of convertible loan note issued by the Company
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv)  Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the
proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the convertible
notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible note
equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible note equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised in which case the balance stated in convertible
note equity reserve will be transferred to share capital and
share premium. Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible note
equity reserve will be released to the accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vii)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss
allowance, being the ECL provision measured in accordance
with principles of the accounting policy set out in 4(j)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

4.

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

FEGHBR (&)

) MBIEE)

() EEFEE
BEAREDHENBEERS BAE
2 8 4P A A B B E R 5 B LM
SR B3 H2 7% o HEEFIE T RE
BAEREE ERFRR (HER) &
' 0 3 {E R U 3 351 5 R SRR S IR
AT 2 F K o

i) KRAEATA
BMARAETZRATRERE W ZAT
SRENBRERETRAAR -

(vii) B FEIERE A
MBRERAEHDNVEBE TAREER
A& AT 6 5K B B B 4 TE (B 7% A R IE 5K
ZERATERBTARTEAMNTEE
SRHRUAMEEMZBRZAN -BAAE
BETZAFEERRRAFEERBES
SIRZ M RREH NP RERTFE
BMETHHBEREOVEERBH IR HK
AHER RO THERR  AKEATS
BREFEMBERALD  (ERBE
T8 BRIRAR & B 75 #R R M GE4() (i) P
FNEAERRRAGERREEBER
B RN EATER (MER) RE
&8 B 7% 5 2E B B 155% 2 JR B HERR
RET s -

2020 K8 o HEMIKERBRLF

101



102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial Instruments (Continued)

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Bank deposits which are restricted to use
are included in “Restricted cash at banks”. Restricted cash
at banks are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in
the consolidated statements of cash flows.

() Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Decommissioning liability

Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of obligation can be made. A corresponding
amount equivalent to the provision is recognised as part of
the cost of the related oil and gas properties. The amount
recognised is the estimated cost of decommissioning,
discounted to its present value. Changes in the estimated
timing of decommissioning or decommissioning cost
estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording
an adjustment to the provision, and a corresponding
adjustment to oil and gas properties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Provision and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the

Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past

events that is not recognised because it is not probable

that outflow of economic resources will be required or the

amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements. When a change in
the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(n) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprise current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected
manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity.

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.
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(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services
are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension
scheme organised by the PRC government for certain of
its employees, the assets of which are held separately
from those of the Group. Contributions made are based
on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they became payable, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully with the employees once they are
made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r) Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews

the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine

whether there is any indication that those assets have

suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;
o right-of-use assets;

° intangible assets;

o oil and gas exploration and evaluation assets; and

o investments in subsidiaries, a joint venture and an
associate.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating
unit (see note 4(c)), discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets
is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

(t) Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(u) Related parties

() A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the Group;

(b) has significant influence over the Group; or

(c) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(u) Related parties (Continued)

(i)

(@)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

4. *
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

(v) Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

(@) provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

(b) creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

(c) does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)  Sales of coalbed methane (“CBM”)

Revenue from sales of CBM through pipelines is recognised
when the coalbed methane passes through the built-in
gas metre which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer has accepted the coalbed methane delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership has been
transferred.

(i) Sales of raw and cleaned coal

Revenue from sales of raw and cleaned coal is recognised
when the raw and/or cleaned coal is delivered to customers’
designated location and the customer accepts and takes
control of the raw and/or cleaned coal. There is generally
one performance obligation and the consideration includes
no variable element.

Receipt in advance related to consideration received for the
sales of raw and/or cleaned coal are included in “Trade and
other payables and accruals”.

(i)~ Other income

Interest income

Interest income, which mainly includes interest income from
financial services and bank interest income, is accrued
on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the principal

outstanding using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)~ Other income (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

“Receipts in advance” represent contract liabilities within the
scope of HKFRS 15. The Group continue to include it under
“Trade and other payables and accruals”.

Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to
fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the cost relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(@) Critical accounting judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

() Units of production for depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated and intangible
assets are amortised using the units of production method
over total proved developed and undeveloped oil and gas
reserves. This results in depreciation and amortisation
charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated
remaining production from the field. Each item’s life, which
is assessed annually, having regard to both its physical life
limitations and to present assessments of economically
recoverable reserves of the field at which the asset is
located. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable
reserves. The calculation of the units of production rate of
depreciation and amortisation could be affected by actual
future production which may differ from current forecast
production based on total proved reserves. Changes to
proved reserves could arise due to changes in the factors
or assumptions used in estimating reserves, including price
assumptions. If there is any changes in the assumptions
used, the calculation will be changed prospectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(@) Critical accounting judgements (Continued)
(i) Going concern assessment

As disclosed in note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, there are number of conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast of the
Group and are of the opinion that, taking into account
the plans and measures mentioned in note 3(b)(ii), the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months from the date
of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 on a going concern basis, notwithstanding
material uncertainty exists.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.

(i)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which
requires significant judgment relating to level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i) Impairment allowance on financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The Group makes allowances for financial assets measured

at amortised cost based on assumptions about risk of

default and expected loss rates. The Group used judgement

in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the

impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,

existing market conditions as well as forward-looking

estimates as at year ended date.

The Group’s management reassesses the impairment of
financial assets measured at amortised cost as at the year
ended date. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will affect the carrying
value of receivables and thus the impairment loss in the year
in which such estimate is changed.

(i) Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income tax in a number of
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020

5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

EXETHE R MG THEE
RZEEEE ()

(b) EEFAHBREZETERE
(48)

(i) TR KA 22 B 7 BB R B R
il

AEBEREBHENRR MFEIEEEX

CRERILHEK AT E G EEE

HEE RNEETEBH  AEERIE

E@ARE - BTN RATE®E&E

BRHEEHZERRIEEREE

2 AR -

AEEERERFE A BYENTG
RBHKATEZHBEERE - B
HERRERGE  ABREEZESRE
RG2S FEFERIERZER
B YAMFERERSRE -

(iii) BT iE B RAEIE IR
AEBEHMTRBNEER 2B -
ETEHEERTEEHERAE -
HERGRFAEFAEAEEBRBEF
HEUBMERKBE AEERRESH
RBEIEHET A G ERERAREE
HIEAZ BB WMZEEFEIHREN
BRERERTCERCEETR  BZE
ZHGeTEBELERATHEZME
70 SR RE B T B

BB IR FE R A B R FE AR 0 A AT RE
REHERZERRALE  HERE
ETEREZBEANBABERR ZELER
HEE - MBEHMANRRAMGE  AlF
MEREKRARGTEDHHRTER
R IREE MBI HER °



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iv)  Contingencies
Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.

(v)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations

Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure is also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil and gas properties.
Changes in any of these estimates will impact the operating
results and the financial position of the Group over the
remaining economic lives of the oil and gas properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(vi)  Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an

estimation of the value in use of the cash generating unit

to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use

calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash

flows expected to arise from the cash generating unit and

a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present

value.

(vii)  Fair value measurements
A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements require measurement at,
and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised
into different levels based on how observable the inputs
used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value

hierarchy’):

° Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

o Level 2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(vii) ~ Fair value measurements (Continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based

on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant

effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers

of items between levels are recognised in the period they

occur.

The Group measures a number of items at fair value:

o Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note
23);

° Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 24); and

o Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(note 33).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to the
applicable notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

6. REVENUE 6. BXH
The revenue of the Group are derived from (i) exploration, AEB FTELCEXTE2RAN)DE - H
development and production of coalbed methane, (i) raw BRAEERER  ((RELEMEER
coal washing and sale of raw and cleaned coal, and (iii) K R K (i) R L B A AR TS o
provision for financial services.
Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of EABREERNEISHERNZEE
HKFRS 15 are disaggregated as follows: BRRESFROAT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#&T THT
Revenue from contracts with HFHEM R EERE1555
customers within the scope of SENRERTEZ
HKFRS 15 are disaggregated EEAHWRNT -
by products:
Coalbed methane HEER 109,918 120,900
Raw and cleaned coal JR I K2 A8 & 207,660 350,353
317,578 471,253
Revenue from other sources: HhkiE 2z :
Interest income from financial services B %% AR % A1l 2 Ug A 7,793 5,361
325,371 476,614

Disaggregation by the timing of revenue recognition and by

geographic markets is set out in notes 15(a

) and 15(b)(i) to

the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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REMBEERME

202012 A31H

OTHER INCOME 7. HdrA
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Interest income B A
- bank deposits —IRITIF 1,161 26
— short-term investment — BRI E 9,396 9,487
— others (Note (a)) —H A (Mt 5E(@) 19,686 23,145
Total interest income on financial BEEKNATFECHFTEE
assets measured at amortised cost Z R B A BER 30,243 32,658
Government subsidies and grants BT 478 B X2 488 B (B 3 (b))
(Note (b)) 24,430 39,111
Others Hh 2,257 1,424
56,930 73,193
Notes: BT
(@) It mainly represents the interest income from the refundable (@ WHEXEHRTREKENZREEHZE
deposits paid for possible acquisitions of Canada oil fields. NHAREESHMERA - FBHER
Details are set out in note 27(c) to the consolidated financial e M EIREME27()
statements.
(b) It mainly represents the regular subsidies received during the by WEZEAHRBERABAEEEZERE

year from relevant government authority on the sales of CBM

and value-added-tax refund on the sales of CBM from local

tax bureau. Both of them were generated from the Sanjiao

CBM Project.

RHELNFARARSNNESHERERE
AT R PT IR @B E R - W& HRIR
B=RHEERER -
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OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

8. HfthisaF| ~(H548) F&H

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Change in fair value of financial assets  ZAFEFBBIEZRVIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss BREERFEZS
(Note 51(b)(iv)) (B EE51(0)(v)) 15,853 (9,043)
Change in fair value of financial RATEERB=IEZ
liabilities at fair value through s aERFEES (HE33)
profit or loss (Note 33) 37 211
Written off of property, plant and EEYE - BEREHE
equipment - (329)
Written off of other receivables T 88 L FE AR K (344) (47)
Exchange gains/(losses), net &R mF,(E18) 8 913 (2,850)
Expected credit losses on financial REHEK AT ECMBEE
assets measured at amortised cost ERRBHEESE
recognised* (10,916) (4,422)
Loss on lease modification MEEBRIZEE (205) =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HENB QR ZEE (41) =
5,297 (16,480)
* The following table shows the charges for ECLs on financial * TRETNEAEZEAKRARNER

assets measured at amortised cost for the year recognised in

BEERAAEZMBEERBEHRE

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: BEEBEHNFALE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Charge for the year: FAZH :
Loans receivable (Note 25(g)) JEUE 2 (M 7E25(g)) 1,923 677
Other receivables (Note 27(g)) H e AR 3k (P 3E27(g)) - 341
Other deposits (Note 27(h)) Efbize (HsE27(h) 8,235 2,766
Short-term investment (Note 28) FHHRE (H3E28) 758 638
10,916 4,422
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9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Loss before income tax expense arrived at after charging:

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

9. RFIRHRZLARE
MR FR S B HATAS IR E N84 -

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
(a) Finance costs (a) RIEME
Interest expense on financial WIEE R EEA
liabilities not at fair value Bm | RA 8%
through profit or loss: BEZAEXH
Interest on corporate bonds TEEHFZFE 32,722 33,496
Interest on borrowings B A E 26,516 94,229
Interest charge on convertible note AMRER 2 A E X
(Note 33) (Bt 5£33) 154,096 114,732
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFE
(Note 18(c)) (Kt&E18(c) 664 1,268
Others Hitb 493 1,005
214,491 244,730
Less: interest capitalised in W EAGKREEZ
qualifying assets* &R F B> (16,247) (5,003)
198,244 289,727
Other finance costs: Hihm &K :
Amortisation of convertible note TRREBENR S
transaction costs (Note 33) AN 2 B85 (P E33) - 6,625
Amortisation of corporate bonds TEEBEHFNRXS
transaction costs PR AR 2 #E 5 11,372 11,969
11,372 18,594
209,616 258,321

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 14.16% (2019: 15.24%) to expenditure
on qualifying assets. All borrowing costs capitalised
during the year arose on the specific borrowing pool of
approximately HK$15,702,000 (2019: Nil) are fully capitalised.

KEBAGKREEZBERARIER
RIREER—RIMEEFHIA14.16% (2019
F:15.24% ) B FI R T AE Kb o &K
FREBRFEEREENEEREL
15,702,000/ T (20194 : £&) B B
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. BB HZHATESIE (&)

(Continued)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
(b) Employee costs (including (b) EIRFK(BEESEME
directors’ remuneration in (P#aE11))
Note 11)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ILERHEMBEF 45,960 41,776
Contributions to defined TR PR R &l 2 7R
contribution retirement plan 1,249 2,263
47,209 44,039
(c)  Other items (c) HIER
Auditor’s remuneration % ERT B & 1,450 1,600
Cost of inventories sold EHRREAN
recognised as expenses’ B EFER A 194,371 323,109
Depreciation on property, plant L ES e
and equipment (Note 16) & (FisE16) 31,604 36,211
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CREEERE
(Note 18(a)) (K zE18(a)) 4,825 6,171
Amortisation on intangible assets* | E EEE (HiE19)
(Note 19) 17,899 20,099
Amortisation on deferred income* i SE T N B SR (Bt 5E44)
(Note 44) (1,902) (1,921)
# Included in “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of v FAAGEEEKRRZEERAE] -

comprehensive income.
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Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group
is not subject to any income tax under such jurisdictions for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the group companies which have estimated assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax had estimated tax
losses available to offset against the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Profits of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject
to the Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”). Under the Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Implementation Regulation
on EIT, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(@) The amount of income tax expense, charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
represents:

BEERE RERSREBEXHES
AR AR - A& B # 220204 K£2019
F12A31B L FEBEMTEERERE
&2 TSR

MRNEEAR (FEEEAMNTEFEH
ZEFTERW SN B HEBERA
HHENZ M EFE 2 At ERBR A -
WA EEHRE B RIS BB -

i RC 7 AVARA Y= WNCTd: R P=F - € AR
EMGBH - REFEAREMEEEZK
TEMBHEEES  PERFBEATRN
HZE2020F K2019F12A31BILFEZ
&1 B25% o

@ REeBRZEEMEERERNEG
B HR HeE

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Current income tax BN ER P15 At

- PRC EIT —HE R EMEMN
— Tax for the year —ARFEHIE (3,910) (5,642)

— Over/(under)-provision in — ¥ A FAERE
respect of prior year B (BETR) 435 (1,032)
(3,475) (6,674)
Deferred tax for the year (Note 34) FRZIEERIE (H5E34) 1,666 1,682
Income tax expense R8sz (1,809) (4,992)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b)  The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled

to the Group’s loss before income tax expense per the

10. RSB (4)
AR 2 {3 B R

e Emk

WRZANREERFTEH BB R

consolidated statement of comprehensive income as HERWT
follows:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FH T
Loss before income tax expense BR PTG 2 AT S 18 181,070 222,650
Tax credit on loss before income tax Fr 1S %1 2t AT 5 18 /9 B 75 HRL -
expense, calculated at 25% 1%25% (20194 : 25%) 5T &
(2019: 25%) 46,933 57,345
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E M FlAHE R 28 2 WE A A
operating in other jurisdiction TEMEz 2 (16,480) (19,432
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AT #1kx X H & 5 2 3R B U A
and non-taxable income 2GR (32,697) (41,873)
Over/(under)-provision in respect of prior ¥ & F BB,
years (BETR) 435 (1,032)
Income tax expense FriSfi = h (1,809) (4,992)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$14,558,000 (2019:
HK$14,558,000) available for offset against future profits.
The tax losses are subject to the final assessment by the
tax authorities in the respective jurisdictions where the
tax losses arising from. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$11,513,000 (2019: HK$11,513,000) that may be carried
forward for a period of five years from their respective year
of origination. The remaining unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

In respect of deferred tax liabilities, details are set out in the
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: BEEMeWEOT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEF2020F12A31HILFEE

Salaries, Retirement

Directors’  allowances scheme
fees and benefits contributions Total
e 20 BAkETE
EEHg RiEH E3 @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TERT TERT TER
Executive directors HITES
Dai Xiaobing B - 2,559 18 2,577
King Hap Lee' SIRF - 1,333 12 1,345
Wan Tze Fan Terence BT - 2,667 18 2,685
- 6,559 48 6,607
Independent non-executive directors BIAEHTERE
Wong Lung Tak Patrick HEERE 200 - - 200
Wang Yanbin FEH 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua ERE 200 - - 200
600 - - 600
Non-executive directors EQTES
Chen Hua? PR 2 133 - - 133
Huang Shaowu R 200 - - 200
Tsang Hing Bun? % E B2 68 - - 68
Cal Yanling?® EE LS - - - -
Chai Lin® e - - - -
401 - - 401
1,001 6,559 48 7,608
Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the ENXENRITESE 2 H  EMEE
executive directors are generally emoluments in respect mENBRTABEEZEATHRARARAR
of those persons’ other services in connection with EffE A ArERESKAMRER] 2 MR
the management of the affairs of the Company and its %25 e
subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

11. EEME (&)

EEMEWENT

HE2019F12A31H ILFE

Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances scheme
fees and benefits  contributions Total
e oRp R E
EEHS KM 3% Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTAET BT FTAET
Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing FNE - 2,582 18 2,600
King Hap Lee A - 2,000 18 2,018
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 2,000 18 2,018
- 6,582 54 6,636
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES
Wong Lung Tak Patrick EREE 200 = = 200
Wang Yanbin FER 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua BERE 200 - - 200
600 - - 600
Non-executive directors FHITES
Chen Hua PR 200 = = 200
Huang Shaowu R 200 = = 200
He Lin Feng* fA AR 50 - - 50
Chai Lin S - - - -
450 - - 450
1,050 6,582 54 7,686
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REMBEERME

202012 H31H

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 1. EEN= (8)

(Continued)

Notes: B 3E -

1. On 14 September 2020, King Hap Lee was redesignated 1. R2020%9A148 ERAHBKITES
from executive director to non-executive director. FAERENITES -

2. On 28 August 2020, Chen Hua resigned and Tsang Hing Bun 2. J2020%8AH28H r REBRAMEEL
was appointed to fill Chen Hua’s vacancy. BERE - UARHRE 2226 -

3. On 26 June 2020, Chai Lin resigned as non-executive 3. 202096 H26H - LW B EIERNITE
director and Cai Yanling was appointed to fill Chai Lin’s E2BUMBERSREME  NERE
vacancy. Wz 22 o

4. On 30 March 2019, He Lin Feng resigned as non-executive 4. H201943A30H @ I MG B EIEHTT
director. BEE 2B -

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no H 20204 K2019F12A31H IEFE -

emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors AEBTERNTINESTINMESIEAER

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as ZEMARIMAKREBZ 2 B ELS

a compensation for loss of office. None of the directors BB 2 118 - B E2020%F K2019F 12 A

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years SIBLLEE HMEEEREXRENE

ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. ERI % -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

12.

13.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2019: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. The emolument of the
remaining two (2019: two) individuals is as follows:

12.

mEmAL

AEBRUGZEFHALTH =17 (2019
F:=A) BARRIZESE HEeE
FEHRAMBEREMFNIHEE - LB
(2019%F : Mfi) ZmF AT ZMEMT :

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT FAET

Salaries and other emoluments e kEMEe 3,000 4,000

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management (non-director individual) were within the
following bands:

EXNEENTEREEEKRE (F&E
FAD) ZBEN T TIIEE :

2020 2019

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A8 ANEL

Below or equal to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ T sk LA T 3 6
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,0007% 7T - =
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t £2,000,0007% 7T 1 2
4 8

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above highest
paid non-director individual as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

e Annual Report 2020
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14.

15.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$184,117,000
(2019: loss of HK$230,952,000) and the weighted
average number of 3,345,439,000 ordinary shares (2019:
3,345,439,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 is the same as the basic loss per share as
the Company’s outstanding share options and convertible
notes, where applicable, had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has four (2019: four) operating and reportable
segments. The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:
Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane
Raw and cleaned coal: Raw coal washing and sale of
raw and cleaned coal
Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Financial services: Provision for financial services

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.

14.

15.

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

BiEEE

(a) BREXEIE
BRERNEETDREBEARAATRERSEA
2 FEAE E518184,117,00078 7T (20194 :
[E518230,952,000%8 L) * AR F AL %
17 % A% 2 D #E 39 213,345,439,0004%

(20194 : 3,345,439,000% ) & 3@ A% 5
=

(b) EBiREHEE

H £2020%F K2019F12A31H L FE -
EREEEEEERENBIERR -
KRR MARITHE 2 BRER TR EE
(G0 ) - H#E E20204 F2019F 124
IIALEFEANERERNEEAGRE
SEEE o

S &
AEERETBRERREZNIALR U
R ERR 2 REEEELLEE DR

REEESMNE (20194 : WE) £ER
AREDE - ARNBBEBRETAE
mRRBELFETREBRRE WD H
BBEUER - UATRAEEZAHMES
HEECHE

RER ¥R - FEA
EERER
FRIERAER : REGEMEE
FRIE BB B
ABEMAAR FERKHEERBM
FER RAR
1 7% B 7% - R 75 RS
%%“%%Iﬁﬁﬁi Ei%oﬁ%
WA KT 208 RE

L

Eigﬁ%éﬁ/ﬁi%%uﬁﬁ E%‘%iﬁﬁfﬁm%
Mo BMEEFEALESTEA MK EMFE
XHERA
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

15. &R (

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

=)

o

(a) EFHEE
BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B E20205F12A318 ILEE
Coalbed Rawand  OQil and gas Financial
methane cleaned coal  exploitation Services  Unallocated Total
hif
BER FREREE XARHEE  UBRE AR Ch)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
YR TR TR FiEn iR FiER
Results B4
Revenue from external customers: RENAREPZHA :
- Within the scope of HKFRS 15 -BRUBREEREGREE | 100018 207,660 - - - 37578
- Interest income from financial services ~BBRBEHEHA - - - 7,193 - 7,193
109,918 207,660 - 7,193 - 325,31
Segment results 253 ARG 24,070 6,543 19,635 6,601 (33,205) 23,554
Change in fair valug of financial liabilties BATEERERIE
at fair value through profit or loss AEAEATHERY - - - - 3 3
Change in fair value of financiel assets BATEEARENRL
at fair value through proft or loss  WBEEZATEEY - 15,863 - - - 15,853
Expected credit loss on financial assets RERNAHE HBEE
measured at amortised cost recognised B EREHEEER - - (8,235) (1,923) (758 (10916)
Finance costs AEKAR (19,572) (885) - (16) (188,943  (209,616)
Share of profit of an associate AN 18 - - - - 18
Profit/{loss) before income tax expense BEERXLAER/ (FB) 4516 21,511 11,400 4462 (222,959)  (181,070)
Income tax expense s - 216 - (2,025) - (1,809)
Profit/{loss} for the year AERRT/(B8) 4,516 21,721 11,400 2437 (222,959)  (182,879)
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Reportable segment assets* NRENHBE 4,848,414 132,686 397,950 97,176 154,902 5,631,128
Reportable segment liabilties* THEAPEE 889,013 59,086 16 15303 1,082,194 2,045,702
Other segment information hpas
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 50,102 3,805 - 189 142 54,328
Capital expenditure incurred during the year ~ FREEZEAZH 307,226 - 1,285 - 2 308,531
Timing of revenue recognition within BRBMBRAZAS 108
the scope of HKFRS 15: HERBRUAZER -
- apoint In time -REEREE 109,918 207,660 - - - 317,578
- over time -R—BEER - - - - - -
109,918 207,660 - - - 317,578

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020




15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)
Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

202012 A

15. ﬁa‘ﬁhﬁ*("a)
(a) EBEHE(E
ﬁ@&ﬁ%%Zﬂ%éﬂame

HE2019F12A31H ILFEE

Goalbed Rawand  Oiland gas Financial
methane  cleaned coal exploita;ii%rﬁ Services  Unallocated Total
A
RER FREREE RARER  UBERE A0B s
HK$10@ HK$100_0 HK$f00_0 HK$f00_0 HK$100_0 HK$fOO_0
i TAEL AL TAL TETL TAL
Results i
Revenue from external customers: RENAEPZHA :
- Within the scope of HKFRS 15 -ERUBRSENEIREE 120900 350,368 - - - 471253
- Interest income from financial services - BRBHEMA - - - 5,361 = 5,361
120,900 350,353 - 5,361 - 476,614
Segment results' 23 AYEH 8 32,759 18,180 19,885 3,034 (24.958) 48,900
Change in fair valug of financial liabilties BATHEBRERIE
at fair value through profit or loss BHAEATERY - - - - 211 211
Change in fair value of financial assets BATEBRERIE
at fair value through profit or loss HHAEZATEEY - (9,043 - - 4 (9,043)
Expected credt loss on financial assets RERRAEZHBEEL
measured at amortised cost recognised ERABHEEER (341) - (2,766) (677) (638) (4,422)
Finance costs BENA - (1,714) - 93 (256514  (258321)
Share of profit of an associate Eli—RBE N &R 25 - - = 4 %
Profit/oss) before income tax expense RAFR LR/ (B]) 32,443 7423 17,119 2264 (81,809  (222,650)
Income tax expense i - (4,019 - (979 - (4,992)
Profit/loss) for the year KEREH/(BR) 32,443 3,404 17,119 1201 (281899) (227,649
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Reportable segment assets’ IRENTEE! 4,041,366 139,469 362,870 75,204 157,563 4,976,562
Reportable segment liabiltes* TREN R 465,479 63,819 16 5830 1794401 2,329,545
Other segment information R pEs
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 55,389 6,195 = 101 79 62,481
Capital expenditure incurred during the year ~ £RE4 2 BAR 66,627 7,185 6,689 - 9 80,510
Timing of revenue recognition within BEUBREEAE %
the scope of HKFRS 15: SERZERNALER:
- apoint in time -REENREE 120,900 350,353 - - = 471,253
- over time -R-BERER - - - - - -
120,900 350,363 - - - 471,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)

Business segments (Continued)

Notes:

(b)

Unallocated results mainly include salaries, expenses relating
to short-term leases and professional fees for Hong Kong

head office.

The segment results of coalbed methane include
government subsidies and grants of HK$24,430,000 (2019:
HK$38,886,000).

The segment results of oil and gas exploitation include
interest income from Refundable Deposit of HK$19,686,000
(2019: HK$20,080,000).

Unallocated assets mainly include, cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investment and equity investments designated at
FVOCI and unallocated liabilities mainly include loans from a
director and a shareholder, corporate bonds, convertible note
and financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Geographical information and major
customers

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue from external customers and non-current assets

other than financial instruments (“specified non-current

assets”).

(1)

Revenue from external customers

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by

geographical location of the customers:

(a)
Bt

(b)

15. S ERERiE (&)

ERSE (&)

ANEREBETZEEFS HEHPHE
ERRACERREXRERSEREEM
FRHAX -

BB R 2 3 BB SR AR B 15 KR 1 B B2 B
24,430,000/8 7T (20194 : 38,886,000
BIL) °

BRMAARARFARZ DS EERIET
R B E S M F) B U A19,686,0007% JT
(20194 : 20,080,000/ 7T ) °

AP MEEFZBRERCMBELSE
¥ - 58 A% & 15 B HRFVOCIZ B 2 1
mRE RO ERABFERRE KEE
ERBRRZER - DEEHF - ABRRE
BARFVTPLSIBR 2 B S B 1 -

BWESEHRIEER

TRUAKEEREIAES 2= R
MBTANUIINZIERBEE ([H5E IR
BEE])ETON -

()

K ESNREF Z W s

AEEREF RS D 2 WEmI KT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Hong Kong (place of domicile) 7% (FTE) - =
The PRC Fh 325,371 476,614
325,371 476,614
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Geographical information and major
customers (Continued)

(i) Specified non-current assets

The information of the Group’s specified non-current assets

15.

REMBEERME

2020%F12H31H

7 EB R ()
(b) HMEAHREIEEF (4)

(i) EEHRBEE
ERASBEREEMES D ZEEFR

by geographical location of the assets is detailed below: HEEZERFMNT ¢
2020 2019
HK$’°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) A8 (FriE) 2,284 2,419
The PRC s 4,769,212 4,224,432
Canada JIEDN 74,000 70,870
4,845,496 4,297,721

(i) Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2020, there were
two (2019: three customers) contributed to 10% or more
revenue to the Group’s total revenue.

(i) FTEEFEH

HZE2020F12A31B ILEE > MARF
(20195 : —ARP) AERMASE 2 81K
AE10%HKZHR10% °

2020 2019
Segment HK$’000 HK$’000
SE8 TFHET FHET
Customer A Raw and cleaned coal 160,466 126,328
EPA JRBE R RE B
Customer B Coalbed methane 109,918 120,900
£FB KER
Customer C Raw and cleaned coal N/A 70,160
EPC R R 5B ERA

N/A: Transactions during the year did not exceed 10% of the

Group’s revenue

TER FEXRGSBEIZRAEEKRAN
10%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - B ERER
Furniture,
CNG station ~ Construction  Oil and gas fixtures
Leasehold  and ancillary  in progress properties and office Motor
Building  improvements facilities (Note (a)) (Note (b))~ equipment vehicles Total
fifh B

CNGHR — ERBIE  HRAE RERMAE
BF HEHREE  EERN (2@ (WEp) L] nE Bt
HKSO0O  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKS000
TEL TR TAR T TEL TEL TEL TR

Costs: BE:

At 1 January 2019 R201981A1H 1,661 656 366,893 107,714 1,671,252 5945 13,296 2,167,407
Additions TE 28 71 - 41,225 31,203 802 49 73,821
Transfer g - - - (9,466) 9,466 = = =
Disposal for the year ERLE = (299 - - - 299 - [598)
Echngeadusiments ~ Ej 3% ) o) 7,134 (2,608) (34,240) (129) 0y (44,35)
At 31 December 2019 20196124318 1,645 419 359,759 136,866 1,677,681 6,322 13,586 2,196,277
Additions hE = - 13,542 161,414 132,170 100 - 307,226
Transfer &g - - 39,558 (130,586 91,038 - - -
Exchange adjustments ERA% 97 2% 07123 3042 133,989 374 518 160,829
At 31 December 2020 20208127310 1,742 445 435,577 170,735 2,034,873 6,796 14,164 2,604,332
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202012 H31H

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. M1%¥ - BERRE (F)
(Continued)
Furniture,
CNG station ~ Construction  Qil and gas fixtures
Leasehold  and ancillary in progress properties and office Motor
Building  improvements facilities (Note (a)) (Note (b)) equipment vehicles Total
fill B

CNGIER ERIE HREE RERMAE
gy HENEKE EERE (K3 (o)) (WEt(o)) i RE it
HK§'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 1000 HK8'000 HKS 000
TERL TERL TERL TR Thn Tin TR TERL

Accumulated depreciation B3t ERE({E
and impairment

At 1 January 2019 201951 A 1A 240 22 63,194 - 62,59 4,305 9,996 140,652
Charge for the year (Note 9(c) 7 i (Fif3E9(e)) 8 186 17,986 - 14,031 1185 2741 36,211
Written back on disposal ~ (HE&E = (109 - - - (160) - (269
Exchange adjustments EXA% - () - - - 99) (169) (213
At 31 December 2019 120195124318 322 294 81,180 - 76,626 5,231 12,568 176,221
Charge for the year (Note 9(c)) &A% : (Ff3F9(c)) 8 63 14,994 - 15,375 3% 754 31,604
Exchange adjustments EiEE 17 2 1,059 - 825 37 531 2791
At 31 December 2020 12020812 A31H a2 319 97,233 - 92,826 5,904 13,853 210,616
Carrying amount; REE:

At 31 December 2020 12020%12A31H 1321 66 338,344 170,73 1,942,047 892 31 2,453,716
At 31 December 2019 120195124318 1328 125 278,579 136,865 1,601,055 1,001 1018 2,020,056
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment

For the purpose of impairment testing, CNG station and
ancillary facilities, oil and gas properties, construction in
progress and certain furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles, right-of-use assets (note 18(a)) and
intangible asset (note 19) are allocated to the Sanjiao CBM
Project, representing an individual cash generating unit
(“CGU”). As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the directors
of the Company did not identify any impairment indicators
in Sanjiao CBM Project. Nevertheless, the recoverable
amount of Sanjiao CBM Project as at the end of these
reporting periods were estimated, based on value-in-use
(“VIU”) calculation using cash flow projections from formally
approved budgets and capital expenditure which reflects
the development and production plan of this CGU. The
recoverable amounts were estimated to be higher than the
carrying amounts of the non-financial assets of Sanjiao
CBM Project. As such, no impairment loss was recognised.
The pre-tax discount rate used in the VIU calculation at 31
December 2020 was 19.68% (2019: 16.46%).

For the purpose of impairment testing, certain leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles, right-of-use assets and goodwill (note
20) are allocated to the raw and cleaned coal CGU. The
recoverable amount of the raw and cleaned coal CGU is
determined based on either fair value less costs to disposal
or VIU whichever is higher. The recoverable amount of the
raw and cleaned coal CGU has been determined from VIU
calculation based on cash flow projections from formally
approved budgets covering a six-year period, which is the
remaining contractual period of the coal washing leased
factory. Management considered that the budgets should
cover the remaining contractual period of the coal washing
leased factory as it reflects the development and production
plan of this CGU.
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16. W% B ERRHE (&)

B EST

BRERSME - CNGUA R EEXE
MREE EEIRBERAETEM BT
KERBAERE A5 - FRAEEE
(FFsE18(a) REF EE (HiE19) DB E
“REEREBEE RE—EBYREE
EBN ([REEEEAM]) - R2020F &
2019F12A31H ' ARAIEBTWER =
REERIEE #ZANEMBETR - BE
mp =ERXREERBERZEREHME
EREF W ESEIZBEREEB([E
BEEDFEXAEBEEAMNERBERE
ATH (RBEREEESBG 2 RABER
EEFE) 2BReREEAMGE - AT
Bl&RBEAFER=REEREE ETH
BECEEHE Bt TERRFEE
18 - R2020F 128318 @ ;T EFEBEE
FT 2 % 51 3T 35 % 519.68% (20194F -
16.46%) °

BEENRME  ETHEMERE
B -BEREERBRAZTRE =
EREEENREE (KiE20) nEEER
BEERECELEMN - RERBHRR
SELBEMZAJRESETIARFER
HERAXERBETZIESEERE
FREEBERRACELEUZ KB SHE
BEAMERS NFH FTRBAER
ZHBRTAHMNMBEEZREREFENLZ
EREEFEEE - EEERAR BE
FESARBERSG TAOE  REE
MRERBRUBRECELEUZAEREE

BE K



REMBEERME

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued)
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the recoverable
amounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
were estimated to be higher than the carrying amounts
of the non-financial assets of raw and cleaned coal CGU.
As such, no impairment loss was recognised. The pre-tax
discount rate used in the VIU calculation at 31 December
2020 was 18.79% (2019: 21.04%).
Notes: B &
(@) It mainly represents certain oil and gas properties and CNG (@)
station and ancillary facilities under construction at the end of

the reporting period.

(b) It represents gas wells located in Sanjiao block at the end of (b)

2Rk

the reporting period.

17. OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND

EVALUATION ASSETS

BIEST L (48)

M20204F &2019F 12 A31H » #ZE2020
FR2019F12A31R L FE 2T Kk E &
BHEAHESREMBEE (NRERE
HBCEEEMN) 2REE - Bt - &
TSR R B B 18 - 72020512 H318 » &t
EEREBEMAZMATITE R A18.79%
(2019%F : 21.04%) °

2020%F12H31H

16. Y% - BERRE (&)

HIZBRBEHHEERSZE THE
i R A ZE LA MCONGUE R ECE R i o

HERBEMBAARBUR=ZEHR

17. MR EIREFEHEE

HK$'000
FTAT
Cost: 5%

At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1 A1H 61,600
Additions NE 6,415
Interest capitalised EAREFI B 274
Exchange adjustments & A B 2,581
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 70,870
Additions NE 1,285
Interest capitalised BEAREF B 545
Exchange adjustments e A & 1,300
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12H31H 74,000

2020 F |
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17. OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND

EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

Canada Farm-in Project

In October 2015, the Company’s subsidiary, SOG
Energy Inc., entered into a farm-in agreement (“Farm-in
Agreement”) with a Canadian company (“Farmor”). Pursuant
to the Farm-in Agreement, the Company became as a
Farmee shall drill the test well within an area (“Farm-out
Land”) agreed between the Farmor and Farmee. When the
Farmee has drilled the test well to an agreed depth and if
the anticipated output from any zone in the Farm-out Land
are reasonably anticipated to be covered the cost of drilling,
equipping and operating of the wells, Farmee shall case the
well and conduct production test. Once the Farmee caps
the test well with the obligation to conduct production test
and has performed all related obligations under farm-in
agreement to Farmor’s reasonable satisfaction, Farmee
shall earn the interests in the Farm-out Land, subject to
the reservation to Farmor therefrom the agreed royalty.
No consideration is paid by the Group to the Farmor, but
the Group needs to be responsible for all the costs of the
drilling. Under this Farm-in Agreement, the Farmor giving up
future economic benefits, in the form of its oil reserves, in
exchange for a reduction in future funding obligations. The
Group recognises its expenditure under the agreement in
respect of its own interest and that retained by the Farmor,
as and when the costs are incurred. The Group accounts
for its expenditure under the agreement in the same way
as directly incurred exploration and evaluation expenditure.
Up to 31 December 2020, the Company incurred around
HK$74,000,000 drilling costs for this farm-in project (2019:
HK$70,870,000).

The Group classified this farm-in project as oil exploration
and evaluation assets under HKFRS 6. The directors
have assessed the impairment of this oil exploration
and evaluation assets in accordance with the criteria
under HKFRS 6 and by reference to the progress in the
implementation of this farm-in project during the year.
The directors concluded that there are neither facts nor
circumstances which may indicate that the carrying amount
of this oil exploration and evaluation assets has exceeded
the recoverable amount as at the end of reporting period.
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17. R B RFEEE (8)

M= XFarm-inl& B

20155108 - AR A M & 2 A1SOG
Energy Inc.E2—ZFK & XA 7] ([Farmor])
Z]SZFarm-int i ([Farm-intig ) - AR 1E
Farm-ini3 % * 22 7] (fE AFarmee) #§ 7
FarmorfiFarmeet# & #) & ([ Farm-out
T ]) 8 EROR L3 o AFarmeel & 1R
BRFERERER - 06 121 788 5K
B Farm-out i A (£ {A [& 13 & F8ORI = 2
BEEER KEERLEERFKRAN
Farmee i il 2 Jh H 30 3 17 4 &8I & »
—HFarmeeTHETEENAET T H
Bl HTE - W EFarmor& BEHED
fBfTFarm-inth HmE T A B E T -
Farmee#s % BlFarm-out L ith H) #E 25 - 1
ARFarmorZ A EMIEEE - K&
I #& M Farmorz (R KB - EAREE
FEEFMAEBEKR - RE ItFarm-int
% FarmorMEBBEEFM= (AEA
HER) UBRBBREARREEES 2
B -RAAELR ASESHER
SR R BFarmorR B MRS ERER
ERABRETHNRY AEBEEEER
FRAEERBRE TORIINERERE
EERBR R E X H - B E20205F12
A318 » N2 A8 3t tfarm-in& B & 4
# ¥ 5K AN 4974,000,0007 7T (20194
70,870,000/ L) °

BEBSSMEMEENFECT  NEE
1% 5% Farm-in1g B 7 8 & A i 81K & 51
BE-RBREASUBHREENF6HIEA
TR RSS2 E F AT #Zfarm-inIE B
REE  EEETEZABHERTG
BEEMRE ZEBSHET RBREHMBLE
R BEARNEENB R AR TZ
AHHEETHEENEEOED BRAE
AU [El & &E o



18. LEASES

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

18. fHE

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

(a) ERHEEE
TR AKEERAREECREERAE

and the movements during the year are as follows: EEnT
Office
Land Plantand premises and
use right equipment  staff quarters Total
MAEYE
T fE R BERRE REIES @zt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAET TET TET TET
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
LiEE() B 2 i) P 2 (1)
Arising from initial application RERERBATBRE
of HKFRS 16 ERAE165 M EE 3,915 9,038 4,678 17,631
Amortisation/depreciation for FREH/TE (F18(0)
the year (Note 18(c)) (230) (3,713) (2,228) (6,171)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (80) (140) (69) (289)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A31H 3,605 5,185 2,381 11,171
Additions NE - - 2,578 2,578
Amortisation/depreciation for FREH/ME (M18(c))
the year (Note 18(c)) (228) (3,677) (920) (4,825)
Lease modification BEEBE] - - (687) (687)
Exchange adjustments ERAE 210 111 (509) (188)
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12A31H 3,587 1,619 2,843 8,049

(i) Land use right and office premises and staff quarters mainly
belong to the Sanjiao CBM CGU.

(if) Plant and equipment belongs to the raw and cleaned coal

CGU.

() THEABARKAEZMERETIR
EFEB=RHEERBCEEEM -

(i) BERREBBERERERRSEEEN -

2020 F |
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18. LEASES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities and the

18. fi & ha

(b) HESME
FR $Elﬁﬁﬁﬁ2%ﬁﬁ&ﬁm

movements during the year are as follows: AN
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At 1 January M®1A1H 7,118 =
Arising from initial application of BB R IE B S B T & 2E R
HKFRS 16 16557 M A& 4 - 11,721
Additions NE 2,424 =
Lease modification MEERT (892) =
Accretion of interest recognised FAEERFEL M (M 5EQ))
during the year (Note 9(a)) 664 1,268
Lease payments HERK (4,597) (5,683)
Exchange adjustments ME X A (219) (188)
At 31 December M®12H31H 4,498 7,118
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mENE 4,003 4,778
Non-current portion ERBE D 495 2,340
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEAGB R TREEE M BHREMN

46(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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2020%F12H31H

18. LEASES (Continued) 18. #HE (&)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) MiEEGEDRHEEEARZLE
relation to leases are as follows: mE :
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9(a)) HEEEF B (M) 664 1,268
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE (KE9((c))

(Note 9(c)) 4,825 6,171
Expense relating to short-term leases EGEAEMAE B 2,095 5,660
Total amount recognised in profit or loss NRIEZEER 2 B 5 58 7,584 13,099
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note (d) HERSREHBRBIREGE WB®R

42(c) to the consolidated financial statements. FMIsE42(0) ©
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 190. B & E

Motor vehicle

registration Operation
licenses right Total
REZCHER BiEE @t
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET
Costs: BA :
At 1 January 2019 20191 /18 2,272 2,215,495 2,217,767
Exchange adjustments BE 5, 58 B - (47,485) (47,485)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 2,272 2,168,010 2,170,282
Exchange adjustments BEE 5 F B - 133,732 133,732
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H 2,272 2,301,742 2,304,014
Accumulated amortisation R RIRE
and impairment:
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H - 43,160 43,160
Amortisation for the year (Note 9(c)) N4 & % 5 (Mt 319(c)) - 20,099 20,099
Exchange adjustments BEE 3 FH B - (833) (833)
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H - 62,426 62,426
Amortisation for the year (Note 9(c)) 74 /& # 85 (i 5T9(c)) - 17,899 17,899
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, 5 B - 4,862 4,862
At 31 December 2020 2020F12A31H - 85,187 85,187
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2020 2020124311 2,272 2,216,555 2,218,827
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 2,272 2,105,584 2,107,856

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s operation
right represents the right under a production sharing
arrangement (note 43) which gives the Group the right
to participate in the production of coalbed methane with
details as follows:

MR2020%F K2019%F12A31H ' A&EE 2
EEREE—HEMmD KT ([iE43) A
R RAEBARLEEBREE
BT

Gas field Location Expiry date
R H i B R GRS
Sanjiao CBM Project Shanxi Province, the PRC 2036

=RKEERIER RE LA

The operation right is initially recognised at its fair value
on the date of acquisition by reference to a professional
valuation prepared by Asset Appraisal Limited. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the operation right is measured
using the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
operation right using the units of production method based
on the amount of proved and probable oil and gas reserves.
Amortisation is charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the operation right
was allocated to the Sanjiao CBM Project. During the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the directors
of the Company did not identify any impairment indicators
in Sanjiao CBM Project. Details of the estimation of the
recoverable amount of this CGU are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

LERNSREBERAZATELSE
THEEENEERERARGRR ZE
XHERER RBSHPHEK - 2E#E
RAMARENGE -

58 A B T R B R B e L
B EEARETHRY BHERS
2ERSRZ [EERARI NN -

FRENRNS ZEEIRE=ZHE
BRIER - NE 220204 K20194F12 A
SIAHLEFE ARABEEFWER=ZRE
EBREEZNEMBREDTR - ARGE
EBEMzARESEGAFBERAGE
B S R M 5516 o
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20. GOODWILL 20. B
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Cost jp%.3
At 1 January Mm1A1H 93,642 95,693
Exchange adjustments ME 5 38 B 5,779 (2,051)
At 31 December M®12H31H 99,421 93,642
Accumulated impairment loss: St iBEEE :
At 1 January BM1A18 82,295 84,097
Exchange adjustments PE W 3R B 5,078 (1,802)
At 31 December M®12A31H 87,373 82,295
Carrying amount BRE{E
At 31 December MW12A318 12,048 11,347

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
acquired 75% equity interest of Golden Glow Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively known as “Golden
Glow Group”) for a consideration of RMB135,000,000
(equivalent to HK$168,656,000). The excess of the cost of
purchase over the net fair value of the identifiable net assets
of Golden Glow Group of RMB83,713,000 (equivalent to
HK$104,583,000) was recorded as goodwill and allocated

to the CGU in the raw and cleaned coal CGU.
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HZE2015F12A31BLFERN A5 E
I BE Golden Glow Holdings Limited & H
BB 2 7] (5578 [ Golden Glows ) Z
75% K - KB B AR %135,000,0007T
(8 % %168,656,00058 7T) ° U B8 X &
B HiGolden Glow% E 7] :#% 5 & & F &
FATE 2D AREESS,713,0007T (18
£ 104,583,000/ 70) E A B AR K
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

21.

The following are key assumptions on which management
has based its cash flow projections for the period covered
by the most recent budgets:

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

20. B2 (&)
NTARAEEERBEROEESS HAA
Be Rl zTE2/RE

202012 A

2020 2019
Pre-tax discount rate R B B 47 3R =R 18.79% 21.04%
Operating margin A R = 2.30% 1.50%
Growth rate #RR 2.40% 2.40%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant CGU. The operating margin
have been based on past experience and the growth rate
was determined by considering both internal and external
factors for the first five years and terminal growth rate not

FRRAZITBREDIHANRRS RRE

ReELBNZRERR - KEFBEX

BEBIKLRET MERXBFBERE

BERFAERINEEE IR kR

5

=R BBABFTE M R F 1 R E

exceeding the long term average growth rate of the same BE-
industry.
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 1. R—REEBEL¥EZHER
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FH T
At 1 January ®1A1H - =
Share of loss for the year (Note (a)) FARAPMEEE (MiE@) - -
At 31 December ®12H31H - =
Amount due from a joint venture EW—KE&EEENRE
(Note (b)) (Fff 5% (o)) 324 320
324 320

2020 F |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. R—REBLEZHER (F)
(Continued)
Notes: Bt 5 -

(a)  Share of loss has been fully recognised up to the investment
in a joint venture during the year ended 31 December 2015.
No further share of loss is required to be recognised for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(b)  The amount due from a joint venture is unsecured, interest

free and repayable on demand.

The Group has a 50% (2019: 50%) interest in a joint venture,
Smart Win International Limited, a company incorporated in
the BVI and operating in Hong Kong. The primary activity of
Smart Win International Limited is investment holding.

The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only
the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with
the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Smart
Win International Limited. Under HKFRS 11, this joint
arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been
included in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, this joint venture is not material to the Group,
and the summarised financial information in relation to the
joint venture is presented below:

(@ #HZE2015F12A318ILFE A& H
R—REECEZREZERERE
BHHER - B E20204F R2019512 A
BIHIEEE BEAE-SHERELE

o
) EBE-—REZ2LEXERELEERR 2
BRBRERIER

REBREECEINEHBERAAE
B50% (2019%F : 50%) #x  BE AR
REABAHES MR IITREBLE
X2 RmE - EBRBEBERAFRIZEE
EBRITEER -

BHTHHERASEERE A ERHE
EFEZEN MBaERHEEZE
MEBBEZEREIEERIEBEREAR
DA ARIBE B R EERFI15E
ZEELHDEREELEAERAER
ERFEEMBHREAR - ARARIEER
B BRAELRHEAKETZETIK M
ERAZLEZVBEMMEZZ2WT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fi#ERT F&IT

Loss for the year FNEE (10) (296)
Other comprehensive income H b2 E = - =
Total comprehensive income BEmEmls (10) (296)
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

22 R—FKEEATIZHER

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

As at 1 January 7?1818 57,549 57,977
Share of profit for the year FADERF 18 25
Exchange adjustments PE A 1,254 (453)
As at 31 December ®12H31H 58,821 57,549

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

Form of business

Place of

BRASEBERRZFBHINMT :

Percentage of
ordinary share

Name of company structure incorporation indirectly held  Principal activity
BERE
AEEE EBRERL 1 AR 3Lt 26 LEREA EEER
WA Z2EERME  Sino-foreign equity The PRC 30%  Development and operation of a
BRAF joint venture H liquefied natural gas plant in the
FONEBRE PRC to produce liquefied coalbed
methane
RAEBEERREERCRARER
WAEERIEEER
2020 K3 o HEABARERBERDA
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22,

23.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, this
associate is not material to the Group, and the summarised
financial information in relation to the associate is presented

22 R—RKEMEBATIZHEE (E)
AATNEERA ZHEATNHAEE
YERA BEATNNUBEEREES
BT

below:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Profit for the year F A5 A 60 83
Other comprehensive income H b2 e - -
Total comprehensive income BEER S 60 83

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23. MAFEEBERIIRZUE
BE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Contingent consideration in relation to ~ WHEME AR 2B R E
acquisition of subsidiaries
— Non-current portion —JEMBE D 9,221 16,237
— Current portion — B 5 24,085 15,956
33,306 32,193

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
had acquired 75% equity interests of Golden Glow Group,
of which the vendor irrevocably guaranteed the Group
that from 1 October 2015 until 30 September 2021, six
years in total, the total net profit after income tax expense
attributable to Golden Glow Group per annum should not
be less than RMB30,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Profit”).
Contingent consideration represented the fair value of the
amounts to be received by the Group if the Golden Glow
Group fails to meet the Guaranteed Profit.
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HE2015F12A31BILFER  KEE
W BEGolden Glow®s B Z275% /& # » &
HRE 5 AT E M 1R AR SR B A (R B 2015
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BRATSEME L BBEFNETLRARKE
30,000,0007T ([fR:E &M 1) - sk B RAE
5 fGolden Glow5s B K 8 M & 1R 3% &
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The Group has engaged an independent firm of valuers
to assess the fair value of the Guaranteed Profit as at the
end of reporting period. The fair value of the contingent
consideration arrangement was estimated by applying the
income approach at a pre-tax discount rate of 18.79%
(2019: 21.04%). In assessing the adjustments to reflect
credit risk in the fair value measurement process, the
directors of the Company did not consider the credit risk
to be significant as the vendor of Golden Glow Group still
owns the non-controlling interest with carrying value of
HK$10,688,000 (2019: HK$8,832,000) (note 40) and had
good settlement record of the shortfall of the Guaranteed
Profit.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
has received approximately RMB243,000 (equivalent
to HK$272,000) (2019: RMB9,773,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,092,000)) (note 51(b)(iv)) of the shortfall of the
Guaranteed Profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
(the “Shortfall 2019”). The remaining balance of Shortfall
2019 of approximately RMB14,595,000 (equivalent to
HK$17,333,000) (note 27(b)) is expected to be settled
in 2021 while the remaining balance of shortfall of the
Guaranteed Profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 of
approximately RMB3,957,000 (equivalent to HK$4,426,000)
(note 27(b)) was fully settled in 2020. The Group estimated
that the shortfall of the Guaranteed Profit for the year ended
31 December 2020 attributable to the Group would be
approximately RMB20,281,000 (2019: RMB14,837,000).
Details of summarised financial information of Golden Glow
Group are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AEBEZE—XBILAERMT K
FERBEINFSHBAERF A
FTH AERELHEZAFEDIER
W A 12 BR B BT 4T 3R %£18.79% (2019
F:21.04%) ETHT - RAFEE
BEPTFEREEERR 2 AER -
ARAREEREFERBRIETELN R
A £Golden Glow% IW%EEEETEE
10,688,000/ 7T (20194 : 8,832,000/5
TO) ZFETERR s (M5E40) - WHEB R
2 RE B ZEEMTDEE -

HE2020F12A31HILFER » NE
E 2 WEE E2019F12A31B IEF E
REREMZZ8 ([2019F 258 HA
R #243,0007T (18 % 272,000/ 7T )
(2019%F : AR ¥9,773,0007T (HE
11,092,000 7)) (K 5E51(b)(iv)) °
20196 = 58 2 R BE 49 A R 514,595,000
7T ($ % 717,333,0005 7T ) (i 5E27(b))
TE BRI S PR2021 6E (B 1 - &k Z=2018412
AR FEREFEZBEZHRBELHA
R #3,957,0007T (18 % 7 4,426,000/%
7o) (M 5E27(b)) B R2020%F B & E F »
RE B HE - NE B E(GE E20205F12
ABBLEEFERBERMNZEEBHENAR
AR #20,281,0007T (20194 : AR ¥
14,837,0007T) ° Golden Glow% & 2~ Bt
BERBEHNGE M REM 40 -
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31 December 2020

24. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 24. EERAFEZBREMEZEIEK
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER BINRZERIRE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#T Tt
Listed securities in Hong Kong, BEELETES  EATE
at fair value 377 503

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the listed securities
represented the equity interests in a company that is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, net fair value
loss amounted to HK$126,000 (2019: HK$453,000) was

recognised in other comprehensive income.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020

MR20204F K2019F12HA31H » M &3
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HZE2020F12A31BILFER  FAF
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5 M5 RME

202012 A31H

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE FENE =
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T THET
Loans receivable JEURE 3k 88,884 78,282
Less: impairment loss (Note (g)) B R EE B (M REg) (7,490) (56,142)
Loans receivable, net FEE FF R 81,394 73,140
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loans receivable in PR20204F K2019F12H31H » KEEES

the Group’s financial services were as follows:

Notes:

(a)

In March 2020 and December 2020, the Group entered into a
five-year agreement and a six-month agreement with a private
company in the PRC, an independent third party, to advance
two loans of RMB6,000,000 and RMB2,000,000, interest
bearing at 10% per annum and 12% per annum respectively.
These loans were secured by certain equipment and CNG
station and a deposit from the borrower of RMB600,000
which is included in other payables.

Management of the Group assessed the recoverability and
believed that there was no significant change in credit risk
since initial recognition and a 12-month ECL of HK$296,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
Nil).

In October 2019, the Group entered into a five-year
agreement with a private company in the PRC, an
independent third party, to grant facilities up to
RMB70,000,000, interest bearing at 10% per annum and
secured by its 80% equity interests in a company registered
in Kyrgyz Republic which holds the oil exploration rights and
such rights were also registered in Kyrgyz Republic. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, RMB37,070,000 was advanced.

Management of the Group assessed the recoverability and
believed that there was no significant change in credit risk
since initial recognition and a 12-month ECL of HK$1,503,000
(2019: HK$677,000) was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2020.

BIRBG 2 EBWERET ¢

Bt o -

(@)

202093 8 M2020F12 8 + AN & E &
—RPEERE ﬁ%(—%ﬁ*”‘ﬁ)
DRI A F Wz k@A
ﬁﬁﬁi%%%ﬁﬁ%IJ?%/\Eﬁza,ooo,ooo
TR AR#2000,000T 2 ERK-%E
B BIRE T L10% & F F L12%5T
8 0 WA E T 2% RCNG LA K 8 3%
A2 & A R#600,0007T (5 A E
FEAFFRIE) IR -

AEEBEEBOFGEITKREME BE
HE FERREEAEREHER
EEE - H E2020F12A318 L &FEE
B R121E A 78 B = & &5 18296,000/%
T (20194 : #&) ©

R2019F 10  AEEEH —KRF

B (—ZBIYE=H)FIXA
FEHF O UBEEEERABARYE
70,000,0007T 2 B & © 2@t & 12 F F
10%:T B WAER —REETR S H
HMBEEM 2 A 7 280%M #E (EHK IR o
ZARFEAABYIRE  MAEER
TNE R E RS H7 A0 B o 72020
F K2019F12A31BE 2N ARK
37,070,0007T °

AEEEEEBEEFGATKREMNE #EF
B EERKRE B RERLHER
EZE8E o HE2020F12A31BLEE
E ® 1218 A 78 #3115 & & 81,503,000
77T (20194 : 677,000/ 7C) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

In March 2019, the Group advanced a loan to a private
company in the PRC, an independent third party, of
RMB21,000,000. The loan was secured by certain machinery
and equipment, interest bearing at 8% per annum and
repayable in March 2024. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group has assessed the recoverability and the loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL. The management of the Group
believed the current provision of RMB4,000,000 is sufficient
and no further ECL is required.

In May 2018, the Group entered into a five-year agreement
with a provincial hospital, an independent third party, in the
PRC, to grant facilities up to RMB40,000,000 and secured by

certain medical equipment.

In May 2018, November 2018 and May 2019, the
Group advanced three loans to the provincial hospital of
RMB10,000,000, RMB3,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 and due
in May 2023, November 2023 and May 2024 respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not
further advance to the borrower.

Management of the Group assessed the recoverability and
believed that there was no significant change in credit risk
since initial recognition and a 12-month ECL of HK$124,000
(2019: nil) was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2020.

In order to finance the facility to the borrower, the Group
obtained a bank loan which is secured by bank deposits.
Details of the restricted cash at banks and bank loan are
set out in notes 29(a) and 32 to the consolidated financial

statements, respectively.
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25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) R ER(E)
Notes: (Continued) MaE : (8)
Analysed for reporting purpose as: () MHEEMETZOW:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current assets mBNEE 3,850 8,725
Non-current assets ERBEE 77,544 64,415
81,394 73,140

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the
reporting dates was the carrying value of the loans receivable
and the committed undrawn facilities of RMB54,930,000
(equivalent to HK$65,235,000) (2019: RMB54,930,000
(equivalent to HK$61,445,000)).

Management of the Group will re-assess the credibility
of the borrowers when they notify the Group to release
the committed undrawn facilities. The Group would reject
further drawdown of facilities if the financial condition of the
borrowers deteriorate. Therefore, the Group considers that
ECL was not material as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

RBEHERE EeEERARAE
WERREERRORE 2 REEA
IR #54,930,0007T, (18 % 765,235,000
7 7t) (20194 = A R #554,930,0007T
(A 761,445,000 L)) °

EERABAA S B R A R ARIER
BMER AEEEBRERBEIHAMGE
BN Z B AE M o fil 18 TN B 7 IR R 88
= REBEBERE—FRENRE -
It AN B R B R20204F K2019612
ABAZEHEEBELTERX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(99  Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of loans

receivable during the year is as follows:

s - ()

25. JEWER (8)

9 FARKREFNBEEBRGREZHNOT :

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

121 A 2 H

EHEEERE EHEEERE
FARER FEOREER #Er
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
Balance as at 1 January 2019 R2019F1A1A Z &8 - 4,572 4,572

Impairment loss recognised FANE BRREERE
during the year (Note 8) (Pt 5E8) 677 - 677
Exchange adjustments PE i A% (10) (97) (107)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 M2019F 12 A31 8 2 & 667 4,475 5,142
Impairment loss recognised FAEERBEER
during the year (Note 8) (Pt 5E8) 1,923 = 1,923
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 55 2 150 275 425
Balance as at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12 A31 A 2 & &% 2,740 4,750 7,490
26. INVENTORIES 26. &85

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Spare parts, consumables and others B M R EA 10,281 9,906
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 27. FEYWERFR - FEWE B R H thFE
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WERE I EFEfF=IE
PREPAYMENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Non-current assets EREEE
Deposits and prepayments (Note (a)) e MEMAFIE (WiEa@) 20,035 44,152

Current assets RENEE

Trade receivables (Note (e)) JEWAR R (Bt 5E(e)) 78,973 29,306
Less: impairment loss (Note (f)) W OREEE (MY EE) (329) (310)
78,644 28,996
Notes receivable JE U 2= 4 8,324 5,761
Other receivables (Note (b)) A JE U5 BR 3K (Bt 3£ (b)) 134,501 86,916
Less: impairment loss (Note (g)) B R EE R (M aE Q) (26,061) (25,940)
108,440 60,976
Other deposits (Note (c)) Hiize (M) 346,883 322,609
Less: impairment loss (Note (h)) B R EE R (M aEh) (22,397) (18,591)
324,486 309,018
Utility deposits KEZS 172 172
Prepayments (Note (d)) T8 44 58 (%)) 7,362 51,648
527,428 456,571
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The balance includes prepayments and deposits paid for
exploration costs of HK$20,035,000 (2019: HK$44,152,000)

on the Group’s construction in progress.

The balances mainly include interest receivables of short-term
investment of HK$34,574,000 (2019: HK$23,215,000),
receivables of Shortfall 2019 of HK$17,333,000 (2019:
Shortfall 2018 of HK$4,426,000) (note 23) and consideration
receivables of HK$24,000,000 (2019: HK$24,000,000) which
represent the outstanding consideration arising from disposal
of certain oil fields in the PRC in 2016 and secured by the

operation rights of the oil fields (the “Secured Assets”).

In respect of the assessment of recoverability of interest
receivables of short-term investment, details are set out in

the note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Consideration receivables

The Group noted that the financial conditions of the debtor
deteriorated and this deteriorated the debtor’s ability to settle
the outstanding consideration of HK$24,000,000. Based
on the assessment of the management of the Group, the
involved costs and time of recovery of the Secured Assets
outweighed the expected economic benefits which could be
generated. As such, the Group believed that the credit risk
of the consideration receivable has significantly increased
and the full recovery of consideration receivable was not
expected. Therefore, a lifetime ECL of HK$24,000,000 (note
(9)) was recognised (2019: HK$24,000,000).
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

Other receivables

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the management of
the Group believed that the credit risk of certain other
receivables has significantly increased and full recovery was
not expected, full impairment was made in prior years and no
further ECL was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: HK$NIl) (note (g)). For the remaining of other
receivables, management of the Group believed that the
credit risk has not been significantly increased since initial
recognition, a 12-month ECL was not material for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$341,000) (note (g)).

The balances mainly represented refundable deposits of
HK$243,172,000 (2019: HK$240,363,000) paid for possible
acquisition of Canada oil fields as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 June 2014 and 1 September 2014
respectively and interest receivables of HK$102,848,000
(2019: HK$81,228,000) in relation to these deposits
(collectively the “Refundable deposits and related interest
receivables”).

On 30 June 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
has entered into the first non-legally binding memorandum
of understanding (“MOU 1”) with Jade Million Co Ltd,
(the “Vendor”) in relation to a possible acquisitions of the
interests of certain oil and gas blocks in Canada (“Target 1”).
According to the MOU 1, the Group paid a refundable deposit
of Canadian Dollars (“CAD”) 30,000,000 which is interest-free
to the Vendor in July 2014. On 1 September 2014, the
Group entered into another memorandum of understanding
(“MOU 2”) with Vendor and paid a refundable deposit of CAD
10,000,000 which is interest bearing at 4.5% per annum in
relation to a possible acquisition of the interests of certain
oil and gas blocks (other than Target 1) in Canada (“Target
2”). On 30 April 2015, 31 December 2015, 30 September
2016, 30 June 2017, 29 December 2017, 31 January 2019,
31 July 2019 and 31 July 2020, the Group and the Vendor
agreed in writing to further extend the time limit for entering
into formal agreements in respect of MOUs and the exclusive
periods as set out in the MOUs to 31 December 2015 and
30 September 2016, 30 June 2017, 31 December 2017, 30
September 2018, 31 July 2019, 31 July 2020 and 31 July
2021 respectively.

27. fE
g

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

W AR  FEM R 1R & H th FE
AR =K

™ REREMNRIA(E)

s ()

(b)

(&)

H fth FE M AR =X

R2020%F K2019F12A31H » A& E
EREMEE BETEMERERERZEE
JR\ B A R 3 A0 - 3 FB R A R AE 2 Bk
EMRE BEERBAFTEFLEE2E
A &R # 22020128318 1
FERRE - P2 EHAEEEE (2019
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BURERNE AEEEEEMEE &
B R B 146 1 72 DA SR I 4 A g 1 A0
WA H £2020F 128318 IEFE 212
B ATEBEEREBILTEKX (2019F :
341,000/ 7T ) (MF7E(g)) °

BAREBEARF D B R2014F6
A30H K2014F9A1B 2 A&
ZHREKREMEXEBAZE N AR
B 1% £243,172,000% 7T (20194 :
240,363,000/ L) RiE@EiEE 2 &
I # £.102,848,0005 7t (20194
81,228,000/ 70) (B REE S K
HEERFE]) -

MW2014F6H308 * ARG 2 EH B L
72 #Jade Milion Co Ltd([&E 7 1) 7T
VE—GBTEEEORNZEHEES
tr (R HE 1 ]) ARG A AL
KEmeEXRETaRE%B ([BE1])
2R REFBESE AEED
R2014F7TAMEBE AR EZ AR
18 ¥ £30,000,00000 7T ([0 7T]) ° A
2014F9R1H " AEBEEFF LS
— M mEE T ((REETER2]) K
REBAEKREMNERE T HIER
(TEfE2]  BfE1AINRIE) 2 #E2S
WX IEBFI5% T E 2 RERE
10,000,0000 7t » 201594 4308 »
2015412 A31H - 201659 A30H -
201746 4300 2017412 A29H -
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2020F7A31H  AEBEREFE@R
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EXBEOHREZERBEE RN
HHBRANRE  mE D BEE2015
£12A31H ~ 20165F9HA30H « 20174
6H30H - 20174128318 + 201849
A30H - 2019%F7HA31H » 202047 A
318 K%2021478318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

(Continued)

On 30 June 2016, supplemental agreements for MOU
1 and MOU 2 were signed for interest charge based on
the outstanding deposits at the rate of 8.5% per annum
commencing from 1 December 2014 and 1 May 2015,

respectively, up to the refund of these deposits.

Save and except for the aforesaid extension of the time limit
for entering into formal agreements and the exclusive periods,

all other terms of the MOUs shall remain unchanged.

As these MOUs are non-legally binding and the Group can
unconditionally withdraw from this transaction any time and
these deposits will be fully refundable by 31 July 2021 if no
further renewal of the aforesaid extension. As such, these
deposits were classified as current assets as at the end of

each of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2020, a 12-month ECL of HK$8,235,000
(2019: HK$2,766,000) (note (h)) on the Refundable deposits
and related interest receivables were recognised in the profit
or loss after considering the value of the interests in Target
1 and Target 2, management of the Group believed that
there was no significant change in credit risk since initial

recognition.

The balance mainly included prepayment to raw coal
suppliers of HK$1,848,000 (2019: HK$50,293,000) for the

coal washing factory.
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(e)

REMBEERME

2020%F12H31H

27. FEUGERSR - B EIR R H b FE
Wbk « 2 & R TAFRRIA (8)

Notes: (Continued) MiaE - (8&)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss RREHHAERFEEZAZ2RE
allowance, based on invoice date at the end of reporting WER R (MR BB RE) 2RO T

period is as follows: Ik
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Less than one month DR1E A 64,998 28,996
1 to 2 months 12218 A 11,342 L
More than 3 months Z PA3ME A 2,304 =
78,644 28,996

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30 days
from the invoice date. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believed that no impairment allowance was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had been no
significant change in credit quality and the balances were still

considered fully recoverable.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECLs at an amount equal to a lifetime expected
loss allowance for trade receivables. The ECL is assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings based on debtors’ aging. During the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019, ECL based on the provision

matrix was not material.

AEEGEPHNTHEESRRAER
FEOZEB0K A & B I £ #5 A (E (] 17
m EE A -

£ %8 BB R OR (B &Y 8 WOR TR B2 % 4 B
AEBERHTRELENBILIREFRAE
EREEH MHRFIDRR SR BB
HWEREREBERZERNG R
BB -

AEBERBEEV B REELFOHRH
EERERAEEER 2 HEHEER
BEEREBEZSHEFERBEREER -
B EEBBREEKERT 2 RERE
RBEREREE DHETRENMGE -
#H £20204F &2019F12A31H IEF
B -REBRBEEFGZEREES
BIYFEK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

(Continued)

The directors of the Company consider one of the
counterparties, the PRC partner (defined in note 43) of the
Sanjiao CBM Project, maintains good credit quality and the
balance is fully recoverable. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the estimated loss rates of this counterparty is
not significant and the Group assessed that the ECL on the
remaining balances is also not material. As at 31 December
2020 and 2019, ECL based on the provision matrix was

immaterial.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over

the expected lives of the receivables.

The movements in the loss allowance amount in respect of

trade receivables during the year are as follows:

27. FEUGERSR - B EIR R H b FE
Wbk « 2 & R TAFRRIA (8)

B - (&)

(e)

(#8)

AARAEBZERREF —ERGH=ZXR
HERAREBEBHEBE 2R ARF (ERRME
WBRFRIFEEER  EHEEHRTE
BWE - KRRAREERE ZRXHA
ZHEFEBEEITEKR WAL ET
HHREZEMEEEBATER RN
20204 K2019F12H318 » IRIE & E
EEEZEREEEBEETIERX -

EHERXDREBEMFEZERE
BEBREH ZEFLETSFEHRAEN
[ B My 5 FEF Sk BRI HA R 2 R B IR R
EAARRAEEE EEREERSF
RAZEBERRNEBEEZNER -

FREBERER s BEREBESHRE
R :

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT FET

Balance as at 1 January R1A18 2483 310 316
Exchange adjustments bE 5 & 19 (6)
Balance as at 31 December W12A31H 2 &8 329 310
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2020%F12H31H

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 27. R HIRTR - B RiR R H b FE
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WERS: s IREETAFFRIE (E)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) MiaE - (8&)
(@ The movements in the loss allowance amount in respect of @ FAEBEEMERERZEERES
other receivables during the year are as follows: BEEEHNOT -
Lifetime ECL
(individually
12-month ECL assessed)
Stage 1 Stage 3 Total
2 H
1218 A BHEEEE
EHEEEBSE (fERIFTAE)
SR 30 ] @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET
Balance as at 1 January 2019 #20195F1A 18 Z 48R 914 25,100 26,014
Impairment loss recognised during FAREERREEE (HF8)
the year (Note 8) = - =
Other receivables (Note (b) above) H fth i U BR 3R (B (b)) 341 = 341
Exchange adjustments P 5 (25) (390) (415)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 ®20195F12A31B 2 &8 1,230 24,710 25,940
Impairment loss recognised during A B R RE E 18 (i :E8)
the year (Note 8) = = i
Exchange adjustments BE 5, 35 % 80 41 121
Balance as at 31 December 2020 12020F12A31H 2 &8 1,310 24,751 26,061

(h)  The movements in the loss allowance amount in respect of

other deposits under 12-month ECL (stage 1) during the year

() PRI AT A IR (1R
B)SHEZEMES FRBESES

is as follows: E U
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F& T
Balance as at 1 January W1A18 2488 13,591 10,337

Impairment loss recognised FNE MR EEE (MFs)

during the year (Note 8) 8,235 2,766
Exchange adjustments ME 3 & 571 488
Balance as at 31 December W12A31H 2 &8 22,397 13,591
2020 £ e HFEBRERERAAAF
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28. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

28. 5EHARE

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

At 1 January »1A18 67,104 69,216
Impairment loss BB EE (5,920) (4,822)
Exchange adjustments (R 9,456 2,710
At 31 December ”»12H31H 70,640 67,104

On 10 July 2014, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with a private company in the PRC which
engaged in investment and consultancy services (“Investee”)
(an independent third party) to acquire bonds issued by
the Investee. During the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, the maturity date of the bonds were further
extended for another 1 year to 3 May 2020 and 5 May 2021
respectively with other terms remain unchanged. The bonds
are guaranteed by the Investee’s related companies which
are private companies in the PRC and bears fixed interest at
13% per annum.

The Group assessed the recoverability of the short-term
investment and related interest receivables which are
included in other receivables (note 27(b)) on a collective
basis and considered that there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, therefore
the ECL is assessed based on a 12-month ECL. A loss
allowance of HK$758,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: a 12-month ECL of
HK$638,000) to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macro-economic factors affecting the ability
of the Investee to settle the receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the
reporting dates was the carrying value of the short-term
investment.
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REBEDREBEET M A KM ERK
AR 2 R ERIR & KR 78 R R B (BT 5T
27(b)) 2 A B - WRAEERR S
) 25 T 3R LA R I % B T A0 - [ bt TR B
EEBENRI2ERBHEEEEBF
&> RE E2020F12831H It FEER
&5 18 #%758,000/% 7T (20194 : 1216 A
78 Hi 1= B £518638,000/8 7T) * LA R BR 2
BRIREFSINBWMERZEN 2 RE
KERZZATEMEELR -

RBEEHERE  FREERRSEH
BREZREE -



28. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT (Continued)

29.

The movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

28. EHIRE (8)
ENEHEEHLE Y FRREESH 0

REMBEERME

2020%F12H31H

short-term investment during the year is as follows: o
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
At 1 January »1818 4,822 4,285

Impairment loss recognised FRERFEEE (HE8)

during the year (Note 8) 758 638
Exchange adjustments P& A 340 (101)
At 31 December ®12A31H 5,920 4,822
Note: The balance includes ECLs of short-term investment and Wit SHReEEHRECZEHEESRE

related interest receivables.

KARRAEULAE -

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 29. IR & MERITEER

(a) Restricted cash at banks (a) ZPRHIERITIRS
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Balance as at 31 December M12A31H 2 &% 984 10,096
Denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) AARBEE 828 9,027
2020 £ e HFEBRERERAAAF
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29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(Continued)

(a) Restricted cash at banks (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash deposits of
approximately RMB828,000 (equivalent to HK$984,000)
(2019: RMB602,000 (equivalent to HK$672,000)) with two
designated banks in the PRC as collateral for the Group’s
bank and other borrowings (note 32).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a restricted bank
deposit of RMB3,522,000 (equivalent to HK$3,940,000)
which was frozen to facilitate a legal investigation not related
to the Group. With respect of the remaining restricted bank
deposits of RMB4,903,000 (equivalent to HK$5,484,000),
they were frozen by Beijing No. 1 Intermediate People’s
Court in the PRC as an interim measure in relation to a
pending arbitration of the outstanding exploration costs
payable between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and a construction contractor at the end of the reporting
period. In January 2020, both parties mediated and signed
a settlement agreement. The restrictions on these bank
deposits have been released in March 2020.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The bank balances were all deposited in banks in the PRC
with high credit ratings or with good reputation. The credit
risk is not material.
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31 December 2020

20. INE& REPITHER ()

(a) ZMRHIEBITIRE (B
M2020F12831H » KEBE KR WM
FPREERTFEESESHDARK
828,000 (48 % #°984,000/% jT) (2019
F : AR ¥602,00075T (48 % 1672,000
B))  ERAEEBRITREMEE
R (M 5E32) o

M2019F 128318 AEBE 2 R #
R1TTF R AR ¥3,522,0007T (#E R
3,940,000/ 7T) B R & - A5 B — R
HASEEAZEZRAS BB TR
FIER1TTE R A R #4,903,0000t (FHER
5,484,000 7C) M5 ' ZEF RN HEH
ERmE—FRARZEZRRE  1ERE
AR BEHBAERBERART 22 EW
BRARAIBIRBEAER 2B RMT ZE
REHER AR Z R REZBE R -
M2020F1H - &S EETAR W EF
ENREHE ZSROTFRZBRFIER
20205 3 A IE R B -

AN RS 5T B A0 48 2 5L 18R R ONEE I i
Az FNETENRTER LIRS E D
B - 157838 7 AP B IO AR AR 6 48 R S
BE 5 1 AR Al K AR B

RITEBTERRTEAEBESERTRK
EBREGEEZRT EFERRETE
K o



fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

2020412 4
29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 29. e RRITEER (4F)
(Continued)
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) RERIRLEEY
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Cash and bank balances, LTI EEFEZRE R
denominated in IRITHE &R
- HKD and USD —BITRET 738 1,256
- RMB - AR 60,117 2,430
- CAD — T 26 25
- Others —HAth 17 17
60,898 3,728
Cash and cash equivalents of RMB50,620,000 (equivalent A R #50,620,0007T (48 % 760,117,000
to HK$60,117,000 (2019: RMB2,172,000 (equivalent to Bor) (20194 : AR¥2,172,0007T (48
HK$2,430,000)) were denominated in RMB. The conversion £ 12,430,000 L)) 2 BE KR E& %
of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and BYAARBEE - SAAREFTED
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated ERR R BINE R AZEINEFTED
bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to RITHEBRLIRCELPRH  HAEETH
relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control B T 78 5 0 A 28 HINEEE & 1128 Bl T2 3R 5 o
promulgated by the PRC government.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the bank balances were MR20204F K20195612831H @ R1T74
deposited in banks in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada EHRAFAE - -BEERNZXAEESER
with high credit ratings or with good reputation. The credit ARSI EABRIEEZRIT - EERR

risk is not material. WARENRX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 30. FEfTRRRR - Hih B RIERTE

ACCRUALS _RE&EH
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Current Liabilities mENE R

Trade payables (Note (a)) FE A BR 3K (Bt 5% (a)) 41,243 11,385
Other payables and accruals (Note (b))  H b EFHIE K TEIRE A (M5t Db)) 468,807 403,515
Receipt in advance (Note (c)) TEUR SRR (BT 3E(c)) - 16,648
Amount due to a shareholder (Note (d)) &1 — & IR B 38 (B 7E(d)) 21,871 14,370
531,921 445,918

Notes: MfaE -

(a) The amount mainly represented raw coal costs payable to a (@)

major raw coal supplier.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date

at the end of reporting period is as follows:

ZERIBERINTIERKMER
B R BERCAS o

EAERA RS HEERKREER
ZHREDWMT ¢

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FTHT

Within 30 days 30H A 41,243 11,385

The average credit period granted by suppliers is 0-30 days
from the invoice date.

(o)  The balance mainly included exploration costs and related (b)
interest payable of approximately HK$246,393,000 (2019:
HK$232,425,000) in respect of oil and gas properties and
default interest of HK$62,101,000 (2019: HK$56,831,000)
respectively.
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HEMGASENFHEERRAME
H#£0ZE30K °

ZERTERESNEEBREEZIE
- B R AX 7R I A8 78 T 2 £9246,393,000
7T (20194 : 232,425,000 7T) &
# #4 F £62,101,0007% 7T (20194 :
56,831,000/ T) °



30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

REMBEERME

2020%F12H31H

&M (&)

s - ()

The balance represented received in advance from sales of (c)

cleaned coal.

%R IR R IH B FRUGK

30. FEfHERSR - HiFEMARIERTA

Movements in receipts in advance TEUGFRIBE 2 & &)
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Balance as at 1 January B1R18 2468 16,648 =
Decrease in receipts in advance ARFRERERNEY
as a result of recognising revenue FF AT IE Z WA
during the year that was included in B 5 7AW R I R A
the receipts in advance at the
beginning of the year (16,648) -
Increase in receipts in advance ZRBA 4R 2 TEUGGRIA E N
in accordance with the terms
of the contracts 332,140 452,140
Decrease in receipts in advance BRFAERKAER
as a result of recognising revenue T8 YR IB R
during the year (332,140) (435,492)
Balance as at 31 December M12A318 246k - 16,648
The balance was unsecured, interest-free and (d) ZESRREER  RENEREREE -

repayable on demand.

2020 £, e

FEBARERERLDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

31. PROVISIONS 31. # e
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
At 1 January ®1A1H 12,146 8,594
Provision for environmental restoration  RIFIEERIZIHEHE 2 B
and decommissioning costs 3,754 3,791
Exchange adjustments M 5 & 961 (239)
At 31 December ®12A31H 16,861 12,146

The provision for environmental restoration and
decommissioning costs for 2020 and 2019 represented
directors’ estimated assets retirement obligations relating
to the Sanjiao CBM Project as set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

20204 2019 IRIBEEREFILFERAE
EBEE=ZHKEEREE (ERERE
IS HRERMF43) EACES T EE
EERERMT-

32. RITRHEMEES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Bank borrowings — secured (Note (a)) RITHEEEE (W) 8,883 2,797
Other borrowings — secured (Note (b)) HibhHEBEE (M 5ED)) 290,432 -
Other borrowings — unsecured (Note (c)) £ th £ K 38 2 & (B 5%(c)) 14,344 44,677
Corporate bonds — unsecured (Note (d)) K % &5 (K 5E(d)) 467,809 464,136
781,468 511,610
On demand or within one year BERN—FRNEE 130,140 94,474
More than one vear, BE—F - BT BBEME
but not exceeding two years 211,924 16,000
More than two years, BEME B THBART
but not exceeding five years 436,404 331,700
More than five years 3R 3,000 69,436
781,468 511,610
Amount due within one year ARBBE—FRNEH S
included in current liabilities (130,140) (94,474)
Non-current portion EmBE D 651,328 417,136
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

(a)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the Group advanced loans from a local bank in the PRC
with principal amount of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,876,000)) (2019: RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,550,000)). The bank loans were obtained to finance
a facility granted to a provincial hospital (note 25(d)). These
loans were secured by the principal repayments from the
provincial hospital deposited at a designated bank account
(note 29(a)), carried fixed interest at 7.13% per annum (2019:
6.53% per annum) and repayable on monthly basis over
3 years (2019: repayable on quarterly basis over 1 year).
The outstanding balance of RMB2,520,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,797,000) as at 31 December 2019 was fully settled in
May 2020.

In March 2020, the Group has entered into a three-year loan
agreement with a facility granted up to RMB300,000,000,
interest bearing at fixed rate of 11.00% per annum, from a
fellow subsidiary of the PRC partner for the sole purpose
of the development of the Sanjiao CBM Project. As at 31
December 2020, RMB250,000,000 has been utilised by the
Group and RMB50,000,000 has yet drawn. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the loans are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method, net of directly

attributable costs incurred. The facility is secured by:

(i) certain oil and gas properties held under Sanjiao CBM

Project (note 16);

(if) income generated from the Sanjiao CBM Project;

(i)  pledged by a bank deposit (note 29); and

(iv) a corporate guarantee given by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

32. RITREMES (])

(@)

E £2020F K2019F 124318 L F
E-ASEEA—FBPEAMIRITRE
N& %A AR10,000,000T (HE
11,876,000/ 7T) (20194F : AR ¥
5,000,0007T (48 & $5,550,000/% 7))
ZERER ANEBRFZEITHE
EUBNEFERBERZBE (M=
25(d)) - ZEERUZE RBRFHRRN
ERMITRP ZASERIEER (M
29(a)) * REEFFET7.13%:HE (2019
F : FF%E6.53%) RERSFENIKR AR
2 (20195  1FNIRFEE) - 12019
F12A31H 2 A R %2,520,0007T (18
F142,797,000/70) 2 RMEBHREE RN
20205F5 A 2 B8 & -

2020438 AEBEE IV —EAH
ZEEZERBHE BUFRFTBEZR
FHBAREHRABE=KEREHA
il & & 1 & = # A K #300,000,0007T
ZRVE IR EF E11.00%2 B E F &
5B ° R2020F128318 * XAEEE
&) A R #250,000,0007T © M1 A R #
50,000,0007T A REHR EX o 1 ¥ 45 TR
& BEREBERF K RE HK AR
BATEEMEEZERBLHKAIEE -@E
TOATRF 5 AEEA

() =xEERBBEATHHAEZE
TimREE (MEE16)
(i) =XREERBEMELEZRA:

(i) ABITERELDR (MH:F29) 5 &

vy ZARAZ2EMBRATMRE R
EER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

()

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had outstanding
borrowings with principal amount of HK$14,344,000 (2019:
HK$44,677,000). Out of which HK$9,000,000 (2019:
HK$10,000,000) was advanced from one of the Funding
Providers, unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per annum
and repayable on demand. The remaining balance mainly
represented two loans of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$3,563,000) (2019: RMB1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,110,000)) and RMB1,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,781,000) (2019: Nil) from two private companies in the
PRC, carried interest at 1.5% per month and interest-free
respectively. Both loans are unsecured and repayable on

demand.

The Group’s corporate bonds carried fixed interest rates
ranging from 5.00% to 8.00% per annum with maturity in 1
to 8 years. During the years ended 31 December 2020 and

2019, the Group did not issue any new corporate bonds.

The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s
borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

are as follows:

32. RITREMES (])

()

MN2020%12A318  "&EBA XK
$ % /A14,344,000% 7T (20194 -
44,677,000 L) 2 REEBEE - A
B {£ & F 29,000,000 7T (20194 :
10,000,000 L) A REEF —EE S
REE B WREER  REME
12%EF B RBIRERER - FhiERE
ERREMRFBERECEZMBBER
A K #3,000,0007T (48 5 523,563,000
#7t) (20194 : A K #1,000,0007T
(485 1,110,000 70)) k A R #
1,5600,0007T (#8 % 71,781,000 7T )
(20195 : &) * KRR B B1.5%: &
kel -MEERHDREERRER
EREE -

REBZEEBEFRN F5.00%%
8.00%2 EFFM=E S - FHR1ES
F o H E20204F Kk2019F12A318 1t
FE - AEEVEBTEMFLERES -

H 220204 K&2019F12A831H IFF &
A AEEEENERANEATYIEE :

2020 2019
Bank borrowings — secured RITHEEBEER 7.13% 6.53%
Other borrowings — secured HtmBHFEE 11.00% =
Other borrowings — unsecured Hh R E B 12.00%-24.00% | 12.00%-30.00%
Corporate bonds — unsecured KB EES 5.00%-8.00% 5.00%-8.00%
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The convertible note recognised in the consolidated REEHBARRRER Z A R ZE
statement of financial position are calculated as follows: =R (1 N
Liability Derivative
component component Total
BEH% TTEEB 7 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 ®2019%F1H1H 1,118,267 257 1,118,524
Amortisation of transaction costs R G A 2 #5E
(Note 9(a)) (M 5E9(a)) 6,625 - 6,625
Interest charge (Note 9(a)) FB S (K EE9(a)) 114,732 - 114,732
Interest paid BB (40,820) - (40,820)
Change in fair value (Note 8) NEEZES (H7E8) - (211) (211)
At 31 December 2019 and ®2019%¥12A31H
1 January 2020 ’%2020%F1H1H 1,198,804 46 1,198,850
Amorisation of transaction costs R G 2 #55
(Note 9(a)) (P 5¥9(a)) - - =
Interest charge (Note 9(a)) FE X H (Ff7E9()) 154,096 L 154,096
Interest paid B F & - = =
Change in fair value (Note 8) NFEz &g (f5E8) = (37) (37)
At 31 December 2020 #2020%$12A31H 1,352,900 9 1,352,909

The Company issued convertible note in an aggregate
principal amount of US$130,000,000 with a 8% coupon
rate on 29 September 2016. The convertible note was
denominated in US dollars and will mature in three years
from the issue date. The note can be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the
rate of HK$0.207(note) per share. Imputed interest expense
on the convertible note was charged at the rate of 22.85%
calculated using the effective interest method.

ANA R HR2016FQA20R BT A& A5
#130,000,0003€ 7T B & & £ A8%2 7]
BMBRER - IRBREERAETFE B
BITHHBRT=FAEE - ZHRAKE
HBEAZEZRIANGRO207E T 2ER
() BRAARNR 2 LB - ATIRRK
ZERCEGNEXIEERERMEE
M =E22.85%5 & o
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

In March 2020, the Company and convertible note
holder entered into a deed of amendment to extend the
maturity date of the convertible note from 29 September
2019 to 29 September 2020, additional share charge by
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Other terms remain
unchanged. The deed of amendment was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 June 2020. The details
of the proposed alternations of the terms of the convertible
note are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
23 March 2020. At 31 December 2020, the outstanding
balance represents the principal amount and accrued
interests of the convertible note.

The convertible note was secured by the issued shares of
the holding company of certain subsidiaries of the Company
which are the holding companies of the Financial Services
businesses operation and the Coalbed methane, by way
of first fixed legal charge to the bondholder as continuing
security.

The convertible option should be separated from the
liability component and accounted for as a derivative
liability with subsequent changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. It was because the host contract (i.e. liability
component) was denominated in a currency which was
not the functional currency of the Company. Hence, this
does not meet the fixed for fixed criteria. The convertible
note was matured but not redeemed on 29 September
2020. Pursuant to the terms of the convertible note, when
the convertible note is not redeemed on the maturity day,
the convertible option attaching to the convertible note
will continue to be exercisable up to, and including, the
close of business on the date upon which the full amount
of the moneys payable by the Company in respect of such
convertible note has been duly and irrevocably received
by the holder. Accordingly, the derivative liability is still
measured at fair values after the maturity of the convertible
note. The fair values at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
assessed by an independent valuer, was calculated using
the binomial options pricing model.
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33. O[IRIRER ()

M2020F3H AR Al R Al EHE
BAGMBETRE U B EED
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29H * WHARRE THEB R AIRHERE
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ZEE MN2020F6 11 EA QB R E
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BN AR A B 8 A2020F3723H0 2
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AHRBEEBRDIARRAETHERAZ
ERAR(RERREEBERKEBERE
B2EBRRAR) 2 BRITROFERA
WEBRE B EEEMLZ T ARES
A AEREER -

BREEEEBINAERY AR
PIETTE BB HEBAFTEWNEES
AEE=BR W IBERESH (BNE
B D) UEARARINEEES 2 &5t
BE-BAlt ETHEETRETZE-
#2020F9A29H « AIIRRREIEE FIE
MEREBD - RIBATRBKRER 2 GH
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BMREBANS R ERESET 1T
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 and
up to the date of this report, there was not any breach of
covenants of any borrowings as a result of the default of the
convertible note.

Details of key input assumptions of the valuation were set
out in note 51(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, changes in the fair
value of derivative liability compared to the end of reporting
period were recognised in profit or loss during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 (note 8).

Note:

Pursuant to the terms of the convertible note, whenever the
Company has issued any shares at a price lower than the
conversion price thereof, the conversion price would be adjusted to
the reduced price. The conversion price of the convertible note has
been adjusted upon the completion of subscription of shares and
the completion of the share consolidation during the year 2018.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the conversion price was
HK$0.168 per share.

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

33. O[IRIRER ()

RE E2020%F K2019F12 A31H L&
UWEREEAHEEE  MERTHERE
BEzEAMERTAEBERZRY -

HEXZHASBEREZFBIANGE
B 75 3R 3% MY 751 (b)(ii) ° 20204 %2019
F12A318 " THEABZATFERBRS
HA ] 45 SR B (2 R 8 £20204F 20194
12A31BLEFEZIBEBR) BMEH
(FI3E8) °

MsE

BEAIMRER 2GR BEARRARERS
BRREZ BRETEMROR  BRREEA
BEZRIREIR - £2018F NEK RER D
REBRBRNDEHE TRRERZHRRER
{EFH & o 2020%F K%2019612A31H » %
& B ER0.168%E T °

/1

H]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

34. EEBIIREE

Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and FRNEAZELCHBEBEBEZAFBNLES
movements during the year were as follows: /I N

Intangible

assets

BREE

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 January 2019 ®2019%E1H1H (12,281)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10(a)) FFAE R (M5E10() 1,682
Exchange adjustments e A B 239

At 31 December 2019 ”2019%F12A31H (10,360)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10(a)) FFAB R (M5E10() 1,666

Exchange adjustments e A B (546)

At 31 December 2020 #2020%12A31H (9,240)
Pursuant to the PRC Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is BEDPEBE RPBRZINEDERIE
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from INEEBEESTIRIRE €W EUI0%TEFIF -
the foreign investment enterprises in the PRC. A lower WA REBIMNEEE 2 A AR AR
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty FEAEA) - BIRJLFE K 2 TN & o
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign 20204 K2019%F12A831H » WEFTE
investors. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no deferred MRERELERE  RESAREBRF
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes, as there B 2B AT e R 25K o

is no distributable profit for the Group’s subsidiaries

established in the PRC.
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(@) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2019: HK$30,000) by each
party. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 21% - 30% (2019:
21% to 30%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The obligations are calculated based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll.

The Company operates a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 May 2010 for a period of ten years
commencing from 28 May 2010 whereby the directors
of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite employees of the Group, including directors of any
companies within the Group, to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The terms and conditions of the
grant are determined by the Board at the time of grant. The
exercisable period of an option is not to exceed a period of
ten years commencing from the date the share options be
granted. The options give the holder the right to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. Options would be forfeited should the employee
leave the Group. All the existing share options were granted
under the scheme.

@ AEERBEHFEBASNMEABESET
Zlgpl - REBEEBERENZE
ZRERIEHMEAEEE ([5&
BEirEll) - BT ETAEB
VEFABERZREH/RTGEMNE
El-IRERBESTE  EEXRESE
BEXBEREBZBBRAZS%
EREE - S HFSABBEKRAL
30,0007 7T (20194F : 30,000/ 7T )
A ER o AFEIEL 2 KBRS
BEFTAE -

(b) WEFEEBELSERAIRER - K
SE2HEAEHE M BRTKEE
BrzAREHKBRKRBAEE ([5Z
LHrEl) - B AEEEREE
REEBNFERZSHEELN T
21%Z%E30% (20194F : 21%%E30% )
B R o B BT R R E R TR
KeBZ22HEREETEE - %
EEANBREBEEAFS2EBESD
LbErE -

AN A A HR2010F5 A28 H B4y — 18 BB iR
#sHE - 5201058280 i 5t A Hi10
FoREN ARARESERERBRA
SEEE (BEASEAMNKERAZ
ER)REBERE  URBAABRD -
BHZERRGEERETERNREGE
Eo-BREZATFIEHTSEAEE
MRAER BB R 106 - BB T
BAENREADFLEK - AFAR
BEMERERN  BEXNRBXKREVE
ToWEEBANER - RG22 HEH
BERRKE - RB 2B BREDIREE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. REGREURNBARZR 5
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (88)
(@) The terms and conditions of the share options that (a) AT AE=2020F128318 Lt F
existed during the year ended 31 December 2020 EFEEZBERE 2GR - BT
were as follows and all options are settled by physical HERENERERINBRNEE

delivery of shares:

Vesting Adjusted Number of Contractual
Date of grant condition Exercise period exercise price options life of options
REEH GRiEHE YR GHERTEE BRENE BRESHEY
'000
13
Options granted to directors:
RrES2mRE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$2.76 11,400 10 years
—2011%12 468 Bnes 2011E12R6HZE2021512A58 2767 106
Options granted to employees:
RrREEZMmRE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$2.76 29,800 10 years
—2011%12 368 Bnes 2011F12R6HZE2021512A58 2767 106
Total share options 41,200
BRECH
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share

options are as follows:

REMBEERME

2020%F12H31H

36. RAGRLIRGBHMZ2RE S

(48)

(b) MBREZEE RMETEENT

2020 2019

Adjusted Adjusted

weighted weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price share options | exercise price  share options

ST mE TR ME
EHTREE BREHE FHTEE BREHR
HK$ ’000 HK$ '000
Ex Fip BT T

Outstanding and exercisable BARTERDFTE

At beginning of the year REF]) 2.76 41,200 2.76 41,200
At the end of the year REER 2.76 41,200 2.76 41,200

Note: The exercise prices of and the number of shares entitled

to be subscribed for under the outstanding share options

have been adjusted following the completion of share

consolidation during the year 2018. The options outstanding

at 31 December 2020 had adjusted exercise prices of
HK$2.76 (2019: HK$2.76) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 0.93 years (2019: 1.93 years).

MizE: WEBERITEZERETEERE
ZRRMITEE R R E B B 72018
FRKRMN A T 12 AR - 120205
12 A1 B MARITE 2 AR 2 &3
BITE (B B2.767 70 (20195 : 2.76
BIT) MR TENFRA
0.93% (20194 : 1.93%F) -

2020 F |

e HEMRERERLDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

37. EX R

(a) Share capital (a) k=&
(i) Authorised and issued share capital ()  EEREEFTRA
2020 2019
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
K& E &8 RiD#E ki
’000 HK$’000 '000 HK$'000
Th TER TR THT
Authorised EE
At 1 January and 31 December M1A1ER12A31H 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREG0.OIBTZ
LER
At beginning of the year and REMRER
the end of the year 3,345,439 334,544 3,345,439 334,544

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual

assets.

(i) Lapse of vested share options

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no

share options lapsed.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 37. BARE#E (8)
(b) The Company (b) AEAT
Fair value
reserve
Share  Contributed Share  (non-recycling)  Accumulated
Share capital premium surplus  option reserve  (note 37(c)(iv)) losses Total
AFERE
(FRENE
ERi)
k% kiR HaRs  BRERE  (WZ37(0m) Ritht gt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Thn Thn T Thn
At 1 January 2019 1#2019%1A18 334,544 4,486,438 81,043 35,128 (6,641) (2,025,152) 2,905,360
Loss for the year FEREE - - - - - (293,884) (293,884)
Other comprehensive income Ht2Eks - - - - 453) - 453)
Total comprehensive income AERRENR AR
for the year - - - - (453 (293,884) (294,337)
At 31 December 2019 1420195128318 334,544 4,486,438 81,043 35,128 (7,094) (2,319,036 2,611,023
Loss for the year FEEEE - - - - - (233,945) (233,945)
Other comprehensive income H2EkE - - - - (126) - (126)
Total comprehensive income TEERENESE
for the year - - - - (126) (233,945) (234,07)
At 31 December 2020 1420205128318 334,544 4,486,438 81,043 35,128 (7,220) (2,562,981) 2,376,952

2020 K8 o HEMIKERBRLF
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to
equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the
premiums on repurchase of own shares.

(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed
surplus is available for distribution to equity holders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(iii)  Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(q).
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31 December 2020

37. AR Rt (&)

(c) RHBEMERAR

() K E

Befn it B e A B H R SRk mEE R %
TROMEEZEE - RDEESATD
KB RESUS N R E R BB AL IR
AR AABRTZIRETRNDIBE
B 7 & B A SR s (8 -

(i) HAEE
BRI B AR R BT DA
BAWMBARZEND  HERARFD
BITRMHEEE1999F R E B AR A
BN EBEMERXZALEMMETZE
ESHEMBANBAREEFEZHZ
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AR HBEETIER AR AA A
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income that are held at the end of the reporting period.

(v)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which were
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(0) to the consolidated financial statements.

(vi)  Accumulated losses
Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Distribution of reserves

At 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserves
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended),
the Company’s contributed surplus in the amount of
HK$81,043,000 (2019: HK$81,043,000) is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium
account in the amount of HK$4,486,438,000 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: HK$4,486,438,000) may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

REMBEERME

202012 H31H

37. AR Rt (&)

(c) REMHERRAE (&)

() RFEEE(TREDFEME%)
AT EEE (FEEHEER®) VR
MM B RSB A 2 HETRDFES
3 {2 1 M 36 BB 2 IR A 2 B2t
AT EEBHFE -

() [EXERE
EXFEERRREFTBAINEE Y
BHREAMELEZMBINEEZRE IR
EVBHRRWMTI0)ME 2 G5B R
BaIE e

i) ZRiEE
B FRERBERERER -

(d) srilkfEfE

MR2020F12831H + "2 & & FE B
AEBAESRE,/ XEYHDIR - BRI
BREIGIFARZE (KEBF])  Aa
A) 2 #M 2 #:81,043,000/% 7T (2019
4 81,043,000 0) WA A H K °
MR2020F12A31H ' A AR 2B 7 i&
{8 Bk /54,486,438,0007% 7T (20194 :
4,486,438,000%% 7T) A LA BB AT ik 77 =
DK °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

38. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF 38. A A Ti220205128318 2

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT MR R TR
31 DECEMBER 2020
2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B st FET FET THEL FTEL
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries NI 39 4,347,126 4,393,332
Equity investments designated ~ EER A FEEB
at fair value through other H it 2 E W 21 B
comprehensive income ZIRERE 24 377 503
Total non-current assets ERBEELSE 4,347,503 4,393,835
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits H YR K
and prepayments Be REMKE 1,328 2,002
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEED 493 159
Total current assets MBEERS 1,821 2,161
Total assets HEE 4,395,996
Current liabilities REBER
Other payables and accruals Hitt 5B R
BIRER (120,783) (111,987)
Convertible note AHRRER (1,352,900) (1,198,804)
Borrowings fEE (86,171) (57,000)
Financial liabilities at fair value BRVEEBRBER
through profit or loss R BAE 9 (46)
(1,559,863) (1,367,837)
Net current liabilities REEERE (1,558,042) (1,365,676)
Total assets less current liabilities 42 & &5 E & & 2,789,461 3,028,159
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Borrowings BB (412,509) (417,136)
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELSE (412,509) (417,136)
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,376,952 2,611,023
Capital and reserves attributable A2 S HH AE(L
to owners of the Company BRR
Share capital g 37(a) 334,544 334,544
Reserves i 37(0) 2,042,408 2,276,479
TOTAL EQUITY s 2,376,952 2,611,023
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 39. RMBATI ZH#=R
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 2020 K2019F 12831 HEEWE A
and 2019 are listed below. The class of shares held is BZHEBHENNMT - B BAEHBEIN
ordinary unless stated otherwise. Frssixipfanl mE @R -

Proportion of ownership interest

HREEM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company Note operation paid up capital holding Company  a subsidiary Principal activity
AREER H-%HE
e Wit 2RAL/E84Y ERRURRA:HE fRE BALTRE LR 1EEB
Wiseley Investments Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
EHREBRAR ABERRRE 100RERAE0ET 2 R REBR
Easy Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HKS1.00 100% 100% - Provision of administrative services to
SERERRAT Bk 1REBRREA0ET group comparies
AEBATREHRE

Chuang Xin Management Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2.00 100% 100% - Provision of management services to
Senvices Limited A ot BRAA 2008 group companies
HRERREARAA AEBLTRHERRE
Grand Rise Development Limited! Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 100% 100% - Investment holding
RELRRRAA Bt 10055 BREAAI0%T REBR
Power Great Limited The Gayman Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1,00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
RERAT FEES 1RERME0ZT, ERR REBR
Superb China Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
AERRAT ABEBRRR 100EERARI0ET 2 ERR REER
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology i ThePRC Registered capital RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Inactive
(Shenzhen) Co, Ltd e HRERARE5000007 B
BRRHR (R ERAF
Orion Energy International Inc. (‘OEI") The Gayman Islands 100,000,000 orcinary shares 100% - 100%  Exploration, development and
BEREBRRERAT (25%)) HEHE of US$0.001 each production of coalbed methane

100,000,000 B RE & YR RENEEEER

0001% 2 B8R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

39. R BAB 2= (F)

(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
HERENM
Place of Group's
incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company Note  operation paid up capital holding Company  a subsidiary Principal activity
AEEER H-%HE
AT Wit BRI/ HE8% ERTRARRAHE fRE HBAATRE  ATRE ERB
Xian Hong Chang Co,. Inc. The PRG Registered capital RMB51,700,000 100% = 100%  Inactive
ERRERAREREERLA i AR AR 51,700,000 BXH
Pieline International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HKS1.00 100% = 100%  Investment holding
ARERERLE (i IREBRRAA10ET REBR
Metro Standard Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% - 100%  Inactive
EHARLT Bt IRERRRAA 00E T BXK
Utraway International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEERARAT [ 1REBRATAI0ET REBR
S0G Energy Inc. Canada T ordinary share of GAD1.00 each 100% = 100%  Participation in of and gas projects
mex RERmEL0NT 2Rk BERRTR
Sino Executive Limited The BV 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
ABERRRE 100EERERI0ET, B8R REBR
Total Orient Global Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
EBRARES 100RERAE0ET 2 5Bk REBR
Abundant Discovery Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
EEERAT EREARES 10REHEE 00k BER REBR
Golden Glow Holdings Limited The BV 100 ordinary shares of US$.00 each 5% = 75%  Investment holding
KBRARES 100EERER0ET L ERR RE2R
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

REMBEERME
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39. R BAB 2= (F)

(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
HREEM

Place of Group's

incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company Note  operation paid up capital holding Company  asubsidiary Principal activity

AEEER H-%HE
A Wit 2RaD/ E84% ERTRERRAHE fRE HBAATRE  ATRE ERB
TEEREENRZARAT The PRC Regstered capital RMB50,000,000 75% - 75%  Raw coal washing and sales
500 i SRR AR 50,000 0007 of raw and cleaned coal
REREREERRRER

Soperton Limited The BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1,00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding

ABERRRE 1RERAE 0FT L ERR RERR
S0G Capital Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HKS1.00 100% - 100%  Investment holaing
KRETRRAA Bt 1REBRRAA 0% T RABR
REXGBARERRAT The PRC Regstered capital RMB300,000,000 100% = 100%  Financial services

" A2 AR 300,000,007 SBRK
Taijin Finance Group Limited i Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 100% - 100% Inactive
ReLREERRAA 3 10,0008 B AR A 10,000 7 B2H
Note: B &

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned

foreign enterprise

ii Disposed during the year ended 31 December 2020

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

i REREARBRANEABACE

i REE2020F12A31HIEFEALE

FR - BEMBARNETENEBES -

2020 K8 o HEMIKERBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40.
The Golden Glow Group, 75% owned subsidiaries of the
Company, has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The
NCI of all other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by

the Group are considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to the Golden

Glow Group, before intra-group eliminations, is presented

FEi= B HE A

KRR BB T5%E 75 2 I B 2 51Golden
GlowSk BB B A ERE R ([FFER
) c FTBEXIEHRAEEI00%E B
FEVERR e 2 H ALK B A R R BT
N

A BGolden GlowE B (A & B A 204K 54
A 2B BERBEZ5 0T -

below:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
For the year ended 31 December HZ=12A31HILLEE
Revenue ON 207,660 350,353
Profit for the year F g F 4,952 13,240
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEEBALRE 2,472 13,988
Profit allocated to NCI DEEEIEIERE R 2 R A 1,238 3,310
For the year ended 31 December HE12A31BILEEE
Cash flows generated from KEXBABZHRERE
operating activities 6,756 18,505
Cash flows used in investing activities RERSFRACEAESRE - (7,185)
Cash flows used in financing activities BREEBSMACEERE (3,971) (5,138)
Net cash inflows RERAFE 2,785 1,182
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40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40. FEI=RHERE (48)
(Continued)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET

As at 31 December »12831H
Current assets MENEE 66,721 67,535
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,275 23,965
Current liabilities mEBE (18,002) (45,811)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (9,240) (10,360)
Net assets BEFE 42,754 35,329
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2ETIE TR ER 10,688 8,832
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

41. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 41
On 11 May 2020, the Group transferred 100% equity
interest in Taijin Finance Group Limited (“Taijin”) to an
independent third party at a consideration of HK$9,800. Up
to the completion date of the transaction, Taijin is inactive.

The net assets of Taijin as at the completion date was as

HE—XRKEAE

M2020F5 8118 » A& B % K 29,800
BTHERZEEERERBARAR ([F
®]) Z100%BREHET 2B LE=
FoHERSTRBEE  RoWEER -

FERTXABRZEEFEDLT :

follows:
HK$’000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREeEEY 40
Other receivables H b jE K BR 3X 11
Net assets disposed of HECZEEFE 51
Loss on disposal of the subsidiary in the FAGAEEERERAZHE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income [ /& A &) &518 (41)
Total consideration BB 10
Satisfied by: E-2 0 -
Cash consideration ReRE 10
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEAZRERHEE:
Cash consideration ReERE 10
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZRERREEEYD (40)
(30)
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202041283
42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 42. FEIREHERMEE

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Significant non-cash transactions (@) EXFHREXS

()  During the year ended 31 December 2020, finance () B ZE2020F12A31H LFE &
costs of HK$16,247,000 (2019: HK$5,003,000) was & X 216,247,000/ 7T (20194 :
capitalised in property, plant and equipment and oil 5,003,000 L) EERNME AT E -
and gas exploration and evaluation assets (note 9(a)). B B5 K% 7% 88 LA Ko s B R e AT Ak &

Z= (Kt5E9(a)) °

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, provision (i) B E2020F12A318 It FE -
for environmental restoration and decommissioning RIFEEME £ R BB EEM
costs was increased by HK$3,754,000 (2019: 3,754,000/ jT (20194 : # hn
increased by HK$3,791,000) was included in the 3,791,000 7T) EFFAME - K=
property, plant and equipment (note 16). BY-AGEIDINE

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RIS EEELEZEBZHR

financing activities

Non-cash changes

£S5 )
As at Interest Effect of As at
1 January Financing  Acquisition Modification expense exchange 31 December
2020 cash flow of leases of alease  recognised difference 2020
120205 e =5 ERzER R2020F

1A1B RERE  KBEE  HAEBT  AEXY Z¥8  12R318
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx Tiéx TiEx TiEL T T TEx

Year ended #F2020F12ABLEE

31 December 2020
Borrowings B8 511,610 181,011 - - 71,103 16,844 781,468
Convertible note THRER 1,198,804 - - - 154,096 - 1,352,900
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,118 (4,597) 2,424 (892) 664 (219) 4,498

1,717,532 177,314 2,424 (892) 225,863 16,625 2,138,866
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31 December 2020

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

(b)

42. FEWMERERME (&)

METHELEZERZHIR

financing activities (Continued) (&
Non-cash changes
¥ReEH
As at Interest Effect of As at
1 January Financing expense exchange 31 December
2019 cash flow recognised difference 2019
R2019% RE E®R EXEE #2019%
1A1A Beme MEXH L& 12A31A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THT TR FHT
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE2019F12A31R L5

Borrowings BE 477,123 (24,991) 60,052 (574) 511,610
Convertible note TARER 1,118,267 (40,820) 121,357 = 1,198,804
Lease liabilities HERE 11,721 (5,689) 1,268 (188) 7,118
1,607,111 (71,494) 182,677 (762) 1,717,632

(c) Total cash flows for leases (c) HEZRERELE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

AAGARRERERCEEZRERE

MEEWNT ¢

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within operating activities KEEBN (2,095) (5,660)
Within financing activities BMEEBN (4,597) (5,683)
(6,692) (11,343)
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As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has
a production sharing arrangement in respect of the
development and production of coalbed methane in the
PRC.

On 28 March 2006, OEIl (which the Group acquired on 15
November 2010) entered into the Sanjiao CBM Project with
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd (“CUCMCL”)
(the “PRC partner”) for the exploration, development,
production and sale of the coalbed methane and other
related or derivative products that may exist in a total
exploration area of approximately 383 square kilometers
subject to reduction in accordance with the Sanjiao CBM
Project located in the Erdos Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi
Provinces in the PRC (the “Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao CBM Project, OEl is engaged as
the foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent experts
to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed methane
or coalbed methane products extracted from the
Contract Area. OEl and PRC partner have formed a joint
management committee as required under the Sanjiao
CBM Project and appointed representatives as members of
the committee (the “Joint Management Committee”). The
Joint Management Committee is responsible to oversee the
operation in the Contract Area.

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest and
associated obligations with respect to certain gas fields,
including the areas covered by the Sanjiao CBM Project, to
PetroChina. The transfer was approved by the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council. PetroChina joined the Joint Management
Committee of the Sanjiao CBM Project.

A20204F K2019F12A31H - AEREAE
FEE-—EHAKERHEEMNEIEARBRZ
EmDKREZHE -

2006F3H28H F BIg L (AEER
201011 H15R W is sz~ &) B2 A B

BRERETAR ([FEBEER]) ([
FREDITL=XKEEREE  NAE
BIEBAN PR LS REEE 2R
ZHat ((AHED) 2=XKER
HEHBSR HAE SERBENERELN
383F HFRERMFEEE (B FEIR) A
GEZERERREMBEIITEER -

RE=ZXKERER RERZIE/IN
BHNZER  RESEZEMAME R
ZREBRERAR S QMR R - 7
B OAERBEEMERZRKERIKRE
REM BIRELEPTBHERE=X
RERBBERKKLBAEEZRE S
(geEe) REERRLEZZES®Z

KB BESRERBANERZEE -

R2009%F48 - F B ERIEERE T
HRA(BRAE=-XKEREBEBEME
EzEE) ZCHBREMABETER
THROM ZEECEEEBREEE
EEBEEEZEQME -FAMDMA
=RXREBREBZBES
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43. PRODUCTION SHARING ARRANGEMENT

(Continued)

Under the Sanjiao CBM Project, the development of
the Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase
development and production phase. OEl is required to
conduct core testing and run pilot production to ascertain
the potential commercial value of the coalbed methane field
in the planned exploration area. The exploration phase has
an initial term of four years and expired on 1 July 2010.
The PRC partner has extended the exploration period to 30
June 2012 in order to develop a larger production scale.
Based on the supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao CBM
Project dated 28 October 2010, the exploration period
was extended to 6 years to 30 June 2012. The exploration
period has been further extended to 30 June 2014 by way
of a further supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao CBM
Project dated on 6 July 2012. In December 2014, a further
supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project was
signed, the exploration period has been further extended to
30 June 2016. All costs incurred in the exploration phase
shall be borne by OEI.

On 20 November 2015, the Group received the official
written notification from NEA for the approval of ODP
and the project then enter into the development and
production phase. On commencement of the development
and production phase, all the development and operating
costs shall be borne as to 70% by OEl and 30% by the
PRC partner, except if the PRC partner chooses not to
participate in a particular site. If the PRC partner chooses
not to participate in a particular site, all the development
and operating cost will be fully borne by OEI. Also, the PRC
partner’s participation can be less than 30% for certain
wells in respect of which the PRC partner will not need to
bear the development costs or will bear at a specifically
agreed percentage. As a result, the profit sharing ratio
will be adjusted according to their actual participating
interest in the coalbed methane field and the portion of the
development and operating costs to be borne by the PRC
partner is solely depending on its participation level.

The Sanjiao CBM Project has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive years
beginning from the date of commencement of commercial
production to the expiry date of the production period as
specified in the ODP, unless production is suspended or
abandoned in accordance with the Sanjiao CBM Project or
under special circumstances, the production period can be
extended with the approval of the relevant PRC authority.
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Deferred income mainly represents payments received
from PRC partner relating to assets used for the operation
and production of coalbed methane under the production
sharing arrangement (note 43). The deferred income will
be amortised over the expected useful life of the relevant
assets as a reduction of production expenses.

EEWA TRV EED KL (T
43) TERARREREEREEZE
EZRBTFEAERHFEEZRE B
RWAKREREEE 2 AR A ERBFH
W T PABESEDAE R A EERA S HURK

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

At 1 January 7?1818 134,612 =

Receipts during the year F YR 93,445 138,366

Amortisation for the year (Note 9(c)) FNE#HE (H3E9(c) (1,902) (1,921)

Exchange adjustments PE 7 3 & 13,481 (1,833)

At 31 December »12831H 239,636 134,612
Analysed into: SHBE :

Current portion mENE S 1,902 1,921

Non-current portion EmENE D 237,734 132,691

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

AEEEREAZEZARDREAE
EREMEBBIASBELEREELE M
2B R E KRS E 2 Em MRS E
BUNESAEKRAZRE HELE
B A BiE Bl N A7) E At K 25 48 B8 & 5 R
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AEEEG L ERAHEAREFRR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. 54X EHE (&)
Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the FEEMRITEEHNZBLIT AEEBZE
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables AEBOEFER (EDBENKBRIRE
FIRITIREARB B 2EEY 2 H
tmENZKIBERERER BE B8
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the TRREBEREESR) RARARHES
AELRES (BREEBITRARES) -

and accruals, provisions, borrowings, convertible note and
lease liabilities, net of restricted cash at banks and cash and

Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

EETHHEARBETRS - EAR
NItz —3H  EFHEAKARS
HEAARZEBARKRETER BIEES
Z AEEREBRAINRE - FIR
BT BOMEEHKEEREES
fEREEERNERRRE L - KR2020F &
20195F12 AB1H v B FEE AL X

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its &=
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issue as well as the issue of new debts or repayment
of existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31

December 2020 and 2019 were as follows: N
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#&ET THET
Total debts: B ERE
Trade and other payables FERTBRR - H M e B
and accruals LiERRE A 531,921 445,918
Borrowings BE 781,468 511,610
Provisions B 16,861 12,146
Convertible note Al AR R IR 1,352,900 1,198,804
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFEFEBREBE=ER
through profit or loss 2B aE 9 46
Lease liabilities HEBRE 4,498 7,118
2,687,657 2,175,642
Less: Restricted cash at banks W ZRAIRITFER (984) (10,096)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY (60,898) (3,728)
Net debts B FE 2,625,775 2,161,818
Equity = 2,685,426 2,647,017
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FEEERLE 98% 82%

ARAEEEANMBARL AZIIEE
2 ERBEPMMR -

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks,
commodity price risk and equity price risk arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. These risks are
limited by the Group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
short-term investment, loans receivable, trade, note and
other receivables, deposits, and cash at banks. Their
carrying amounts represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with trade receivables,
the Company adopts risk control to assess the credit quality
of the customers and debtors, taking into account their
financial positions and past experience. The Company has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

() Trade, notes and other receivables and deposits

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs also
incorporate forward looking information. The Company
provides information about the Company’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 respectively.

In respect of notes receivables, they represented bank
acceptance bills which were issued by banks in the PRC
with high credit-rating or with good reputation. There was
no recent history of default and the management of the
Group has assessed that the ECLs was not material for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had no
significant concentration of credit risk.

—

EE nRBEE MX -E¥ER B
mEREREEAERERENAEE
ZABXBBRETELE -%ZSTARIE
BASE s HBERRRERER (BT
) 15 LABR ) ©

AEEHBREBEEHERE  BRENR
FEUBRR - B RIE - E b EULER 5K
ZekRTREHEERR - ZFHA
ZEMERRASEREYHEERT
ZEREERR -

RERRRUESBEBECEERR &~
RERAERZE G ERF TP RER
AZGEEER  EPt RREZHBN
ARBERR - ARARBERERF
ARE R BURETTE R CI B BB -

() FEREE - FEWEE R A MEKE
FIREE

AEBERAEBMBREEAFIRR
E2BER RTREEEBIBHREE
ZERETRERERFASHERE
BREE - AtETEHEEEB  BKE
HERBABEERRERNREHBH
BEITHHE - BEEEBBIGT AR E
ER o RRBRHA B R R2020F &
2019F 12 A31 B A2 &) Ht f& U iR 7% H &
ZEERBRKEREEBERZER -

REWRERMNES  ZEZBEEHRFEA
EREERKRFEE 2 RITAET
ZRATEE Z R o # 220204 K&2019
F12ABBIEFEA - WEABENL
B MAEEERECD T EBEBAEER
B TEK -

K2020%F }20195F12A318 » AKEH
BEAEERTAER
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Cash with banks

The Company expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash at banks since they are placed
at banks with high credit-ratings or with good reputation.
There has been no history of default in relation to these
banks and thus the risk of default is regarded as low. No
loss allowance provision for bank balances was recognised
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

202012 A

46. M EIRER (&)

(b) u.éﬂéﬁﬂrf‘*(

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as BB adEza YRS /RZZH—F :
below:
Total
contractual Morethan1  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted ~ Within 1year  year but less years but less More than
amount cash flow orondemand than2years  than 5 years 5 years
BIENR 15/ 1£IL 2% E
FEE BHeREds HREX B2EUT B5EUT SEIE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL AL
2020 2020F
Trade and other payables and ERER EHEAZE
accruals RERER 531,921 531,921 531,921 - - -
Convertiole note TARZE 1,352,900 1,504,798 1,504,798 = = =
Borrowings EE 781,468 923,704 194,357 259,822 466,360 3,165
Lease liabilties HERE 4,498 6,167 3,650 1,267 1,250 =
Total e 2,670,787 2,966,590 2,234,726 261,089 467,610 3,165
2019 20195
Trade and other payables Ef & EtENFER
and accruals RRER 445,918 445,918 445,918 - = E
Convertible note TARZE 1,198,804 1,196,520 1,196,520 - = L
Borrowings B8 511,610 666,547 182,119 48,827 376,417 109,184
Lease liabilties HEBR 7,118 7,787 5,014 2773 - -
Total @t 2,163,450 2,316,772 1,779,571 51,600 376,417 109,184
2020 £ e HFEBRERERAAAF
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s fair value
interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings and
convertible note. Borrowings and convertible note were
issued at fixed rates which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group has no cash flow interest rate
risk as there are neither borrowings nor convertible note
which bear floating interest rates. The Group has not used
any financial instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in
interest rates.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss for the year by approximately
HK$13,000,000 (2019: HK$23,000,000) before the
consideration of capitalisation of interest. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the borrowings in existence at that date. The 100
basis point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the

end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from

recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency

other than the functional currency of the entity to which they

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

46. M EIRER (&)

(d) E#%REE (8
0 AKX

Z;E?Mﬂ

202012 A

TR E AR B 70 S H A R A

RABHEER

ZUEEE

B IASN 2 B 5T
BZEEXREMAR 2 E¥RER
BREIMEBEEBARAE &

B

relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between M FHERIIABE T HET 28 f %
group companies where the denomination of the balances ANz BHEEHE -
is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.
2020 2019
Australian Australian
dollars UsD RMB CAD dollars UsD RMB CAD
an E3s MRS nx R e AR® il
000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000
n r n i T Tr T T
Short-term investment RfiRE - - 64,300 - = - 64,300 -
Trade and other receivables  FERER 50 R 2 b FE MR 3¢ - 4 1550649 53,234 - 3 93,241 -
Restricted cash at banks ~~ RBHHETEE - - 828 - - = 9,027 -
Cash and cash equivalents B RIEEEEY 1 19 50,620 3 1 113 2,168 3
Amounts due from FEREBARNE
group companies - 130,000 438,011 1,106 - 30,000 25,639 1,421
Trade and other payables  ERERF - HA AR
and accruals RERER - - (323,816) - = - (267,381) =
Amounts due 1o group EREEARHE
companies - (192,125)  (456,216) (550) - (187,381) (349,656) (890)
Borrowings fBE - - (261,980) - - - - -
Convertible note TRREE - (130,000 - - - (130000 : o
Lease liabilties HEafR - - (3,788) - - (6,364) - -
Overall net exposure BEARIE 1 (192,062 (336,392 53,793 1 (193629 (422,662) 534
2020 K3 o HEABARERBERDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. ARG E IR (4F)

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s (loss)/profit after income tax expense and
accumulated losses and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an decrease in
loss/increase in profit and decrease in accumulated losses
where the HKD weakens against the relevant currency. For
a strengthening of the HKD against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss/profit
and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be

(d) E¥EE (&)

(i) BRI
TRETNBEHRERSERNEEE
RERRRZIINEERZAIGEEEES
ERAEERMASH & (BB 8
M & BT B 1R A M fw & HE o H A 4H AP
DIBHEY FRESTEELIEE
NRABIMZ &R MREERTINET
SEHZWEEEB AN 2 EEEHE - i
BTREEERE RS UWTERRTE
‘R wME R RFERERD - B
BTHERERRY BT ER/
MR BAEBREREEFREEARZ
TE O BATEHRAES /AR

negative.
2020 2019
(Increase)/ (Increase)/
decrease in decrease in
loss after loss after
taxation and taxation and
Weakening accumulated Weakening  accumulated
in HKD losses in HKD losses
BRBliERSIE R BTRE SEUN
RitisE REtEE
BRTEZE () EY ArizE  GEm, R
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
THER FET
RMB AR 2% (7,900) 2% (3,891)
CAD mrx 2% 6,540 2% 240

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
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(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next reporting period.
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the USD against
other currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each
of the Group entities’ profit or loss after income tax expense
and equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2019.

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity instruments designated as FVOCI which are listed on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Listed investments held
in the available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen based
on their longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations. The portfolio
is diversified in terms of industry distribution, in accordance
with the limits set by the Group.

The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from
changes in the Company’s own share price to the extent
that the Company’s own equity instruments underlie the fair
values of derivatives liabilities of the Group. At the end of
reporting period, the Group is exposed to this risk through
the conversion right attached to the convertible note
issued by the Company as disclosed in the note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk includes the
Group’s financial instruments, which fair value or future
cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in their
corresponding or underlying asset’s equity price. If the
prices of the respective equity instruments had been 20%
higher/lower, loss for the year would increase/decrease
by nil (2019: nil) and other component of equity would
increase/decrease by HK$75,000 (2019: HK$101,000).

(i) HEEDY (B

Ptz B2EHEEEBHEE T —ERE
HMAERIEMZINEER 2 AT e A 12
BHoAB-RUTME  REBTESE
TZBBEXIERIXTHEMER
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ZAOMBEREHAEEETSERRS
Wt BB EL IR M E B ERE 2R
TEXBRESBITARZINZ B ZRA
BUHXHRBRERER T ERE - X
D THIZE2019F MR 2 B AETT

A& BASRIE T REFVOCIHI R 2 X
ATAMREBEBXM LM MELZR
AERZEHRER RAUKLESREE
HMEARAZ LMERETNRBEEARE
BEEBENMER IRBEAHERRE
TEHER REMAEGRBEAEERE
ZBRH D BN TRITE -

MAEREZTETABBERAFEEZER
RARAREZRATA - BIAREEITEA
ARAAGZREZLH M AT RANE
RE B o BANAR & B 75 3R 3K MY TE33AT I
B RusHEERE AKREEAR
AP 31T A R AR I MY 7 2 4R RSO 1
Rk -

BEARERRER 2 HREDTBIERAEE
2B TE EAVYEIRKRERE
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(20194 : &) « W E MR A 505 Bl 45 35
hn,@ 475,000 7t (20194F : 101,000
BIT) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

47. COMMITMENTS 47. %12
Capital commitments AR IE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FET
Commitments in respect of the MEREERIER 2 &E
Sanjiao CBM Project 167,179 18,412
48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 48. FHEA MK
Environmental liabilities FRRRZERE
The Group engages in the exploration, development REBKERERER BE - FEAMN
and production of coalbed methane resources. The AE OMETEEBRAFEZERBEREB
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and LIrBES 2 EANEE  NEEFKBE
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group EEESTKARE  XNBELME
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and R KR1EEE 2 B - )R2020F12H31H -
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted. RATBARRRAEL 716,861,000
As at 31 December 2020, a provision of HK$16,861,000 7T (20194F : 12,146,000 1) 2 #ff (M
(2019: HK$12,146,000) was made in the consolidated F31) °

statement of financial position (note 31).
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, no related party transactions have been entered

into during the year which might reasonably affect any

decisions made by the users of these consolidated financial

statements.

(a)

(b)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 11, all the highest
paid employees as disclosed in note 12, and other
six (2019: six) senior management personnel are as

REMBEERME

202012 A31H

49. FHEANTRX 5

REEMBBRRARTHREEIN - FA
BE LA RAZEREMBHRRER
EEMCEHZAREELEAEREZH
BALRG -

(a) EEEBASWME
AEBTEERAEHS (BIEH
HBEEZERARAAESY
NZHE - WE1I2EBEZE A2
Ry REEINZREBERAANS
(2019F : "%&) Ethm R EE A

follows: BN ZzRE)WAT
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FH T
Short-term employee benefits HEEERF 12,134 16,907
Post-employment benefits BERZ R A - =
12,134 16,907

Total remuneration is included in “employee costs”
(see note 9(b)).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group paid rental and related utilities expenses of
HK$1,676,000 (2019: HK$458,000) to a related
company, which has the same substantial shareholder
of the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the amount
due to the related company is approximately
HK$2,134,000 (2019: HK$458,000) which was
included in “other payables and accruals”. The balance
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The above transactions did not fall under the definition of

connected transaction or continuing connected transaction

or were exempted from connected transaction requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Me@BEhat AIBEIRA]IF (R
M=E9(b)) °

(b) # Z=2020412A31H IFFE &
EEYNEeREBEKEEAHR
1,676,0007% 7T (20194 : 458,000
B K —EEB AR EEER
RIMAAEBHEZRE - 12020
F12A31H - N&EEE A )
FRIE & #92,134,000/8 7T (20194F -
458,000/ L) * WE T A [H b fE
NHERBREA] -BBER A
MK R B RBRERER -

AER BB LT RBFI4AZFTE

ETEBBEEIZDNMRE °

2020 K8 o HEMIKERBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

50. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2020 and

50. M BERMBARZ S HEM

e
A20204% B2019FE12 AT A R 2 A E
B KEERMKEEZEAES EN

2019 may be categorised as follows: o
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at fair value EAFESERABRIERZ
‘through profit or loss MBEE 33,306 32,193
Equity investments designated EERATFEBEBEM
at fair value through other 2EMEINE RERE
comprehensive income 377 503
Financial assets measured REHEKN AT ECHGEEE
at amortised cost 734,306 584,592
767,989 617,288
Financial liabilities V=R
Financial liabilities at fair value BEAFESEREBERYIERY
through profit or loss MBaE 9 46
Financial liabilities measured REER AT E MK EE
at amortised cost 2,670,787 2,146,802
2,670,796 2,146,848
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade, notes and other receivables, deposits, loans
receivable, short-term investment, restricted cash at banks,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables,
accruals, borrowings and convertible note. The fair value
of all these financial assets and financial liabilities are not
materially different from their carrying amounts.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair value measurement of level 2
and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the relationship
between key observable inputs and fair value are set out
below.

fr“ﬂ#i‘%#ﬁilﬁi?

202012 A

AT EIE
(a) LFEZBAFEFEZMBIAR

YIRNFEAEZHBTARERYK

R BE R R EEERR - ZE
J?Eﬂﬂzﬁ CREHRE - XRHBRTHRS
RelReEEY BNERILEME
FHOA i‘ﬁﬁm%’ﬁ% CBERTBRERE -
MEZSHMBEERMBARZAFE
B EEREEMES

ABBEEGR RFFEL R RE SR
LEENMBEERMBAENAFE
T2EMSREETE -

TXHINETF2EREIEBMBIE
ZAVFEFERMERNGEERMEE
ATABRBARE UERTEAEHER
BB NTFEZENEE -
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
Information about level 3 fair value measurements

()  The fair value of contingent consideration is estimated
using a discounted cash flow method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

1. 2F{EE (&)

(b) EAFEAEZHMBIR
AHAFSEATFEAEBHEH

() HEREBZAFEERRSREN
BAGH -

Significant unobservable inputs EXFUHEHANEE

2020 2019
Pre-tax discount rate B 4 AT 47 2R K 18.79% 21.04%
Growth rate #R =R 2.40% 2.40%

Increase in pre-tax discount rate and growth rate by
1.50% and 1.50% would increase and decrease the fair
value of the contingent consideration by HK$655,000 and
HK$1,738,000, respectively.

(i) ~ The fair value of derivative component in convertible
note is estimated using a binomial options pricing

B B AT T IR R R IR R 5 Bl HN1.50%
K t1.50%# B ek B RERFES A
#n &m 655,000 7T K.1,738,00058
7T|: °

(i) ABREFETELS A FEER
—EAREEELGSE -

model.
Significant unobservable inputs EXFOUHRMARE
2019
Dividend vyield A% Bk 5 2 0%
Volatility B 62.87%

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited e Annual Report 2020



(i)  The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

iy TREHRZAFEIEROFEIA
BAFEBRE D 2D

FIE: HREEXRAERERMS
WECREHE)

F2E - MR EE (AMER) & (A
HERTE) BRETBES
BAREBE<EEXRBZEE
K

FIE: WFREBEAEENLHEBEZE
EXBBEZEE (TAEREH

®) o
2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$1B $H2E SH3E o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’00 HK$’00_0
TER TER TER TER
Financial asset at fair BRAFEBBERIIR
value through profit or loss ZHBEE
- Contingent consideration -HAERE - - 33,306 33,306
Financial assets at fair value through BATEHEBEMEZE
other comprehensive income Wi SR A E
- Listed securities in Hong Kong - BB LMES
at fair value (BDTE) 377 - - 377
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEBERIIR
through profit or loss ZHBaR
- Derivative component in convertible ~ — AR ZE &2
note TS - - () ()
2019
Level 1 Level Level Total
F1 F2E F3E @5t
HK$ 1000 HK$00C HK$00C HK$'000
TET TET TET TAT
Financial asset at fair value through 3%\ F{Hi% B 1525 51 R
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Contingent consideration -HANRE - - 32,193 32,193
Financial assets at fair value through BATEEARMGEE
other comprehensive income Kidlik 2B E
- Listed securities in Hong Kong ~-BRLTES
at fair value BLYE) 503 - - 503
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFEEBERTIR
through profit or loss ZHBEE
- Derivative component in convertible ~ — IR Z 1§ 2
note PTE D - = (46) (46)

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

FAZBR ML EELEMEE -

2020 8 o HEMREREBRAF



212

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

52.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value

(Continued)

(iv)  Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair

value based on significant unobservable inputs (Level

3) are as follows:

51. AFEFTE (E)

RAFEFEZHBIR (&)

REBEEATABR @G AZRE (F3
B)RAFEARNMBTAZY

fRan R

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#&ERT FAT
Financial assets at fair value BAFEERERIRZ
through profit or loss B EE
At 1 January ®m1A1H 32,193 57,700
Change in fair value (Note 8) NEEZS) (H7E8) 15,853 (9,043)
Receivables (Note 27(b)) JE W AR 51 (Bt 5227 (b)) (17,333) (4,426)
Settled during the year (Note 23) FREE (FTaE23) (16,677) (16,818)
Exchange adjustments E 7 T 19,270 4,780
At 31 December M®12A31H 33,306 32,193
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEBERIRZ
through profit or loss HEaE
At 1 January M®1A1H 46 257
Change in fair value (Note 8) N EZE (M5E8) (37) (211)
At 31 December ®12A31H 9 46

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March

2021.
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